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Letter from 
the Chairman

Dear Shareholders, 
The financial year that has just ended vindicated our decisions in 
previous years to optimise our structure in order to maintain ad-
equate levels of profitability in all market conditions. 2019 ended 
with a turnover of 548.8 million Euros, down on 2018’s figure of 
624.1 million. But despite this drop in volumes, we still had a good 
result in terms of margins, with a net profit of over 8 million Euros 
thanks to our improved industrial structure and supply chain. 

Markets!In 2019 the Group’s sectors felt the e!ects of a gener-
al slow-down in the global economy, with clear e!ects in India, a 
fast-growing market for us, as well as in Europe and North America. 
Equally important are the e!ects of certain geopolitical tensions, as 
well as new tari!s, although these have only a!ected our sales very 
slightly. 

In di!erent ways, all these phenomena have influenced the choic-
es of many of our customers, who have wisely decided to lower their 
stocks, bringing forward already planned orders (destocking). The 
e!ects of this were felt in both agricultural machinery and construc-
tion equipment. 

Research and development!Despite facing a slow-down in sales 
in 2019, we continued to invest heavily in R&D, with a view to 
strengthening our global engineering structure on the one hand, 
and speeding up the launch of new projects in line with tomorrow’s 
market demands on the other. 

One of the first important milestones came in June, with the 
opening of the new Research and Development Centre in Cam-
podarsego. This hosts all the development work on Carraro’s 
transmission systems, from design and prototyping to testing for 
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ease of assembly, functionality and reliability. The 100 technicians 
from the engineering department at the Group’s headquarters 
work here. 

At the end of the year, we signed a long-term loan contract with 
the European Investment Bank (EIB) to the tune of 50 million Eu-
ros, aimed at supporting the Group’s research and development 
projects. This loan will allow us to make significant investment over 
the next few years and race ahead in electronics, hybrid and electric 
traction systems and digitalisation of industrial processes. 

Improving our R&D structure and our capacity to invest in in-
novation goes hand in hand with various new strategic projects of 
ours, some of which are in the testing phase. 

I would like to take the example of our electrification solu-
tions for building sites, presented at Bauma in Munich, the most 
important trade fair in the world for construction equipment. 
These electrified axles and transmissions can better respond to 
the new demands of the building sites of tomorrow, reducing 
emissions, noise and consumption. Or we might take the inno-
vative Powertrain Mild Hybrid"for specialist tractors,"presented 
at Agritechnica in Hanover, the most important international 
event for agricultural mechanisation. This solution optimises fuel 
consumption, saving space and costs, to the particular benefit of 
specialist tractors.

Both these big innovations take us further down the path we set 
o! on in 2018, when we presented the Carraro Hybrid tractor (the 
first vehicle of its kind for specialist crops) at EIMA in Bologna. 
They are the fruit of our expertise, honed over more than 25 years, 
in designing and supplying transmission systems for material han-
dling (forklifts) using electric traction. 

Customers!Relations with our long-standing customers, who 
have shown their trust in us for over 20 years, remained excellent 
in 2019. Our long-term contracts with them show what a reliable, 
quality partner they consider us to be. Carraro China’s Gold Medal 
from Caterpillar and Carraro do Brasil’s Partner Supplier prize 
from John Deere are a testament to this. 

At the same time, the year that has just ended spawned exciting 
opportunities with new and important players, both in our sectors 
and other fields. 

The best example of all is the contract we signed with Valtra at 
Agritechnica, for producing their new ranges of specialist tractors 
for orchards and vineyards. This was an important milestone that 
testifies to the design and manufacturing capacity of Carraro Agri-
talia, which already works with John Deere, Massey Ferguson and 
Claas. 

Also, in December, we signed a strategic partnership with INEOS 
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Automotive, for an overall value of 420 million Euros, for supplying 
front and rear axles for its new 4x4, the Grenadier. This is a won-
derful opportunity to further expand our traditional skills to cover 
automotive applications, and get into a sector that has always been 
very challenging, thereby improving in terms of quality,"time-to-
market"and logistical e#ciency. 

Operations!2019 was also a very positive year from the point of 
view of our global production platform. 

The year saw investment in modernising and digitally connecting 
plants, with a view to the future and Industry 4.0, which will allow 
us to vastly improve our performance at them. 

We should not forget, though, that 2019 was also the 20th anni-
versary of the beginning of our work in India, a country in which we 
now have 1,400 workers. This was a special event, a very important 
moment to be shared with our people on site. 

In the course of this event, we laid the foundations of a new pro-
duction area, to accompany our existing ones in Ranjangaon (near 
Poona), which will allow us to significantly increase our production 
capacity in the area, with a particular focus on portal axles, for com-
pact tractors with engines with up to 75 horsepower. This product 
is already gaining favour among all the main Indian makers of agri-
cultural machinery. 

Carraro’s social responsibility!The year 2019 also saw a range of 
work linked to corporate social responsibility, evidence of our con-
cern for sustainable growth. Guiding the Group down this path is its 
CSR Committee, with the essential support of the CSR Champions 
at every plant. 

This is not the time to go into detail on our projects, so for more 
information on the topic, I recommend you see the Sustainability 
Report signed by Tomaso Carraro in his role as Chief CSR O#cer. 

People!I cannot end this letter without mentioning once again all 
Carraro’s people, who work together side by side every day to reach 
shared goals and enable us to achieve excellence in our markets. 

Our group now has more than 3,000 sta!, more than half of them 
outside of Italy. Over the years we have evolved an international 
character, which has now reached its peak and allows us to operate 
with a real “local-for-local” approach in our markets. That is why 
we put people from the di!erent countries we work in at the head 
of each of our o#ces. That is what we have chosen to do in order to 
better understand our customers and provide the right answers to 
their varying needs. 
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It also allows us to make the most of our talent all round the 
world, in the awareness that the Group’s future rests on all Carra-
ro’s people seeing themselves as one global team, working together 
to create value for their customers with a view to the long-term. 

Enrico Carraro
Chairman
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As I write this letter, the whole world is facing a serious chal-
lenge: tackling the global spread of the Covid-19 virus. There has 
been no pandemic like it in modern times, and it is already tak-
ing a heavy toll on both human life and the global economy. 

Our Group has experienced it right from its beginnings in Chi-
na, where our site in Tsingtao stood out for its organisation and 
response capacity. Following the instructions of local govern-
ments and internal protocols, we have quickly ensured the safety 
of our headquarters and all our workers. At the same time, we 
have managed to continue supporting our customers thanks to 
smart working. 

It has been a dramatic formative experience, one that has seen 
XV�HQDFW�VLPLODU�DQG�H̆HFWLYH�SODQV�RI�DFWLRQ�DW�HDFK�RI�RXU�VLWHV�
around the world, once the pandemic spread everywhere. 

We have stopped some of our production for the moment, as 
have many of our partners. But we’re working, often hand in 
hand with our customers and suppliers, to restart as soon as 
possible, obviously in the utmost safety. 

2020 was shaping up to be a great year for our Group, with 
some markets showing strong growth and a range of new prod-
ucts coming in. 

Now things have changed. But faced with the big impact of 
Covid-19 on both the global economy and on our work, we know 
that our sectors, agriculture and infrastructure, are crucial to 
mankind. This is something very positive that, despite the big 
UHGXFWLRQ�LQ�WXUQRYHU�LQ�WKH�¿UVW�SHULRG��ERGHV�ZHOO�IRU�D�UHVWDUW�
as early as the second half of the year. 
0\�WKDQNV�DUH�GXH�WR�DOO�WKH�*URXS¶V�VWD̆�DQG�WKHLU�IDPLOLHV��

ZKR�IURP�WKH�YHU\�¿UVW�PRPHQW�KDYH�VHW�WKHPVHOYHV�WR�WDFNOLQJ�
this heavy burden. They have shown dedication, a spirit of sacri-
¿FH�DQG�DQ�DGPLUDEOH�VHQVH�RI�UHVSRQVLELOLW\��$OO�WRJHWKHU��RQFH�
more, we will get over this and we will capitalise on this experi-
ence and become even stronger than we were before. 
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Carraro Spa
Headquarters
Via Olmo, $"
$)(## Campodarsego
(Padova), Italy
T +$& (%& &'#&###
F +$& (%& &'*&###
webinfo@carraro.com
www.carraro.com

Share Capital 
Euro %#,%)',)%$.+(, 
fully paid-up. 
Tax Code, VAT and 
Registration Number 
in the Padua Companies 
Register (('('(%('*$ – 
REA No. *%($$

!"#$%&"'()
This document contains 
forward-looking statements, 
in particular in the section 
“Expected business outlook 
'(#&”, in relation to future 
events and the operating, 
economic and financial results 
of the Carraro Group. These 
forecasts have by their very 

nature a component of risk and 
uncertainty, as they depend 
on the occurrence of future 
events and developments. 
The actual results may differ, 
even significantly, from those 
announced in relation to a 
multiplicity of factors.

General Information

Board of Directors
In office until the approval of the '('( financial 
statements (Appointments, Shareholders’ Meeting 
of #%.().'(#*)

Enrico Carraro
Chairman

Tomaso Carraro
Deputy Chairman

Alberto Negri*
CEO

Riccardo Arduini
Director

Fabio Buttignon #/'
Director*

Virginia Carraro 
Director

Enrico Gomiero
Director

Marina Manna #/'/$

Director*

Marina Pittini! #/'
Director*

# Members of the Control, Risks and Sustainability Committee
' Members of the Appointments 
and Remuneration Committee
$ Members of the Supervisory Board
* Independent directors

Board of Statutory Auditors
In office until the approval of the '('( financial 
statements (Appointments, Shareholders’ Meeting 
of #%/()/'(#*)

Carlo Pesce
Chaiman

Saverio Bozzolan
Regular Auditor 

Stefania Centorbi
Regular Auditor

Gabriele Andreola
Alternate Auditor 

Barbara Cantoni
Alternate Auditor

Independent Auditors
from 2016 to 2024
Deloitte*&*Touche Spa

Parent Company
Finaid Spa

Under the terms of Consob Communication no. &"((#)"% of '( 
February #&&", we state that: 
the Chairman, Mr Enrico Carraro, the Deputy Chairman Mr Tomaso 
Carraro and the Chief Executive Officer, Mr Alberto Negri, have 
been given individual powers of legal representation and use of 
the corporate signature in relations with third parties and in court; 
they carry out their work within the limits of the powers conferred 
on them by the Board of Directors in the meeting of #% May '(#*, 
in accordance with applicable legal constraints, in terms of matters 
which cannot be delegated by the Board of Directors and of 
responsibilities reserved for the Board itself, as well as the principles 
and limits provided for in the Company’s Code of Conduct. 
In addition, the director Enrico Gomiero has specific powers linked 
to his role as Chief Financial Officer.
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Consolidated Income Statement
as at +,/,-/-.,/

-./.0/.1 % -./.0/.2 % Changes

%&'&('&) %&'&('&*

Revenues from sales  0123214 566%  4713550 566%  890374: 857;64%

Purchases of goods and materials 
(net of changes in inventories)

67789:7; 6:;<=>% 67?>9>;: 6:;<>@%  @@9=?= ;;<::%

Services and Use of third6party 
goods and services

6889?7= 6;@<;?% 6A89B88 6;=<:=%  ;A9>@> ;A<?>%

Personnel costs 6A;9?7= 6;:<87% 6A>9?A= 6;@<??%  ;9B:B ;<;@%

Amortisation9 depreciation and 
impairment of assets

6>B9>7= 67<:A% 6>B9:>7 67<7B%  7?? ;<??%

Provisions for risks 6897=A 6;<7@% 6:9;?? 6B<AA% 6;9;8; 6;?<A>%

Other income and expenses  ?9;;; ;<@?%  =9:B; B<AB%  >9=;B @@<?;%

Internal construction  @:A B<BA%  =:8 B<BA% 6A? 6;8<>?%

Operating costs 80743<50 8:0;2:% 80:732<5 8 :1;::% 443054 55;77%

Operating profit/loss (Ebit)  7730<5 1;55%  <53721 0;65% 82390< 879;:2%

Income and expenses from equity 
investments

 >?B B<B=%  ;9=;8 B<>@% 6;9>78 6?;<=@%

Other financial income  A7@ B<;8%  >9;7: B<7@% 6;9>B> 6=:<>8%

Financial costs and expenses 6;B98AB 6;<A8% 6;>98?: 6><B=%  ;9AA: ;=<:;%

Net gains/losses on foreign 
exchange

 8@ B<B;% 6;9788 6B<>>%  ;9@=; ;B=<78%

Value adjustments 
of financial assets

6>9>7@ 6B<@;% 6;9>B= 6B<;A% 6;9B>A ?=<7A%

Income (expenses) 
from hyperinflation

67=A 6B<B8% 6;9B>7 6B<;:%  ::@ :@<A;%

Gains/losses on financial assets 3.04516 30/05% 3.047-2 30/58% 98- 6/81%

Profit/loss before taxes  .548-9 ./15%  .24689 0/17% 324..5 38-/7-%

Current and deferred income taxes 6;9:@B 6B<7B% 6=978@ 6B<?:%  7987@ :A<@?%

Net profit/loss  24719 ./95%  .-4.70 0/..% 384-79 3--/00%

Profit/loss pertaining to minorities 6:8= 6B<;>% 6A?= 6B<;:% 7;B 7;<@8%

Group consolidated profit/loss  24.0. ./82%  .04.27 ./16% 384599 3--/-9%

Ebitda*  804995 7/77%  6.4262 2/-.% 314.12 3.7/78%

* for the breakdown9 please refer to the Summary of financial year section9 which describes the alternative performance indicators<
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
as at +,/,-/-.,/

-./.0/.1 -./.0/.2

Property9 plant and equipment  ;=?98?=  ;=B98>; 

Intangible fixed assets  =>9=@@  =@98B; 

Real estate investments  :A=  :A= 

Investments  ;9=B:  89>@? 

Financial assets  8988@  ?9:=: 

Deferred tax assets  >B97?A  >B98;@ 

Trade receivables and other receivables  @9;?;  @9A=; 

Non8current assets  7103291  7193424 

Closing inventory  ;>79>;>  ;;?9@BA 

Trade receivables and other receivables  A@9>@7  ;;:9?;: 

Financial assets  >9B@?  797;A 

Cash and cash equivalents  8:9;>B  7=9:;8 

Current assets  7:0347<  7913545 

Total assets  01531:9 0753219

Share Capital  @;9@=7  @;9@=7 

Reserves  ?9;=7  ;=977> 

Foreign currency translation reserve  :9@8: 6;9>8@ 

Profit/loss for the year  ?9;>;  ;>9;?8 

Minority interests  A9;B;  A978: 

Shareholders’ equity  9<3<61  993691 

Financial liabilities  ;A@9BA:  ;?:978A 

Trade payables and other payables  ;;=  >8B 

Deferred tax liabilities  ;9?AA  >9@;; 

Provision for severance indemnity and retirement benefits  A98:A  A9:=: 

Provisions for risks and liabilities  798@:  @9>B7 

Non8current liabilities  76:3470  7673:5: 

Financial liabilities  ;89?:;  ;?9B78 

Trade payables and other payables  >;A9>@8  ;A?9>7B 

Current tax payables  =977;  89?:@ 

Provisions for risks and liabilities  ;:9;>A  ;898>7 

Current liabilities  7023042  7153201 

Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities 01531:9 0753219
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
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Analysis of Net Working Capital
at +,/,-/-.,/

-./.0/.1 -./.0/.2

Trade Receivables **  =?97;=  8?9AB@ 

Closing inventory  ;>79>;>  ;;?9@BA 

Trade Payables *** 6;=B9;:A 6;:B9??? 

Net Working Capital of operations  <53<02  <43170 
**CFor details of the item please refer to Note ;> of the Consolidated Financial Statements
***CFor details of the item please refer to Note ;8 of the Consolidated Financial Statements
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The Carraro 
Group

Carraro is an international Group, leader in transmission systems 
for o!-highway vehicles and specialised tractors, with Headquar-
ters in Italy in Campodarsego (Padua). 

Carraro Spa is not subject to management and coordination ac-
tivities under the terms of Art. 2497 et seq of the Italian Civil Code. 
The controlling shareholder Finaid S.p.A. does not perform any ac-
tivity of management and coordination in relation to Carraro.

To date the Group’s activities are divided into two Business Ar-
eas: 

Drive systems!Through the subsidiaries Carraro Drive Tech and 
SIAP, the Group designs, manufactures and sells transmission sys-
tems (axles, transmissions and drives) mainly for agricultural and 
construction equipment, and also markets a wide range of gears for 
very diverse sectors, from the automotive industry to material han-
dling, agricultural applications and construction equipment.

Tractors$Through Divisione Agritalia, the Group designs and 
manufactures specialised tractors (for vineyards and orchards from 
60 to 100 hp) for third-party brands, namely John Deere, Massey 
Ferguson and Claas, as well as a specialised “Carraro Tractors” 
range; Agritalia also provides engineering services for the design of 
innovative tractor ranges.
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Reference 
markets

Agriculture 

2019 saw a slowdown in sales of agricultural machinery globally, 
albeit with di!erent trends in the various areas of the world. Onl 
during the last quarter there were some weak signs of a change in 
the trend.

In Europe, the market seems to have entered a recessionary 
phase. During 2019, sales of specialised tractors (vineyard-orchard) 
also followed this trend, albeit performing better than the other 
segments. It is to be expected that a period of medium-high sales 
levels, as in the two previous years, will be followed by one with 
lower levels. The reduction in demand in Europe is due to the grad-
ual increase in the price of new models due to significant and costly 
R&D activities and the changes to the structure of the machines 
required by increasingly stringent European Regulations, such as 
those relating to “Functional Safety” (which sets mandatory safety 
standards for the design and production of vehicle safety systems) 
and the introduction of the “Emission Stage V” for engines, which 
sets new emissions limits. There are currently no indications of a 
reversal of this trend in 2020.

In the Turkish market, both political and economic instability 
led to a sharp drop in sales. In the latter part of the year, though, 
the first signs of a reversal of the trend saw a drop in the stock of 
unsold tractors with manufacturers and on the sales network. Fore-
casts indicate a possible recovery of volumes to pre-crisis levels in 
the medium term. 

In North America, 2019 was overall positive for the agricultural 
sector, albeit with modest progress compared to the previous year, 
more so for tractors and less for harvesters. The demand trend was 
strongly impacted by the so-called “tari! war” with China, which 
is one of the major export destinations for American agricultural 
commodities. Given the scale and maturity reached by the market, 
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forecasts for 2020 suggest a slight decline compared to 2019 is to be 
expected.

China closed 2019 with a noticeable drop in demand caused by 
the persistence of the recession in the agricultural sector, due to the 
loss of a significant share of state contributions. This drop a!ected 
the various sizes of vehicles with a particular impact on tractors be-
low 100 hp, while the machines above 200 hp have essentially held 
steady, even if volumes remain very limited. There are no indica-
tions of a possible reversal of the trend. In this context, the Central 
Government decided to postpone entry into force of the “China IV” 
emission standards for all O!-Highway vehicles. Its introduction 
would have further depressed sales due to the higher price caused 
by the transposition of these updated regulations.

After 2018’s record sales volumes, the Indian market showed a 
significant slowdown in 2019, both in relation to internal demand 
and exports. In a period of constant growth, a period of slowdown 
is natural; in the second half of the year 2019 the not particularly 
good monsoon season – always important for Indian agriculture – 
and the credit crisis, a!ected by the non-performing loans of some 
banks, also had an impact. 

In Brazil, 2019 initially recorded a stable level of sales, main-
ly due to the de-stocking of vehicles with Tier 1 engines already 
produced, followed by a significant slowdown caused by persistent 
market stagnation. 

In Argentina, the years-long recessionary trend continued with-
out any evident change in sight. 

Construction equipment 

After two years of record growth in sales volumes of construction 
and mining machinery, demand in 2019 slowed down, especially in 
the second half of the year, due to the low growth rate of the econo-
my in various areas of the world. The year therefore closed with an 
overall contraction compared to 2018. 

In Europe, after a first half with higher sales volumes than in the 
same period of the previous year, the second half of the year was 
characterised by a reversal of this trend and there are currently no 
indications of any change in 2020.

There was stagnant and very low demand in Turkey throughout 
2019. The contraction in investment in new buildings continues to 
negatively impact domestic vehicle sales and local producers are es-
sentially sustaining themselves with exports.

Good levels of demand characterised 2019 in North America, 
both in the Utility as well as larger machine sector, thanks to the 
overall growth of the economy, with positive e!ects on new invest-

Reference Markets
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ments in construction. In the last part of the year, however, there 
were signs of a slowdown, which had the e!ect of increasing stocks 
in dealers’ networks. Given the maturity reached by the market, 
forecasts for 2020 suggest a slight decline is to be expected.

2019 in China closed with sales volumes for construction equip-
ment at a good level and substantially in line with those of the pre-
vious year thanks to the postponement of the entry into force of 
the “China IV” emission level regulations. In view of the significant 
infrastructure investments planned, it is reasonable to assume that 
the volumes achieved will remain stable in the coming years.

In 2019, the Indian market recorded a substantial deceleration 
in sales of construction equipment compared to the previous year, 
due to both the impact of the credit crisis (already mentioned for 
the agricultural sector) and the slowdown in the ambitious infra-
structure plans launched by the central government. Nevertheless, 
industry players remain cautiously optimistic in the medium term, 
given the continuation of mandatory major infrastructure invest-
ments currently underway in the country, leading to an increase in 
demand for new machinery. 

In Brazil, the main market in South America, 2019 confirmed a 
recovery in demand for new vehicles thanks to the unblocking of 
certain investments in the construction sector, albeit remaining at 
modest levels in absolute terms. 





Key Factors
of Success
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Research
and Innovation
The Group’s key success factor

Commitment to R&D continued, still focussed on developing inno-
vative transmission systems and specialised tractors aimed at mar-
kets with greater potential. In particular, R&D investments in 2019 
increased over the previous year, amounting to 4.12% of turnover 
(3.6% in 2018).

Transmission systems and gearboxes 

In 2019 the Group focused on the development of new products, 
in line with the previous year. 

It has been a year of change in the agricultural segment due to 
developments in the T100 product family in all its versions, from 
the basic version to the most advanced electronically controlled 
transmission, which will be fitted on Agritalia’s new range of Stage 
V special tractors from 2021. Both the new T100 EVO 5-speed and 
the T100 CVT, which represents Carraro’s debut in hydrostat-
ic continuous variation technology, are in the prototyping phase, 
ahead of approval in 2020-2021. The new version of the T75 has 
also been developed and is in production. It will be on the compact 
vehicle of Carraro Tractors, which was much praised during the 
latest trade fairs. In the high power range, the T230 transmission 
has been tested under real working conditions in China. A technical 
proposal for the application of the new T200 PHl-PR (transmis-
sion for 200 hp tractors for open field applications) is being anal-
ysed, also for the Chinese market.

Field testing continued on the T100 CTS, in the “narrow vine-
yard” configuration, for Carraro Tractors applications. In 2021 a 
new “wide vineyard” configuration will also be tested in open field 
conditions with pulled tools (ploughs, harrows, etc.).

As regards construction equipment, the production process for 
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the TCH 90 transmission has been stabilised and consolidated. The 
TCH-90 acts as a forerunner for technical proposals to be made to 
important players in the compact construction machinery market.

In addition, in the earthmoving sector, 2019 saw Carraro’s en-
try into the electrified drivelines sector, 
thanks in part to the Hybrid and Mild Hy-
brid Vehicle initiatives. In particular, the 
e-T200 transmission has been developed, 
with suitable characteristics to be combined 
with a family of electric motors selected by 
some customers. Two new electronically 
controlled products (FLS3.2 and TB172/2), 
have also been developed and will go into 
production in 2020, for wheeled excavators 
and compact loaders of the 6 ton class. 

In the automotive sector, the Carraro 
team began designing axle versions for 
the o"-road application thanks to the important new agreement 
signed with the customer INEOS. The complexity of the new prod-
uct has led R&D specialists to develop new design and calculation 
criteria, which will be confirmed during 2020 in the joint testing 
between Carraro and the University of Padua.

Axle range evolution

The project to standardise axles launched in 2018 continued in 
2019 with a particular focus on reducing the number of components 
(synergy between sub-groups and functions), greater unity in tech-
nical decision-making, and cost containment. In particular, with the 
completion of the CL1 family from 9000 to 18000 Nm and the re-
lease of the designs of the new independent suspended axles SI CL1 
and CL2, the top performance of one of Carraro’s hallmark products 
has been guaranteed and is increasingly appreciated by major world 
players. The family of portal axles, in production since 2017 with 
the 20.08P, has been expanded with the size 20.07P, mainly for the 
Indian market, and the development of the larger 20.10P for a new 
application for an important customer.

Tractors

2019 saw the completion of all the activities necessary for the 
laboratory verification of the engines that will cover the versions 
of the stage V portfolio. The compact technical solutions required 
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for exhaust gas treatment have been validated, confirming the com-
pliance of the product under development with the requirements 
agreed with OEM customers. Drawings have also been finalised 
for the production of the first durability-build tractors, which are 
scheduled for the second half of 2020 and are necessary for the val-
idation of the Stage V project.

Mock-up activities have been started to define interior cab ergo-
nomics and the style of the vehicle (interior, bonnet and roof ).

At the end of 2019, the Stage V durability builds with power 
below 75 hp were completed in readiness for the approval phase 
scheduled for the first quarter of 2020.

The new range of Alpine tractors was completed and production 
started in July. At the same time, designs were finalised and func-
tional/structural tests were completed on a new independent sus-
pended axle for this range, with production to start in the second 
half of 2020.

The Compact 75 range has been brought up to commercial pre-
production with very positive feedback received from the market 
during major demonstration events such as Enovitis 2019 and Agri-
technica 2019. The Carraro Compact V75 model was also among the 

finalists in the Tractor Of The Year 2020 
competition, in the Best of Specialized cat-
egory (for orchard, vineyard, mountain and 
hill tractors). The drawings for the start of 
production scheduled for the second quar-
ter of 2020 have been completed.

Research and development on vehicle 
electrification focused on the development 
of software control strategies for the “Ibri-
do” (hybrid) tractor, alongside validation 
and field testing. 

The know-how acquired through this 
project and the need to reduce polluting 

emissions have contributed to significant progress in research into 
electrified powertrains, which was presented at Bauma 2019, in 
Munich. The first 48V mild-hybrid powertrain presented at Agri-
technica 2019 was produced in the third quarter.

In the fourth quarter, the design and engineering of a first 
Mild-Hybrid tractor went forward and it is expected to be built in 
the second quarter of 2020.

Finally, 2019 saw the launch of the first 3-cylinder diesel engines 
under the Carraro brand, presented at Agritechnica 2019. They are 
TIIIA, TIIIB, Stage V and ChinaIV emissions compliant. 
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Summary
of Financial Year
!"#$

Foreword

To better understand the figures relating to the 2019 financial 
year, adjusted figures will be provided. Specifically, the adjusted 
figures take into account transactions not connected to ordinary 
management such as extraordinary restructuring activities with 
regard to the Carraro Argentina company.

 The following alternative performance indicators will also be 
used, which may in turn be adjusted to take account of transactions 
not related to ordinary operations: 

› Ebitda: the sum of operating profit/(loss) of the income state-
ment, amortisation, depreciation and impairment of fixed assets

› Ebit: earnings before tax taxes and financial income and ex-
penses, with no adjustments;

› Net Working Capital: di!erence between Trade Receivables, 
Net Inventories and Trade Payables in the balance sheet;

› Net financial position: Esma Net Debt determined in accor-
dance with the provisions of paragraph 127 of the recom-
mendations contained in the Esma document no. 319 of 2013, 
implementing Regulation (EC) 809/2004, deducted, where 
applicable, non-current receivables and financial assets, in ad-
dition to the e!ects deriving from the first application of Ifrs 16.
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Performance

Turnover in 2019 amounted to 548.846 million euros, down 
12.06% compared to the turnover for the previous year (624.115 
million euros). 

The drop in volumes is mainly attributable to the slowdown in 
the global economy, which impacted on both the important new 
Indian market, and to a lesser extent historical ones such as North 
America and Europe. In addition, 2019 was a year of significant 
uncertainties caused by continuous frictions on tari!s between the 
United States and China, as well as by the unknowns and tensions 
generated by Brexit. These factors led to significant de-stocking 
initiatives (lowering of the stock level with an impact on compo-
nent purchases) by some customers, in particular in the Drivelines 
Business Area. The Agritalia sector saw a drop in the number of 
tractors sold due – in addition to the above factors – to some delays 
in the application of EU incentives in markets in the Mediterra-
nean area. The last quarter has shown timid signs of a recovery in 
orders, especially in the Drivelines Business Area, which will have 
benefits for the coming year.

Once again in 2019, the Group recorded a good consolidated re-
sult in terms of margins and net profit, helped by significant actions 
to improve industrial activities and optimise the supply chain. 

Today’s fixed costs structure means the Group could absorb even 
significant drops in volumes while guaranteeing adequate profit-
ability, and is also well positioned to seize upon market accelera-
tions and turn them into an immediate and e!ective improvement 
in earnings. 

The Group’s commitment to expanding its range of new products 
and models remains unchanged. And this commitment is consis-
tently valued by customers, who see Carraro as a key partner for the 
development of future platforms. In particular, major commercial 
agreements were signed in 2019, which will give the Group fresh 
impetus for growth from 2021 onwards. 

In terms of financial management, the year was characterised 
by a significant reduction in the net financial position (net debt), 
which was especially marked in the last quarter thanks to a number 
of advances received from customers of the Agritalia division for 
the Bunkering business (storage of engines that will be used in pro-
duction in the coming years).

For the relevant figures, please refer to the next paragraph.
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Results summary

The year ended with a contraction in volumes for the reasons ex-
plained above, which led to an overall drop in demand in the global 
market. This was amplified in particular by the aforementioned 
de-stocking of the main customers (especially in North America 
and India). 

Turnover in 2019 amounted to 548.846 million euros compared 
to 624.115 million euros in the previous year (-12.06%). 

Despite this, the Group showed a good result in terms of mar-
gins, thanks to improvement actions on the industrial structure and 
supply chain. This was negatively impacted by the extraordinary 
restructuring costs incurred by the Carraro Argentina subsidiary, 
described below. 

Ebitda as at 31 December 2019 came to 42.660 million euros 
(7.77% of turnover), down 17.74% compared to 51.858 million euros 
(8.3% of turnover) in 2018. 2019 Ebit amounted to 22.531 million 
euros (4.11% of turnover), down 27.98% compared to 31.284 million 
euros (5.01% of turnover) in 2018. 

In percentage terms there was only a slight decrease in margins 
thanks to operational optimisation, as mentioned in the introduc-
tion. Once non-recurring e!ects were taken out, the adjusted Ebit-
da and Ebit fell compared to the previous year, both in absolute 
terms and as a percentage of turnover. As mentioned above, margins 
remained generally good, thanks to the Group’s ability to absorb the 
drop in volumes. 

The table shows Ebit and Ebitda adjusted to take account of 
non-recurring items such as the 1.3 million euros restructuring costs 
of the Argentine subsidiary in 2019 in 2018 the same item amounted 
to 2.2 million euros. 

Net financial expenses amounted to 9.856 million euros (1.8% of 
turnover), an increase compared to 10.650 million euros (1.7% of 
turnover) in 2018. The figure for 2018 notably included the one-o! 
e!ect of 1.931 million euros resulting from the reduction in fees 
relating to the Bank Agreement, which ended in February 2018. In 
comparable terms, therefore, financial expenses as at 31 December 
worsened by approximately 1.1 million euros due to the di!erent 
debt mix. There was an increase in the cost of debt in the Indian 
subsidiary, where debt rose from 13 million euros in 2018 to 17 mil-
lion euros in 2019, with a peak during the year of 20 million euros. 
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India also has higher interest rates than Europe.
Again in 2019, the e!ect of hyperinflation accounting for the Ar-

gentinian subsidiary was recognised in the financial statements, 
which had an impact on several items and entailed total hyperin-
flation expenses of 0.359 million euros (0.07% of turnover). In 2018, 
these expenses amounted to 1.023 million euros (0.2% of turnover), 
recognised under financial expenses. For the appropriate detailed 
analysis, reference should be made to the specific paragraph of the 
Notes to the Financial Statements.

Foreign exchange gains totalled 74 thousand euros (0.01% of 
turnover), a clear improvement on the previous year (losses of 1.377 
million euros, 0.22% of turnover) thanks to the policies of balancing 
commercial flows (“natural hedging”) and hedging transactions.

Taxes for the period amounted to a total of 1.640 million euros 
(0.3% of turnover) compared to 5.374 million euros (0.9% of turn-
over) in the previous year. This significant di!erence is due to the 
recognition in 2019 of certain non-recurring items, such as the ef-
fect of the tax credit scheme for research and development activi-
ties under the 2015 Stability Law.
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Consolidated net profit amounted to 8.121 million euros (1.5% 
of turnover), down compared to the 2018 profit, which amount-
ed to 12.187 million euros (1.95% of turnover). Net of the e!ects 
of non-recurring operations and after the related tax e!ect (-390 
thousand euros in 2019 and -765 thousand euros in 2018), adjusted 
net profit decreased compared to the previous year as shown in the 
table below.

The consolidated net financial position at 31 December 2019 was 
negative for 123.617 million euros, a clear improvement compared to 
31 December 2018 (negative for 156.581 million euros). This change 
was especially marked in the last quarter thanks to a number of 
advances received from customers of Agritalia for the Bunkering 
business (storage of engines that will be used in production in the 
coming years).

Consolidated shareholders’ equity as at 31 December 2019 was 
equal to 73.304 million euros (77.074 million euros in 2018). The 
change was also a!ected by changes in the translation reserve. 

As at 31 December 2019, all the financial parameters envisaged by 
the banking contracts and by the bond issue regulations were com-
plied with. Please note that the parameters of the bond issue are of 
the Incurrence Covenants type.
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Gross Investments
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Consolidated Ebit

Consolidated Sales Revenues
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Consolidated Net Income

Consolidated Net Financial Position
debt balance
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Carraro Group Investments
gross of revenues from disposals
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Consolidated Equity Structure

A — Fixed assets
B — Working capital
C — Liquidity

D — Shareholders’ equity
E — Sever, Indem
F — M/L terms payables
G — Short-term payables
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Breakdown by Sector of Application
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Main Markets
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Drivetech
Summary Data and Graphs
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Breakdown by Sector of Application
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Significant Events
in Financial Year
!"#$

The most significant events that occurred during the year are sum-
marised below.

During the first half, in order to speed up the development of the 
Group’s activities in China, it has been decided to end the joint ven-
ture Agriming Agriculture Equipment Co. Ltd., begun in June 2017, 
by selling the 49% of its share capital held by Carraro International 
SE to Shandong Juming Machinery Co. Ltd. The dissolution of the 
Joint Venture was finalised in August.

In December a strategic supply agreement was signed with Ineos 
Automotive. The deal, worth a total of more than 420 million euros 
over more than 10 years, provides for Carraro to supply front and 
rear axles for the new 4x4 “Grenadier” o!-road vehicle that will en-
ter the market in 2021. The agreement will give the Carraro Group 
the opportunity to significantly increase the volumes of its special 
axles for commercial vehicles, minivans and o!-road vehicles. 

Also in December, a 7-year loan contract worth 50 million eu-
ros was signed with the European Investment Bank to support the 
Group’s Research and Development projects, disbursed in 2020. 
This loan will guarantee Carraro the support of its Research and 
Innovation activities, allowing investments of over 30 million euros 
per year over the next three years aimed at electrification and hy-
bridisation of o!-highway vehicles, development of highly e#cient 
transmission systems and evolution of the Group’s information in-
frastructure with a 4.0 approach, capable of supporting both prod-
uct design and industrialisation, speeding up processes, preventing 
errors and maximising automation. 
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Share
Performance

In the first few months of 2019, the share price continued to out-
perform the Ftse Mib index thanks to the positive result in 2018, 
before falling in the second half of the year due to the deterioration 
of the outlook in the agricultural and construction equipment mar-
ket. In December the stock made gains thanks to the announcement 
of positive commercial and financial projects (see the chapter on 
significant events during the year).

The o#cial average price of 2019 was 2.07 euros, with a maxi-
mum listing at 2.62 euros on 12 April 2019 and a minimum listing at 
1.71 euros on 16 August 2019. 
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Subsequent
Events

As is well known, the national and international scenario has been 
characterised since January 2020 by the spread of the Coronavirus 
and the consequent restrictive measures for its containment, imple-
mented by the public authorities of the countries a!ected. 

The virus spread within China in January 2020. The restrictive 
measures adopted also a!ected the Carraro Group’s Chinese plant, 
causing a reduction in production capacity for about one month. 
However, as of March the plant has essentially resumed normal op-
erations, with the expectation that the backlog that built up in the 
previous month will be worked through in a short amount of time.

Between the end of February and March, the virus gradually 
spread to other continents and Italy was particularly a!ected. On 22 
March 2020, the Italian Government imposed a temporary freeze 
on all “non-essential” production activities until 3 April. The man-
ufacture of agricultural and forestry machinery, trade in parts and 
accessories for motor vehicles, and the wholesale trade in agricul-
tural supplies, was however deemed to be essential.

As a result of this decree, the production plants in Campodarsego, 
Maniago and Rovigo were closed, while the Poggiofiorito logistics 
hub (which supplies spare parts) remained operational. 

In any case, this site continues to pay close attention to compli-
ance with the medical and health regulations issued by the govern-
ment and the authorities responsible for containing the spread of 
the Coronavirus. The directors will assess the benefits of keeping 
this logistical hub open, also taking into account procurement from 
its suppliers and its customers’ level of operations.

At the same time, the plants in Pune (India), Buenos Aires (Argen-
tina) and Caixas do Sul (Brazil) have been closed since 23 March, in 
view of similar measures taken by the respective local governments. 

The continuing spread of the virus worldwide and the stringent 
measures taken by many governments to counter its further spread 
are affecting the prospects for future macroeconomic growth, 
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which is likely to have repercussions on the Italian and internation-
al scenario. To o!set the likely economic and financial repercus-
sions, both domestically and internationally, many countries’ gov-
ernments have already taken steps to support businesses and the 
economy, while further measures are currently under discussion.

The events described above have been considered as non-adjust-
ing events on the amounts reported in the 2019 financial statements, 
according to the definition provided by IAS 10 §21, as they occurred 
after the end of the financial year. 

The directors monitor these uncertainties on a daily basis through 
a mitigation plan for the company’s business, paying special atten-
tion to strategic procurement, close analysis of daily expenditure 
and investments, and non-stop monitoring of accounts receivable 
(customer sales and payments).

However, it is not currently possible to predict how this situation 
will evolve and the consequences it will have on the macroeconom-
ic scenario, nor is it possible to determine the possible impacts that 
could result in adjustments to the carrying amounts of the Group’s 
assets and liabilities.

In particular, these uncertainties could affect mainly, but not 
exclusively, the financial statement items subject to valuation, a 
description of which can be found in the section “Discretionary 
valuations and significant accounting estimates” in the notes. Al-
though the financial-market turbulence caused by the Coronavirus 
emergency has led to a sharp and widespread fall in share prices, 
leading to a significant reduction in the market value of the Com-
pany’s shares compared to 31 December 2019, the present value is 
higher than that implicit in consolidated shareholders’ equity at 31 
December 2019.
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Business Performance
and Outlook
for !"!"

The first quarter of 2020 shows a potentially higher than expected 
orders portfolio, mainly thanks to the recovery of expected volumes 
in Asia (especially in India) and the reopening of the Chinese plant.

In addition to what is described in the “Subsequent events” sec-
tion, above, the impact of the spread of the Coronavirus at national 
and international level – and consequently on business perfor-
mance for the remainder of the year – remains unknown.
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Turnover
The consolidated turnover as at 31 December 2019 amounted to 548,842 million euros, 

down 12.1% compared to turnover for 2018, equal to 624.115 million euros. 
The following table breaks turnover down by business segment:

=
=

Sales Sales to third parties

05.1 05.2 Diff % 05.1 05.2 Diff %

Carraro Drivetech  @=@9@?=  =;?9@>A 6;><7  @7=9?B=  @A=9@7: 6;><B

Carraro Div< Agritalia  ;;?9BA;  ;7>9A:B 6;;<>  ;;>9=;>  ;>89;:> 6;;<=

Elettronica Santerno  6  6 DDiv/B!  6  6 DDiv/B!

Non6allocated business  >@9?B=  >89>>; 6?<A  =B>  6 ;77=B9B

Total segments  0:93<25  4923456 857;6  012325: 47730:2 855;:

Intra6group eliminations 6@?9=7= 6=@9@A= 6;B<A  6  6 DDiv/B!

Consolidated Total  0123214  4713550 857;5 012325:  47730:2 855;:

E
@

Related sales Intra3group sales

05.1 05.2 Diff % 05.1 05.2 Diff %

Carraro Drivetech  ;?  ;9=B8 6A?<?  ;?9::>  >;9@?: 6;7<;

Carraro Div< Agritalia  6  6 DDiv/B!  =9=8A  =98A? 67<?

Elettronica Santerno  6  6 DDiv/B!  6  6 DDiv/B!

Non6allocated business  A  ;B 6;B<B  >@9>A@  >89>;; 6;B<8

Total segments  79  53059 8:2;7  1230<0  0131:0 856;:

Intra6group eliminations  6  6 DDiv/B! 6@?9=7= 6=@9@A= 6;B<A

Consolidated Total  79  53059 8:2;7  8  8 >Div/6!

Intra-group sales refer to sales realised between companies from di!erent business areas 
(in particular Carraro Drivetech and Divisione Agritalia). 

The following table breaks down total turnover by geographical area:

-./.0/05.1 % -./.0/05.2 % Diff/ 05.13.2
%

North America  8897;8 ;@<BA%  A:9878 ;=<=B% 6>B<B?%

India  8:9;=A ;7<??%  ;BA9A;7 ;8<:;% 67B<8;%

Germany  8B9>>@ ;><8A%  :@9A?B ;B<@;% ?<B8%

United Kingdom  @B9??> 8<@=%  @=9A>8 8<7:% 6;B<A?%

South America  7>9AB7 =<AA%  789:@A :<B7% 6;><:;%

France  >?9==A =<>B%  >A9@=A @<8>% 67<B:%

Switzerland  >?9B?7 =<;>%  7>9?@B =<>:% 6;@<@A%

China  >>98@8 @<;@%  >@9BA8 7<?:% 6=<:B%

Spain  ;:9>:B ><A:%  ;89?AA ><?8% 6A<;:%

Turkey  ;79;;= ><7A%  ;@9:B= ><7@% 6;B<>B%

Other EU areas  >A9;:; =<7;%  7=9=A? =<8B% 6;?<B?%

Other non-EU areas  ;:97?B ><A?%  ;B98:: ;<87% =><;=%

Total Abroad  10539:6 27;<7%  0763196 2<;<:% 85<;76%
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-./.0/05.1 % -./.0/05.2 % Diff/ 05.13.2
%

Italy A89B=: ;8<:?% ;B79:@= ;:<:;% 6:<7:%

Total  0123214 566;6%  4713550 566;6% 857;64%

of which: E E E E E

Total EU area  7273515 05;15%  7:93076 19;49% 80;59%

Total non-EU area  7443960 12;0:%  <7430:0 07;<<% 852;<1%
Note: following an improvement in the reclassification by geographical area, the figures for 2018 have been restated.

It should be noted that the Group mainly sells to the production sites of OEMs that may 
reside in di!erent countries from the nations of end users of their products. 

In terms of the ranking of foreign countries, India came second overall just after North 
America, the group’s historic market, due to the significant market downturn mentioned 
in the introduction. As far as sales in European markets are concerned, Germany improved 
due to the relocation of the purchase location of an important customer and consequent re-
classification from Switzerland. All other geographical areas contracted, with a particular 
impact on sales in Turkey and South America, in line with the economic slowdown in both 
places.

Ebitda and Ebit
Le tabelle che seguono evidenziano i dettagli relativi alle poste non ordinarie che impat-

tano su Ebitda e Ebit.

-./.0/.1 % 
of turnover

-./.0/.2 % 
of turnover

Diff/ %

Ebitda 173446 9;2 053202 2;< 859;91

Costs/(income) of non-recurring operations ;97B; E >9;?8 E E

of which:

Restructuring costs in Argentina ;97B; >9>78

Other restructuring costs 6=B

Adjusted Ebitda 1<3:45 2;6 013610 2;9 852;44 

-./.0/.1 %  
of turnover

-./.0/.2 %  
of turnover

Diff/ %

Ebit  7730<5 1;5  <53721 0;6 879;:2

Costs/(income) of non-recurring operations ;97B; E >9;?8 E E

of which:

Restructuring costs in Argentina ;97B; >9>78

Other restructuring costs 6=B

Adjusted Ebit 7<32<7 1;< <<3195 0;1 872;26

Net of non-recurring e!ects, Ebitda and Ebit were both good in general terms albeit 
down on the previous year for the reasons outlined in the introduction. 
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Net financial expenses

-./.0/.1 % of turnover -./.0/.2 % of turnover Diff/ %

Net financial expenses 6A9?=: 6;<? 6;B9:=B 6;<8 68<= 

Financial expenses decreased by 7.5% from 10.650 million euros to 9.856 million euros 
and also include the fees paid on bonds that were absorbed during the repayment plan of 
the same, as envisaged by the amortised cost accounting method. The figure for 2018 nota-
bly included the one-o! e!ect of 1.931 million euros resulting from the reduction in fees re-
lating to the Bank Agreement, which ended in February 2018. In comparable terms, there-
fore, financial expenses as at 31 December worsened by approximately 1.1 million euros due 
to the di!erent debt mix compared to the previous year, the e!ect of surplus liquidity and 
the worsening of the debt position of the Indian subsidiary, where debt rose from 13 million 
euros in 2018 to 17 million euros in 2019, with a peak during the year of 20 million euros, 
with India also having higher interest rates than Europe.

Income (expenses) from equity investments 

-./.0/.1 % of turnover -./.0/.2 % of turnover Diff/ %

Income/(expenses) 
from equity investments

B<>?B B<B= ;<=;8 B<>@ 6?><=%

During 2019, 7.62% of the shares of Enertronica Santerno Spa were sold, resulting in a to-
tal capital gain of 280 thousand euros. The comparative figure includes a gain of 923 thou-
sand euros arising on the transfer of the shares held in Elettronica Santerno Spa to Ene-
tronica Spa, as well as a gain originating from the sale of the remaining stake in the German 
company O&K Antriebstechnik.

Exchange differences

-./.0/.1 % of turnover -./.0/.2 % of turnover Diff/ %

Exchange differences 8@ 6B<B; 6;9788 6B<>> n<r<

Exchange di!erences as at 31 December 2019 were positive amounting to 74 thousand 
euros (0.01% of turnover). In 2018 exchange di!erences were negative by 1.377 million eu-
ros (-0.22% of turnover). 

Thanks to a natural hedge policy, the Group’s sales flow profile is substantially balanced.  
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Income (expenses) from hyperinflation

-./.0/.1 % of turnover -./.0/.2 % of turnover Diff/ %

Income (expenses) from hyperinflation 67=A 6B<B8 6;9B>7 6B<> nr

In 2019, the e!ect of inflation accounting for the Argentinian subsidiary was recognised 
in the financial statements, which had an impact on several items and entailed total ex-
penses of 359 thousand euros, 0.07% of turnover (in 2018 it was 1.023 million euros, 0.2% of 
turnover). For the appropriate detailed analysis, reference should be made to the specific 
paragraph of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Net profit/(loss)
2019 closed with a profit of 8.121 million euros (1.48% of turnover) down compared to 

2018 (12.187 million euros, 1.95% of turnover). Taxes as at 31 December 2019 amounted to 
1.640 million euros (-0.30% of turnover) against 5.374 million euros (-0.86% of turnover) as 
at 31 December 2018.

-./.0/.1 % of turnover -./.0/.2 % of turnover Diff/ %

Earnings before tax 5631<4 5;:6 523014 7;:9 81<;9< 

Current and deferred income taxes 6;9:@B 6B<7 6=978@ 6B<A E

Profit/(loss) pertaining to minorities 6:8= 6B<;> 6A?= 6B<> E

Net profit/(loss)  24.0. ./82  .04.27 0/5 3--/-9 

Net of the e!ects of non-recurring operations, adjusted net profit decreased compared to 
the previous year as shown in the table below.

-./.0/.1 % of turnover -./.0/.2 % of turnover Diff/ %

Net profit/(loss) 23575 5;12  573529 5;:0 8<<;<4

Costs/(income) of non-recurring 
operations net of the tax effect 

A;; E  ;9@;? E E

Adjusted net profit/(loss) :36<7 5;40  5<3460 7;52 8<<;47 

The adjusted net profit takes into account the non-recurring items mentioned in the pre-
vious paragraphs, such as the restructuring costs relating to downsizing of the Argentinian 
subsidiary for a total of 1.3 million euros. in 2018, the same restructuring costs amounted to 
2.2 million euros in addition to the related tax e!ect (-390 thousand euros in 2019 and -769 
thousand in 2018). 

A
m

ou
nt

s 
in

 E
ur

o/
00

0
A

m
ou

nt
s 

in
 E

ur
o/

00
0

A
m

ou
nt

s 
in

 E
ur

o/
00

0



Balance Sheet and Financial Data+*

Amortisation, depreciation and impairment of fixed assets

-./.0/.1  % of turnover  -./.0/.2  % of turnover  Diff/ % 

Depreciation and amortisation  >B9>;@ 7<8  ;A9BB: 7<B :<@ 

Write-downs of fixed assets 6?= 6B<B  ;9=:? B<7 n<r<

Amortisation, depreciation 
and impairment

 76357: <;9 763091 <;6 87;7 

Amortisation and depreciation amounted to 20.214 million euros (3.7% of turnover), an 
increase compared to 19.006 million euros (3.0% of turnover) in 2018 due to the di!erent 
accounting caused by the application of Ifrs 16 (approx. 1.2 million). In 2018 almost all im-
pairment losses of fixed assets related to the Argentinian subsidiary.

Investments

-./.0/.1 -./.0/.2

Investments >79AA? >89A?B

In 2019, investments of 23.998 million euros were made for the purchase of machinery 
and the maintenance of e#ciency and modernisation of the plant and equipment in the var-
ious plants. The drop compared to the previous year was due to the fact that 2018 had been 
a year that saw significant investment (relating to industrial expansion in SIAP, Carraro 
India and Carraro Spa in Campodarsego).

Net financial position of management  

-./.0/.1 -5/51/.1 -5/59/.1 -./.0/.2

Net financial position of management 6;>79:;8 6;:A9>;7 6;==9;>= 6;=:9=?;

The consolidated net financial position at 31 December 2019 was negative for 123.617 
million euros, an improvement compared to 31 December 2018 (negative for 156.581 million 
euros), and compared to 30 June 2019 (155.125 million euros). The improvement compared 
to last year was especially seen in the final quarter, due to advances received from Agritalia 
customers, for the purchase and storage of engines for which payment was not subsequent-
ly made to the supplier.

As at 31 December 2019, all the financial parameters envisaged by the banking contracts 
and by the bond issue regulations were complied with. Please note that the parameters of 
the bond issue are of the Incurrence Covenants type.

A
m

ou
nt

s 
in

 E
ur

o/
00

0
A

m
ou

nt
s 

in
 E

ur
o/

00
0

A
m

ou
nt

s 
in

 E
ur

o/
00

0



Annual Report !"#$ +&

Research and innovation 
Expenses for Research and Innovation, the purposes and applications of which are com-

mented on in a specific paragraph, amounted in 2019 to 22.618 million euros, accounting 
for 4.12% of turnover, compared with 22.385 million euros, representing 3.59% of turnover 
in 2018.

Treasury Shares 
As at 31 December 2019, the company held 2,626,988 treasury shares for a total invest-

ment of 6.666 million euros.

Human resources

Workforce trend 

-./.0/05.1 -./.0/05.2 -./.0/05.7

Executives >: >@ >=

Clerical staff 8B7 :8? ::B

Factory workers >9B;: >9;B@ >9B@B

Temporary workers 7@8 @:B @7;

Total <36:7 <3744 <3504

Group headcount at 31 December 2019 (including temporary workers, trainees and in-
terim workers), amounted to 3,092 persons compared to 3,266 actually working as at 31 
December 2018. The decrease compared to 31 December 2018 is mainly due to the adverse 
trend in production volumes in the last part of 2019. 

In terms of the geographical breakdown, as at 31 December 2019, there were 1,424 em-
ployees in Italy and 1,668 in other countries.



Balance Sheet and Financial Data"(

Performance of the Parent Company

Carraro Spa
Carraro Spa is the parent company, with strategic guidance, control and coordination 

functions, and centralises and integrates R&D activities. The company also has a produc-
tion site, Divisione Agritalia, based in Rovigo, for the development, manufacture and distri-
bution of agricultural tractors based on agreements with major international manufactur-
ers (Agco, John Deere, Claas) and Carraro branded tractors. 

In 2019, Carraro Spa realised sales revenues of 142.639 million euros (159.853 million eu-
ros as at 31 December 2018). The reduction in turnover is attributable to the contraction in 
volumes of the Agritalia division, as explained in the relevant section. 

Ebit was negative 1.620 million euros, -1.1% of turnover (in 2018 it was negative 2.129 
million euros, -1.3% of turnover) and Ebitda was 3.351 million euros, 2.3% of turnover (2.694 
million euros in 2018, 1.7% of turnover). Both indicators improved despite the decrease in 
turnover thanks to the initiatives to mitigate the problems encountered by the Agritalia 
Division in 2018.

Net financial expenses amounted to 4.8 million euros (3.4% of turnover), an increase 
compared to 6.3 million euros (3.9% of turnover) as at 31 December 2018 thanks to lower 
average indebtedness in the period. The figure for 2018 notably included the one-o! e!ect 
of 409 million euros resulting from the reduction in fees relating to the Bank Agreement, 
which was terminated early in February 2018. 

Dividend income recorded as at 31 December 2019 amounted to 17 million euros (13.4 
million euros as at 31 December 2018), relating to the investees Carraro Drive Tech Spa and 
Carraro International SE. 

Taxes totalled 3.5 million euros (2.9 million euros in 2018) and 2019 closed with a net 
profit of 14.232 million euros (10% of turnover) compared with a profit of 8.022 million eu-
ros (5% of turnover) in the previous year.

In 2019, amortisation and depreciation were equal to 4.971 million euros, substantially in 
line with those of the previous year (4.823 million euros). 

Gross investments amounted to 5.559 million euros in 2019, down on 7.041 million euros 
as at 31 December 2018. It is noted that 2018 saw significant investments in building exten-
sions, including the warehouse.

The net financial position, which was negative (debt) 78.430 million euros at 31 Decem-
ber 2018, was negative 50.714 million euros at 31 December 2019 due to the e!ects of the 
bunkering operations in the Divisione Agritalia, as mentioned above.

The shareholders’ equity of Carraro Spa at 31 December 2019 amounted to 86.359 million 
euros, up compared to 82.240 million euros in 2018.

The workforce as at 31 December 2019 totalled 494 persons (of which 170 at the holding 
in Campodarsego, including the R&D area with 97 people, and 324 at the Rovigo plant of 
Divisione Agritalia).

Summary results of the parent company and the companies it directly controls, not at-
tributable to any of the Business Areas, are given below.
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Carraro Spa Carraro Germania Srl

-./.0/.1 % of 
turn/

-./.0/.2 % of 
turn/

Diff/% -./.0/.1 % of 
turn/

-./.0/.2 % of 
turn/

Diff/%

Turnover  ;@>9:7A E  ;=A9?=7 E 6;B<?  6 E  6 E DDIV/B!

Ebitda  797=; ><7  >9:A@ ;<8 >@<@  ? DDDDD  :;= DDDDD 6A?<8 

Ebit 6;9:>B 6;<; 6>9;>A 6;<7 6>7<A  ? DDDDD  :;= DDDDD 6A?<8 

Net
Profit/(loss)

 ;@9>7> ;B<B  ?9B>> =<B 88<@  7=A DDDDD  A=7 DDDDD 6:><7 

Amortisation, 
depreciation 
and impairment

 @9A8; 7<=  @9?>7 7<B 7<;  6 DDDDD  6 DDDDD

Investments  =9==A E  89B7? E E  6 E  6 E

Net financial position 
of operations

6=;9:?: E 68?9@7B E E  ;;9;A@ E  ;B9A=; E

Shareholders’ equity  ?:97=A E  ?>9>@B E E  ;;9;B= E  ;B98@8 E

Carraro International SE MiniGears Inc/

-./.0/.1 % of 
turn/

-./.0/.2 % of 
turn/

Diff/% -./.0/.1 % of 
turn/

-./.0/.2 % of 
turn/

Diff/%

Turnover  7@@ E  @7: E 6>;<;  6 E  6 E

Ebitda 6A?@ n<r 6;97BA n<r 6>@<?  6 DDDDD  7 DDDDD n<r<

Ebit 6;9B7? n<r 6;97>; n<r 6>;<@  6 DDDDD  7 DDDDD n<r<

Net
Profit/(loss)

 >9?>> n<r  ?988@ n<r 6:8<?  6 DDDDD  7 DDDDD n<r<

Amortisation, 
depreciation 
and impairment

 =@ ;=<8  ;> ><? n<r<  6 DDDDD  6 DDDDD

Investments  @= E  6 E E  6 E  6 E <

Net financial position 
of operations

6>B9::: E 6;?9=BB E E  > E  > E E

Shareholders’ equity  ;?9==> E  >=9?:; E E  > E  > E E
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Business
Areas

Performance
and results

Carraro Group
Business Areas
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Subconsolidate statement as at 3#.#!.!"#$
Business Area Drivelines/&/Components / Drivetech

-./.0/.1 % -./.0/.2 % Changes

<5;57;5: <5;57;52

Revenues from sales  1013120 566;66%  052317: 566;66% 84<3:11 857;<<%

Purchases of goods and materials 
(net of changes in inventories)

6>:?9=>7 6=A<B?% 67B:9;B? 6=A<B=%  789=?= ;><>?%

Services and Use of third-party 
goods and services

68A9>7: 6;8<@7% 6A?9B:8 6;?<A>%  ;?9?7; ;A<>B%

Personnel costs 6:@9A=A 6;@<>A% 6:=9=?A 6;><:=%  :7B B<A:%

Amortisation, depreciation 
and impairment of assets

6;:978> 67<:B% 6;=98?? 67<B=% 6=?@ 67<8B%

Provisions for risks 6:9=:@ 6;<@@% 6@9;=: 6B<?B% 6>9@B? 6=8<A@%

Other income and expenses  :9B?; ;<7@%  =9;:? ;<BB%  A;7 ;8<:8%

Internal construction  7@@ B<B?%  7=@ B<B8% 6;B 6><?>%

Operating costs 817:377: 8:1;11% 81213524 8:<;<:%  013:09 55;<0%

Operating profit/(loss) (Ebit)  703704 0;04%  <1371< 4;45% 823:29 874;71%

Income from equity investments  6 B<BB%  =A? B<;>% 6=A? 6;BB<BB%

Other financial income  A;? B<>B%  >9B:@ B<@B% 6;9;@: 6==<=>%

Financial costs and expenses 689B8= 6;<=:% 6?9;7? 6;<=8%  ;9B:7 ;7<B:%

Net gains/(losses) on foreign exchange  ;B: B<B>% 6;9>A@ 6B<>=%  ;9@BB ;B?<;A%

Value adjustments of financial assets  6 B<BB%  6 B<BB%  6 DDIV/B!

Income (expenses) from hyperinflation 67=A 6B<B?%  6;9B>7 6B<>B%  ::@ :@<A;%

Gains/(losses) on financial assets 843156 85;15% 8939:< 85;06%  53<2< 59;90%

Profit/(loss) before taxes  523214 1;50%  743106 0;56% 893461 872;90%

Current and deferred income taxes 6=9;B; 6;<;>% 6?9;7; 6;<=8%  79B7B 78<>:%

Net profit/(loss)  5<3910 <;67%  523<5: <;0<% 813091 871;96%

Profit/(loss) pertaining to minorities 6:8= 6B<;=% 6A?= 6B<;A%  7;B 7;<@8%

Business area consolidated result  5<3696 7;22%  593<<1 <;<1% 813741 871;46%

Ebitda *  1530<4 :;51%  1:3:27 :;41% 823114 854;:6%
* for the breakdown, please refer to the “Summary of financial year” section, which describes the alternative performance indicators.

A
m

ou
nt

s 
in

 E
ur

o/
00

0



Annual Report !"#$ ""

Subconsolidate statement of financial position as at 3#.#!.!"#$
Business Area Drivelines/&/Components / Drivetech

-./.0/.1 -./.0/.2

Property, plant and equipment  ;;>9;?@  ;B:9BA: 

Intangible fixed assets  @B9:@;  @;97;? 

Real estate investments  ;==  ;== 

Investments  6  6 

Financial assets  ;9:?8  >9B=: 

Deferred tax assets  89>A;  :9=?: 

Trade receivables and other receivables  @9B8=  @98A= 

Non-current assets  54436<<  5453664 

Closing inventory  879=;;  A@9788 

Trade receivables and other receivables  ?>9:7B  ;B?9?>? 

Financial assets  ;9B:@  >98?A 

Cash and cash equivalents  >@98BB  ;89777 

Current assets  5253:60  77<3<79 

Total assets <193:<2 <213<<< 

Share Capital  7B9;B>  7B9;B> 

Reserves  @:9>;7  =B97=: 

Foreign currency translation reserve  :9>?8 6;9@:@ 

Profit/loss for the year  ;79B8B  ;8977@ 

Minority interests  A9;B;  A978: 

Shareholders’ equity  561399<  5603961 

Financial liabilities  @:9@BA  7A97A; 

Trade payables and other payables  ;;@  >:A 

Deferred tax liabilities  ;9?AA  >9788 

Provision for severance indemnity and retirement benefits  8977:  89>8> 

Provisions for risks and liabilities  >98=A  79B78 

Non-current liabilities  023059  073<14 

Financial liabilities  @:9?>=  =798>7 

Trade payables and other payables  ;>79:BA  ;=A9>;@ 

Current taxes payables  79B=B  79@8A 

Provisions for risks and liabilities  ;;9;:@  A9?:8 

Current liabilities  5213412  774372< 

Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities  <193:<2 <213<<<
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Analysis of Net Working Capital at 3#/#!/!"#$
Business Area Drivelines/&/Components / Drivetech

-./.0/.1 -./.0/.2

Trade Receivables  ==9A?;  8@9??8 

Closing inventory  879=;;  A@9788 

Trade Payables 6A89>@7 6;779;:> 

Net Working Capital  <7371:  <43567 

Corporate Structure as at 3#/#!/!"#$
Business Area Drivelines/&/Components / Drivetech

The general economic slowdown, which a!ected the United States, Germany and China, 
but especially India, the Business Area’s top market, had a significant e!ect on sales in 2019 
of the entire sector. 

The orders trend saw a significant contraction compared to the previous year and the un-
certainties and turbulence mentioned in the introduction increased de-stocking initiatives 
implemented by the main customers during the year; only in recent months have there been 
slight signs of order recovery, especially in India, which will benefit the coming year.

Sales revenues of Drivetech at 31 December 2019 amounted to a total of 454.485 million 
euros compared to 518.429 million euros in the same period of 2018, down by 12.3%. 

Turnover from third parties, which accounts for 95.9% of total turnover, was equal to 
435.825 million euros compared to 496.942 million for the previous year (95.86% of total 
turnover) down by 12.3%. 

 Below is the detailed analysis of the main target markets.

Agricultural market
Sales in the agricultural market, representing 29.77% (35.82% in 2018) of the Drive Tech 

Business Area’s turnover, recorded a 24.2% fall compared to the previous year.
The main market for the agricultural segment is Asia and especially India, which ac-

counts for 8.29% (11.21% in 2018) of turnover. This 37.8% decrease, in addition to the ten-
sions mentioned in the introduction, is due to a natural correction relating to the rapid 
increase in the sale of tractors in the previous year and to a more prudent disbursement 
of subsidies and loans. China, which accounts for 3.02% of total turnover (2.28 in 2018), 
recorded an increase of 11.3% despite a significant contraction in the agricultural market 
in the country. It is notable that in the tractor segment the Chinese market is still not at its 
full potential and for this reason the central government has further deferred the entry into 
force of the new “China IV” emissions regulations. 

The European market also stalled, with France accounting for 2.98% (2.68% in 2018) of 
total turnover, Germany accounting for 1.22% (1.18% in 2018) of turnover, and Eastern Eu-
rope accounting for 0.85% (1.57% in 2018) of turnover. Italy accounted for 2.76% (2.39% in 
2018) and remained on lightly positive ground (+1.2%) compared to the previous year.

The North American market was significantly a!ected by tari! tensions. The United 
States, which contributed 3.34% (3.46% in 2018) to turnover, recorded a 15.5% drop in sales.

South America saw a continued downturn in the agricultural machinery market also 
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seen in the previous year. This can be seen in an analysis of the Brazilian subsidiary, whose 
turnover amounted to 1.9% (2.51% in 2018) of total volumes, down 33.9% compared to the 
previous period. The trend in the Argentinian market was the same, with a 22% drop in 
sales compared to last year.

Turkey, which represents 0.98% (1.49% in 2018) of turnover, once again recorded a sig-
nificant drop due to the continuing e!ects of geopolitical tensions and their impact on the 
country’s economy. The need to dispose of the high level of vehicle stocks accumulated in 
previous years and the internal crisis explain the significant drop in sales (-44.7%). Some 
timid signs of recovery were seen in the last few months of 2019, mainly due to the need to 
restore stocks which are now running out.

Construction equipment market
The “Construction equipment” segment retains its significant leadership role for the 

Group, accounting for 45.35% of total turnover in the Business Area (42.30% in 2018). Af-
ter two years of record growth, global demand for construction and mining machinery has 
naturally fallen, which explains the 9.2% decrease in sales compared to the previous year.

In terms of European markets, there was a slowdown in demand after a first quarter of 
growth and a stable second quarter.

The UK accounted for 8.44% (7.71% in 2018) of total sales and has become the main mar-
ket for the Drivetech Business Area, albeit down 8% compared to 2018. Italy, which ac-
counted for 6.56% (5.99% in 2018), saw a decrease of 7.2% compared to 2018, while Germa-
ny, with a turnover equal to 5.89% of total turnover (4.81% in 2018), went against the trend, 
showing an improvement of 3.1% compared to the same period of the previous year.

India, with 8.01% (8.53% in 2018), remains the second largest market in this segment and 
the decrease in sales (21.1%) mainly concerns the backhoe loader and, to a lesser extent, the 
applications used in road maintenance. The main causes of this downturn are attributable 
to the slowing of the ambitious infrastructure plans launched by the central government 
the previous year and to a fall in new lending (as mentioned in the analysis of the agricul-
tural market). 

China accounts for 1.83% of total turnover (2.05% in 2018) and has seen a drop of 26.7%. 
As in the agricultural sector, the central government has extended the entry into force of 
the new rules on emissions (China IV).

In North America, demand continued to grow in 2019, both for utility machines as well as 
larger machines, thanks to the significant infrastructure investments in progress. A natural 
slowdown, due to the need to reduce accumulated stock levels, was recorded in the last 
months of the year. Against this background, the United States accounted for 5.2% of sales 
(4.86% in 2018). 

On the other hand, important signs of recovery were seen Brazil, the main market in 
South America, with 3.23% of turnover (2.26% in 2018), an increase of 25% compared to 
the previous year, attributable to the unblocking of some infrastructure investments in the 
construction sector.

Particular mention should be made of the 34% increase in sales in the Turkish market, 
which represents 1.7% of total turnover (1.07% in 2018). Even in an economy that remains 
stagnant in the construction sector, this rebound could be the first sign of the exhaustion of 
existing stocks and a correction in the trend of this market.
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Material handling market  
The “Material Handling” segment represents 6.02% of total turnover (5.36% in 2018), 

down 5.5% from the previous year, a performance consistent with the industry trend. Eu-
rope and the United States remain the main sales markets for this product line, with over 
94% of sales, especially as regards electric vehicles.

Automotive Market
The “Automotive” segment accounts for 2.9% of total turnover in the Drivetech Business 

Area, compared to 3.34% in the previous year, a decrease of 27%.
Europe, and Italy in particular (2.1% of total turnover) is the main market for this seg-

ment, accounting for 95% of sales.
This decrease is essentially due to the end of an order for a 4x4 vehicle no longer in pro-

duction. 

Replacement parts
Replacement parts turnover in 2019 was a!ected by the general downturn in the market, 

recording a modest increase of 0.6% compared to the previous year.
From the second half of 2018, in order to guarantee better service to customers, the spare 

parts warehouse management function was internalised and a new company, Driveservice 
srl (part of the Group) was formed which has been equipped with specialised infrastruc-
ture and management software. In late 2018 and in the first few months of 2019, this initia-
tive caused some di#culties in providing the service due to the necessary learning curve. 
This was fully made up for in the second part of 2019. 

Germany remains the main destination market for sales as it is where the main OEMs in 
the sectors in which the Group operates are based. In Germany there was a 12.3% increase 
in turnover compared to 2018. The signals coming from the United States were also en-
couraging, with increase in turnover of 9.9% compared to the previous year, thanks to the 
recovery of the construction market.

Finally, the Russian market also showed positive signs, where the increase compared to 
the previous year was 6.2% thanks to growing penetration by independent distributors.

Against these increases, unfortunately it is necessary to highlight the contraction in the 
Italian market, where sales fell by 9.3% mainly due to the specific di#culties encountered 
by one of the main customers in the “drivelines” segment. In addition, there are still signif-
icant problems in South American countries, which recorded a decrease of 11.5% compared 
to the previous year. This was due to the negative trend in exchange rates and the greater 
di#culties in importing, both of which favour local spare parts dealers.

Finally, the Indian market must be highlighted as it followed the general contraction of 
the sector, recording a decrease of 16.2% in line with the economic slowdown. 
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Results summary
Despite the significant sales contraction as amply discussed above, income data analy-

sis shows an encouraging hold in margins, essentially due to the positive e!ect of actions 
implemented over the past few years on production factors; this is clearly demonstrated 
by the ability to scale the use of external processes according to production needs and the 
consequent use optimisation of internal resources and, last but not least, the constant mon-
itoring to contain fixed costs and overheads is highlighted, which allowed the e!ect of their 
lower absorption capacity, due to the drop in volumes, to be minimised.

Ebitda amounted to 41.536 million euros (9.1% of turnover), down compared to the 49.982 
million euros (9.6% of turnover) of 2018, while Ebit amounted to 25.256 million euros (5.6% 
of turnover), a decrease of 26.2% compared to the 34.243 million euros (6.6% of turnover) 
of 31 December 2018. 

The 2019 results were a!ected by restructuring costs incurred by the Argentina subsidi-
ary amounting to 1.301 million euros (compared to restructuring costs in 2018 of 2.187 mil-
lion euros). 

Net of the non-recurring operations, adjusted and Ebitda and Ebit would be the following:

 -./.0/05.1 % of turnover  -./.0/05.2 % of turnover

Ebitda  @;9=7: A<;  @A9A?> A<:% 

Adjusted Ebitda  @>9?78 A<@  =>9;:A ;B<;% 

Ebit  >=9>=: =<:  7@9>@7 :<:% 

Adjusted Ebit  >:9==8 =<?  7:9@7B 8<B% 

Net of non-recurring e!ects, profitability remained solid albeit down on the previous 
year. 

Earnings before tax amounted to 18.846 million euros (4.2% of turnover), down on 26.450 
million euros in 2018 (5.1% of turnover). Notably, earnings before tax for 2019 includes re-
structuring costs of 911 thousand euros relating to the Argentinian subsidiary, as mentioned 
above. In 2018 these costs amounted to 1.4 million euros. These items are calculated net of 
the related tax e!ects (-390 thousand euros in 2019 and -765 thousand euros in 2018).

Net profit was equal to 13.070 million euros (2.9% of turnover) compared to 17.334 mil-
lion euros (3.3% of turnover) in 2018. After adjusting for non-recurring items, net profit for 
2019 was 13.981 million euros, down from the 18.752 million euros recorded in 2018.

Net of non-recurring operations, adjusted net profit would have been the following:

 -./.0/05.1 % of turnover  -./.0/05.2 % of turnover

Net profit/(loss)  ;79B8B ><A%  ;8977@ 7<7% 

Adjusted net profit/(loss)  ;79A?; 7<;%  ;?98=> 7<:% 

The net financial position as at 31 December 2019 was negative amounting to 63.464 mil-
lion euros, decreasing compared to the figure of 70.603 million euros as at 31 December 
2018 thanks to the change in working capital.

A
m

ou
nt

s 
in

 E
ur

o/
00

0
A

m
ou

nt
s 

in
 E

ur
o/

00
0



Balance Sheet and Financial Data*'

Turnover
A breakdown of turnover between sales to third parties and intra-group is provided below:

@ Sales Sales to third parties

@ 05.1 05.2 Diff % 05.1 05.2 Diff %

Carraro Drivetech  @=@9@?=  =;?9@>A 6;><7  @7=9?B=  @A=9@7: 6;>

@ Related sales Intra3group sales

@ 05.1 05.2 Diff % 05.1 05.2 Diff %

Carraro Drivetech ;?  ;9=B8 n<r< ;?9::>  >;9@?: 6;7<;

Intra-group sales refer to sales realised between companies from di!erent business areas 
(in particular Drivetech and Divisione Agritalia).

Turnover from third parties, which accounts for 95.9% of total turnover, was equal to 
435.805 million euros compared to 495.436 million for the previous year (95.6% of total 
turnover) down by 12.36%. Turnover from Group and related companies amounted to 
18.680 million euros (4.1% of total turnover), with a 18.76% decrease compared to 22.993 
million euros (4.4% of total turnover) in 2018.

The following table breaks down total turnover by geographical area:

Geographical Area -./.0/.1 % -./.0/.2 % Diff/ % ‘.13’.2

India  8:9;=A ;:<8:%  ;BA9A;7 >;<>B% 67B<8;%

North America  :89=@8 ;@<?:%  8@9>;: ;@<7>% 6?<AA%

Germany  =?98?; ;><A7%  =89877 ;;<;@% ;<?>%

United Kingdom  @B97?: ?<?A%  @@9>B> ?<=7% 6?<:7%

South America  7>9B>: 8<B=%  7=9==: :<?:% 6A<A7%

China  >>9:;; @<A?%  >@9BA8 @<:=% 6:<;8%

France  ;89=:> 7<?:%  >>9=AA @<7:% 6>><>A%

Turkey  ;79;BA ><??%  ;@9=87 ><?;% 6;B<B=%

Sweden  897B@ ;<:;%  ?9@B: ;<:>% 6;7<;;%

Czech Republic  =9?87 ;<>A%  @9=;B B<?8% 7B<>>%

Other EU Areas  >?9?@> :<7=%  7@9:B@ :<:8% 6;:<:=%

Other non-E.U areas  89?7; ;<8>%  @9:?: B<AB% :8<;;%

Total Abroad  <9236<5 2<;52%  1<036:0 2<;:<% 85<;57%

Italy 8:9@=@ ;:<?>% ?7977@ ;:<B8% 6?<>:%

Total  1013120 566;6%  052317: 566;66% 857;<<%
Note: following an improvement in the reclassification by geographical area, the figures for 2018 have been restated.

In analysing turnover, it should be noted that the Group mainly sells to the production 
sites of OEMs that may reside in di!erent countries from the nations of end users of their 
products. 

Sales made within the European market accounted for 49.39% of total turnover (47.16% 
in 2018), while sales to markets outside Europe amounted to 50.61% (52.84% in 2018).

Drive Tech’s total turnover by geographic area shows India with 16.76% (21.2% in 2018) 
as the main foreign market, followed by North America with 14.86 (14.32% in 2018). Ger-
many, with 12.193% (11.14% in 2018) is the main market in the European Union followed by 
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the United Kingdom with 8.89% (8.53% in 2018). Turnover in Italy fell (- 8.26% compared 
to 2018).

The following table breaks down total sales by application segment:

Sector -./.0/.1 % -./.0/.2 % Diff/ ’.13’.2

Construction Equipment  >;:97>8 @8<:B%  >;A97BB @><7B% 6;<7:%

Agricultural  ;>A98@? >?<==%  ;?=98BB 7=<?>% 67B<;7%

Spare Parts  =@9=?8 ;><B;%  =@9;@: ;B<@@% B<?;%

Material Handling  >:9>@B =<88%  >89?B7 =<7:% 6=<:>%

Automotive  ;>9:7@ ><8?%  ;897;A 7<7@% 6>8<B=%

Other  ;@9A@A 7<>A% ;@9;:;  ><87% =<=:%

Total  1013120 566;6%  052317: 566;6% 857;<<%

Ebitda and Ebit
Ebitda amounted to 41.536 million euros (9.1% of turnover), down compared to 49.982 

million euros (9.6 % of turnover) in 2018. Excluding non-recurring items, as discussed 
above, Ebitda would have amounted to 42,837 million euros (9.4% of turnover), down com-
pared to 52.169 million euros (10.1% of turnover) in 2018. Ebit amounted to 25.256 million 
euros (5.6% of turnover), down compared to 34.243 million euros (6.6% of turnover) in 
2018. Excluding non-recurring items, it would have amounted to 26.557 million euros (5.8% 
of turnover) down 27.1% compared to 36.430 million euros (7.0% of turnover) in 2018.

-./.0/.1 % of turnover -./.0/.2 % of turnover Diff/ %

Ebitda  1530<4 :;5  1:3:27 :;4  854;:

Restructuring costs in Argentina ;97B;  >9>78

Other restructuring costs 6=B

Adjusted Ebitda  1732<9  :;1  07354:  56;5 859;:

-./.0/.1 % of turnover -./.0/.2 % of turnover Diff/ %

Ebit 703704 0;4 <1371< 4;4 874;7

Restructuring costs in Argentina ;97B; >9>78

Other restructuring costs 6=B

Adjusted Ebit 743009 0;2 <431<6 9;6 879;5

Financial expenses

-./.0/.1 % of turnover -./.0/.2 % of turnover Diff. %

Net financial expenses 6:9;=8 6;<@ 6:9B8@ 6;<> 6;<@

Net financial expenses at 31 December 2019 amounted to 6.157 million euros (1.2% of 
turnover), up from 6.074 million euros (1.2% of turnover) as at 31 December 2018. This was 
mainly due to the higher indebtedness of the Indian subsidiary, which is subject to higher 
local rates than the European market.
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Exchange differences

-./.0/.1 % of turnover -./.0/.2 % of turnover Diff. %

Exchange differences  ;B: B<B 6;9>A@ 6B<> n<r<

Exchange di!erences as at 31 December 2019 were positive, amounting to 106 million 
euros (0.02% of turnover) compared to a negative value of 1.294 million euros (-0.2% of 
turnover) as at 31 December 2018. 

Thanks to a natural hedge policy, the Group’s sales flow profile is mainly well balanced.  

Income (expenses) from hyperinflation

-./.0/.1 % of turnover -./.0/.2 % of turnover Diff/ %

Income (expenses) 
from hyperinflation

67=A B<B? 6;9B>7 B<> 6:@<A;

In 2019, the e!ect of inflation accounting for the Argentinian subsidiary was recognised 
in the financial statements, which had an impact on several items and entailed total ex-
penses of 359 thousand euros, 0.08% of turnover (in 2018 it was 1.023 million euros, 0.2% 
of turnover). For the appropriate detailed analysis, reference should be made to the specific 
paragraph of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Net profit/loss
2019 closed with a profit of 18.846 million euros (4.15% of turnover) down compared to 

2018 (26.450 million euros, 5.1% of turnover). Taxes as at 31 December 2019 amounted to 
5.101 million euros (-1.12% of turnover) against 8.131 million euros (-1.57% of turnover) as at 
31 December 2018.

-./.0/.1 % of turnover -./.0/.2 % of turnover Diff/ %

Earnings bedore tax  523214 1;50%  743106 0;56% 8<5;16 

Current and deferred income taxes 6=9;B; 6;<;>% 6?9;7; 6;<=8%  

Profit/loss pertaining to minorities 6:8= 6B<;=% 6A?= 6B<;A% E

Net profit/loss  5<3696 7;22%  593<<1 <;<1% 872;26 

Amortisation, depreciation and impairment of fixed assets

 -./.0/05.1  % of turnover  -./.0/05.2  % of turnover  Diff/ % 

Depreciation and amortisation  ;:97:= 7<:  ;@9;8; ><8 ;=<= 

Impairment of fixed assets 6?= 6B<B  ;9=:? B<7 n<r< 

Amortisation3 depreciation
and impairment  543726 <;4  5039<: <;6 <;1 
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Amortisation and depreciation amounted to 16.280 million euros (3.6% of turnover), an 
increase compared to 15.739 million euros (3.0% of turnover) in 2018 due to the di!erent ac-
counting caused by the application of Ifrs 16. In 2018 almost all impairment losses of fixed 
assets related to the Argentinian subsidiary.

Investments

-./.0/.1 -./.0/.2

Investments  ;?9@B=  >B9AAB 

In 2019, investments of 18.405 million euros were made for the purchase of machinery 
and the maintenance of e#ciency and modernisation of the plant and equipment in the 
various plants. The drop compared to the previous year was due to the fact that 2018 had 
been a year that saw significant investment (relating to industrial expansion in SIAP and 
Carraro India.

Net financial position of management

-./.0/.1 -5/51/.1 -5/59/.1 -./.0/.2

Net financial position of management 6:79@:@ 68:9=@? 68>98AA 68B9:B7 

The consolidated net financial position at 31 December 2019 was negative for 63.464 mil-
lion euros, an improvement compared to 31 December 2018 (negative for 70.603 million 
euros), and compared to 30 June 2019 (72.799 million euros).

Human resources

Workforce trend

-./.0/.1 -./.0/.2 -./.0/.7

Executives 8 8 A

Clerical staff @?: @8= @:8

Factory workers ;9?B? ;9ABA ;9?:7

Temporary workers >A= 7A: 7=7

Total 730:4 73929 734:7

The decrease in sta! compared to 31 December 2019 is mainly due to the decrease in 
production volumes in the Indian subsidiary.
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Summary data of companies belonging to the
Business Area Drivelines/&/Components / Drivetech as at 0#/#!/!"#$

Carraro Drive Tech Spa . Siap Spa 

-./.0/.1 % of 
turn/

-./.0/.2 % of 
turn/

Diff/% -./.0/.1 % of 
turn/

-./.0/.2 % of 
turn/

Diff/%

Turnover  >?:9;B7 E  7;A9B@A E 6;B<7  8:97=A E  ?@9>78 E 6A<@ 

Ebitda  ;A9A7: 8<B  >89@AA ?<: 6>8<=  ?9>:8 ;B<?  A9@A7 ;;<7 6;><A 

Ebit  ;=98B8 =<=  >@9B?> 8<= 67@<?  79;@: @<;  =9B>@ :<B 678<@ 

Net profit/(loss)  ;;97?; @<B  ;>9?7= @<B 6;;<7  >9AB@ 7<?  @9>78 =<B 67;<= 

Amort., deprec. 
and impairment

 @9>>A ;<=  79@;8 ;<; >7<?  =9;>; :<8  @9@:A =<7 ;@<: 

Investments  79B@8 E  @9=;> E E  89?@A ;B<?  ?97=B E E

Net fin. position 
of operations

6=;9@;B E 6:B9;B; E E 6@9:?: E  ?=8 E E

Shareholders’ 
equity

 :B97;A E :;9;?? E E  7A9;:; E  @B97@= E E

1CSubholding and parent company of the Business Area.

Carraro India Pvt/ Ltd/ Carraro China Drives System Co/ Ltd/

-./.0/.1 % of 
turn/

-./.0/.2 % of 
turn/

Diff/% -./.0/.1 % of 
turn/

-./.0/.2 % of 
turn/

Diff/%

Turnover  ;>79;7? E  ;==9BA: E 6>B<:  =A98A7 E  :@9@A; E 68<7 

Ebitda  :9:B; =<@  ?9:?= =<: 6>@<B  =9?=B A<?  =9A8= A<7 6><; 

Ebit  >97=@ ;<A  @9:@7 7<B 6@A<7  @9>78 8<;  @9@>7 :<A 6@<> 

Net profit/(loss)  7@A B<7  A7A B<: 6:><?  79>B= =<@  79;?A =<B B<= 

Amort., deprec. 
and impairment

 @9>@8 7<@  @9B@> ><: =<;  ;9:;7 ><8  ;9==> ><@ 7<A 

Investments  =9;:B E  :9@B? E E  ;9;7? E  ;9>>A E E

Net fin. position 
of operations

6;:9@=A E 6;A9?B> E E  ;B9>?> E  ?9=;8 E E

Shareholders’ 
equity

 7>9BA? E  7;9A7? E E  >:9;=: E  >=98=@ E E

Carraro Argentina Sa Carraro Technologies Ltd 0

-./.0/.1 % of 
turn/

-./.0/.2 % of 
turn/

Diff/% -./.0/.1 % of 
turn/

-./.0/.2 % of 
turn/

Diff/%

Turnover  ;;98A= E  ;:9>B7 E 6>8<>  ;9:A; E  ;9=@= E A<@ 

Ebitda 6=8B 6@<? 6;9;A: 68<@ 6=><7  8=@ @@<:  7:= >7<: n<r<

Ebit 6;9B=7 6?<A 679>B? 6;A<? 6:8<>  =8; 77<?  7BB ;A<@ AB<7 

Net profit/(loss) 6>9==@ 6>;<8 6=9@7? 677<: 6=7<B  @B7 >7<?  @A 7<> n<r<

Amort., deprec. 
and impairment

 @?7 @<;  >9B;> ;><@ 68:<B  ;?7 ;B<?  := @<> n<r<

Investments  ?A E 6;; E E  ;;B E  78 E E

Net fin. position 
of operations

6A78 E  ;9@B7 E E  >:? E  >8A E E

Shareholders’ 
equity

 ;9@;7 E  79A=> E E  ;9;8? E  8?A E E

2CThis company carries out design, research and development for the Group and third parties and is based in Pune (India)
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Carraro Drive Tech Do Brasil Inc Carraro North America Inc/ (Virginia Beach) 

-./.0/.1 % of 
turn/

-./.0/.2 % of 
turn/

Diff/% -./.0/.1 % of 
turn/

-./.0/.2 % of 
turn/

Diff/%

Turnover  :9B7: E  =98=: E @<A  =@8 E  87> E 6>=<7 

Ebitda  7>> =<7 6@7 6B<8 n<r<  : ;<; 6@= 6:<; n<r<

Ebit  := ;<; 6;=8 6><8 n<r<  : ;<; 6@= 6:<; n<r<

Net profit/(loss) 6;=7 6><= 6=@> 6A<@ 68;<?  6 B<B 6=; 68<B 6;BB<B 

Amort., deprec. 
and impairment

 >=8 @<7  ;;@ ><B n<r<  6 B<B  6 B<B 

Investments  >;8 E  => E   6 E  6 E E

Net fin. position 
of operations

6>9B8: E 6;97B; E E 6@7A E 678> E E

Shareholders’ 
equity

 A@A E  ;9;;A E E 67>> E 67;: E E

Driveservice Srl Carraro Drive Tech Italia Spa

-./.0/.1 % of 
turn/

-./.0/.2 % of 
turn/

Diff/% -./.0/.1 % of 
turn/

-./.0/.2 % of 
turn/

Diff/%

Turnover  79>?; E  ;9=@A E n<r<  6 

Ebitda  =:8 ;8<7 68=; 6@?<= n<r< 6;: 

Ebit  ;@: @<@ 68A@ 6=;<7 n<r< 6;: 

Net profit/(loss)  :B ;<? 6:B: 67A<; n<r< 6;: 

Amort., deprec. 
and impairment

 @>; ;><?  @7 ><? n<r<  6 

Investments  >9>8= E  @8: E   6 

Net fin. position 
of operations

6;9:7B E 6?7 E E 6 E

Shareholders’ 
equity

 88 E 6>8; E E 6 E
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Income Statement as at  3#/#!/!"#$
Business Area Vehicles / Agritalia

-./.0/.1 % -./.0/.2 % Changes

<5;57;5: <5;57;52

Revenues from sales  55236:5 566;66%  5<73:46 566;66% 851324: 855;52%

Purchases of goods and materials  
(net of changes in inventories)

6A;9@A> 688<@?% 6;B;9;=? 68:<B?%  A9::: A<=:%

Services and Use of third-party goods 
and services

6;;9:?? 6A<AB% 6;@9>:? 6;B<87%  >9=?B ;?<B?%

Personnel costs 6;79::: 6;;<=8% 6;79=;? 6;B<;8% 6;@? 6;<BA%

Amortisation, depreciation 
and impairment of assets

6;9AA8 6;<:A% 6;988A 6;<7@% 6>;? 6;><>=%

Provisions for risks 68A@ 6B<:8% 6;9:7> 6;<>7%  ?7? =;<7=%

Other income and expenses  >9:B7 ><>B%  =>B B<7A%  >9B?7 @BB<=?%

Internal construction  6 B<BB%  6 B<BB%  6 DDIV/B!

Operating costs 855936<1 8::;56% 85<532<0 8::;50%  513265 55;7<%

Operating profit/(loss)  53609 6;:6%  53570 6;20% 842 84;61%

Income from equity investments  6 B<BB%  6 B<BB%  6 DDIV/B!

Other financial income  ;; B<B;%  >A B<B>% 6;? 6:><B8%

Financial costs and expenses 68= 6B<B:% 67> 6B<B>% 6@7 

Net gains/(losses) on foreign exchange  6 B<BB% 6@ B<BB%  @ ;BB<BB%

Value adjustments of financial assets  6 B<BB%  6 B<BB%  6 

Gains/(losses) on financial assets 841 86;60% 89 86;65% 809 

Profit/(loss) before taxes  ::< 6;21%  53552 6;21% 8570 855;52%

Current and deferred income taxes  6 B<BB%  6 B<BB%  6 B<BB%

Contribution to the net profit/(loss) 
of Carraro Spa

 ::< 6;21%  53552 6;21% 8570 855;52%

Ebitda*  <3601 7;0:%  73:61 7;52%  506 0;59%

* for the breakdown9 please refer to the “Summary of financial year” section9 which describes the alternative performance indicators

Statement of Financial Position as at 3#/#!/!"#$
Business Area Vehicles / Agritalia

-./.0/.1 -./.0/.2

Property9 plant and equipment  ;B9AA:  ;B9>?; 

Intangible fixed assets  =9;>@  @9=7@ 

Real estate investments  6  6 

Holdings in subsidiaries and associates  6  6 

Financial assets  6  6 

Deferred tax assets  ;97?@  ;978; 

Trade receivables and other receivables  ?  A 

Non8current assets  593057  5435:0 

Closing inventory  =;9=>=  >=9?A> 

Trade receivables and other receivables  >;97>:  ;:98:@ 
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-./.0/.1 -./.0/.2

Financial assets  6  6 

Cash and cash equivalents  6  6 

Current assets  973205  173404 

Total assets :63<4<  023205 

Contribution to shareholders’ equity of Carraro Spa 877379:  43099 

Financial liabilities  7:A  ;8 

Trade payables and other payables  6  6 

Deferred tax liabilities  6  6 

Provision for severance indemnity and retirement benefits  ;9;=@  ;9;>7 

Provisions for risks and liabilities  6  6 

Non8current liabilities  5307<  53516 

Financial liabilities  ;?7  A 

Trade payables and other payables  ;B89B>@  @:9;;: 

Current tax payables  6  6 

Provisions for risks and liabilities  79A;>  =9BBA 

Current liabilities  555355:  0535<1 

Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities :63<4< 023205

Analysis of Net Working Capital of Operations at 3#/#!/!"#$
Business Area Vehicles / Agritalia

-./.0/.1 -./.0/.2

Trade Receivables  A9:?;  A9?=? 

Closing inventory  =;9=>=  >=9?A> 

Trade Payables 6::9=7; 67:9B:8 

Net Working Capital 803<70 8<59 

Corporate Structure as at 3#/#!/!"#$
Business Area Vehicles / Agritalia

Carraro Agritalia closed 2019 with a turnover of 118.091 million euros, down 11.18% com-
pared to the 132.960 million euros in the previous year.

The number of tractors sold was 3,446, compared to 3,985 in 2018, significantly lower 
than expected due to the de-stocking phase in which some important customers are in-
volved, as well as delays in the application of EU incentives in some markets in the Medi-
terranean area. 

All the targeted improvement activities put in place since the previous year with the 
aim of mitigating the di#culties in procuring materials, the increase in their cost and the 
ine#ciencies implicit in the start-up of the new series, all of which had characterised 2018, 
created an advantage for profit and loss in 2019. Margins were strengthened despite the 
drop in volumes. There is continued commitment to the development of new models, to the 
expansion of the product portfolio and to the introduction of innovative features, resulting 
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in higher costs on the income statement. 
Agritalia has been engaged in R&D during the year and will remain so in the medium 

term, as it makes a significant e!ort to update the ranges in view of the change in Stage V 
emission levels required by the regulations. 

Ebitda in 2019 amounted to 3.054 million euros (2.6% of turnover), an improvement 
compared to 2.904 million euros (2.2% of turnover) in 2018. Ebit in 2019 amounted to 1,057 
million euros (0.9% of turnover), a slight decrease in absolute terms but stable in percent-
age terms compared to 1,125 million euros (0.8% of turnover) in 2018.  

Turnover
Turnover from the Vehicles Business Area as at 31 December 2019 amounted to 118.091 

million euros compared to 132.960 million euros as at 31 December 2018. 
A breakdown of turnover between sales to third parties and intra-group is provided be-

low:

Sales Sales to third parties Intra3group sales

-./.0/.1 -./.0/.2 Diff % -./.0/.1 -./.0/.2 Diff % -./.0/.1 -./.0/.2 Diff %

Carraro 
div< Agritalia

;;?9BA; ;7>9A:B 6;;<> ;;>9=;> ;>89;:> 6;;<= =9=8A =98A? 67<?

Intra-group sales refer to sales realised between companies from di!erent business areas 
(in particular to Carraro Drivetech).

The following table breaks down total turnover by geographical area:

-./.0/.1 % -./.0/.2 % Diff/ % ‘.1‘.2

Switzerland  >79>@= ;A<:?%  >:9@:7 ;A<AB% 6;><;:%

Spain  ;>98:@ ;B<?;%  ;@9:8? ;;<B@% 6;7<B@%

Germany  ;;9@@7 A<:A%  89>@: =<@=% =8<A>%

France  ;B9AA8 A<7;%  :9?=A =<;:% :B<77%

North America  A988B ?<>8%  >>9=>; ;:<A@% 6=:<:>%

Australia  >9@?A ><;;%  ;9?>@ ;<78% 7:<@:%

South America  ?88 B<8@%  >9BA7 ;<=8% 6=?<;B%

New Zealand  =:8 B<@?%  7=@ B<>8% :B<;8%

United Kingdom  @A= B<@>%  ;98>: ;<7B% 68;<7>%

Poland  @7B B<7:%  ??@ B<::% 6=;<7:%

Other EU areas  A;A B<8?%  ;97B> B<A?% 6>A<@>%

Other non-EU areas  8B> B<=A%  ;9>7> B<A7% 6@7<B>%

Total Abroad  9134:2 4<;70%  293527 40;09% 851;<7%

Italy @797A7 7:<8=% @=988? 7@<@7% 6=<>;%

Total  55236:5 566;6%  5<73:46 566;66% 855;52%
Note: following an improvement in the reclassification by geographical area, the figures for 2018 have been restated.

It should be noted that the Group mainly sells to the production sites of OEMs that may 
reside in di!erent countries from the nations of end users of their products. 

The increase in Germany is due to the relocation of customer.
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The increase in France is generally attributable to growing volumes and new partner-
ships with dealers in relation to the Carraro Tractors brand. 

Growth in Australia and New Zealand, where markets are not yet stable but have good 
long-term prospects, can be considered sporadic.

Ebitda and Ebit

-./.0/.1 % of turnover -./.0/.2 % of turnover Diff/ %

Ebitda 79B=@ ><: >9AB@ ><> =<> 

-./.0/.1 % of turnover -./.0/.2 % of turnover Diff/ %

Ebit ;9B=8 B<A ;9;>= B<? 6:<B 

There are no non-recurring e!ects to report.
Ebitda was equal to 3,054 million euros (2.6% of turnover) a slight improvement com-

pared to 2,904 million euros (2.2% of turnover) as at 31 December 2018. Ebit was equal to 
1,057 million euros (0.9% of turnover) compared to 1,125 million euros (0.8% of turnover) 
as at 31 December 2018. 

The good result in terms of profitability, despite the drop in volumes, is down to the spe-
cific improvements initiatives carried out, as mentioned in the introduction.

Net financial expenses

-./.0/.1 % of turnover -./.0/.2 % of turnover Diff/ %

Net financial expenses  67:@ 6 B<;  67 6B<B n<r<

Despite an active management’s net financial position there is an expense of 3 thousand 
euro, related to banking costs and commissions.

Contribution to the net profit/(loss) of Carraro Spa

-./.0/.1 % of turnover -./.0/.2 % of turnover Diff/ %

Contribution to the net profit/loss)
of Carraro Spa

AA7  B<B? ;9;;? B<?  6;;<>

Costs/(income) of non6recurring 
operations net of the tax effect 

6 E 6 E

Adjusted contribution 
to the net profit/loss of Carraro Spa

AA7  B<B? ;9;;? B<? 6;;<>

The year 2019 closed with a net profit of 993 million euros (0.8% of turnover), a decrease 
on the previous year when it was 1.118 million euros (0.8% of turnover) for the reasons men-
tioned in the introduction and especially due to the drop in volumes.
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Amortisation, depreciation and impairment of fixed assets

-./.0/.1 % of turnover -./.0/.2 % of turnover Diff/ %

Amortisation3 depreciation 
and impairment

 ;9AA8 ;<8  ;988A ;<7 ;><7 

Depreciation and amortisation in 2019 was a!ected by the application of Ifrs 16.

Investments

-./.0/.1 -./.0/.2

Investments ;9@@7 ;9:@B

It is worth noting that 2018 saw some significant investments relating to the extension 
of the o#ces.

Human resources

Workforce trend 

-./.0/.1 -./.0/.2 -./.0/.7

Executives  :  =  @ 

Clerical staff  A=  ??  ?> 

Factory workers  ;87  ;:B  ;@7 

Temporary workers  =B  :>  88 

Total  <71  <50  <64 

The increase in headcount compared to 31 December 2019 is mainly due to the higher 
volume of Research & Development activities.
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Key risks and uncertainties
to which Carraro Spa and the Group are exposed 

Carraro’s risk management system, in line with the most common, consolidated practic-
es in this area, adopts a five-category classification:

› Strategic risks:Relating to medium/long-term objectives and the influence of exter-
nal economic factors that are hard to predict or only partially foreseeable or which 
cannot be influenced by the Group (for example the macroeconomic context, country 
risk, market or sector risk);

› Financial risks: risks of a financial nature (for example credit risk, liquidity risk, ex-
change and interest rate volatility, commodities prices, availability of funds);

› Operational risks: Linked to the e#ciency and e!ectiveness of operating capacity, 
and connected to events that could adversely a!ect the creation of value (for example 
risks related to the supply chain, product development, industrialisation, human re-
sources, information systems, health, safety and the environment, product quality);

› Legal and compliance risks: Related to the capacity to promptly comply with current 
laws and regulations, or associated to legal disputes and proceedings;

› Planning and reporting risks: Linked to the reliability of financial and planning infor-
mation. 

The main types of risks identified for the Carraro Group are listed below.

Strategic risks

Risks associated with the general economic conditions
The Group’s financial, capital and borrowing situation is influenced by various factors 

within the general macro-economic framework, such as changes to the gross national prod-
uct, the state of the agricultural and construction industries, the cost of raw materials and 
the level of business confidence in the various countries in which the Group operates. 

Significant macro-economic events, such as a generalised and significant increase in the 
prices of raw materials, a significant fall in demand in one of the key markets of the Group, 
enduring uncertainty and volatility of the financial and capital markets, falling interest 
rates and unfavourable changes in the exchange rates of the major currencies to which the 
Group is exposed are all negative factors for the Group’s operations and future, as well as its 
economic results and its financial position.

The dynamics in the global economy and international trade in 2019 were once again 
characterised by instability in some areas of the world.

As is well known, the national and international scenario has been characterised since 
January 2020 by the spread of the Coronavirus and the consequent restrictive measures 
for its containment, implemented by the public authorities of the countries a!ected. These 
exceptional circumstances – both in terms of their nature and extent – may have direct 
and indirect repercussions on the business and on ESG that cannot currently be quantified 
amid the current uncertainty. The potential e!ects of this situation cannot currently be 
measured and will be constantly monitored throughout the year.
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Risks related to the trends on the markets/industrial customers
The market sectors in which the Group operates are influenced to varying degrees by 

boom and recession cycles, and the dynamics are gradually becoming less predictable. The 
ways in which our main customers absorb these fluctuations in demand and pass them 
on throughout the production chain significantly impact the production volumes that the 
Group is required to fulfil. This has an e!ect on the purchasing and stock management pol-
icies and by implication, on the working capital requirement and the capacity to adequately 
absorb fixed costs.

Country risk
The Carraro Group operates in di!erent countries and its exposure to them has grad-

ually increased over the years. These markets show cyclical conditions of economic and 
political instability (for example in Turkey). This has a!ected, and may continue to nega-
tively a!ect the subsidiaries’ situation and results. A global presence is fundamental for the 
Group, encompassing a strategy serving clients and seizing opportunities on new markets 
for its product range.

Risks associated with protectionist regulations in various countries 
in terms of customs and embargoes
The Group is exposed to the risk of protectionist policies in the countries where it op-

erates, which take the form of customs duties. In other cases, the risk may arise from con-
straints or bans resulting from international agreements that restrict free trade conditions 
(e.g. embargoes).

To deal with all the risks mentioned above, the Group constantly monitors:
› macroeconomic variables, with particular regard to the supply of commodities and 

final destination of products (agriculture, public works and construction);
› the direction of government decisions that could have e!ects in sales markets;
› the evolution of protectionist policies;
through the collection of information and forecasts by its central and local sales and tax 

o#ces, in order to take any measures to mitigate potential negative e!ects.

Financial risks

Risks associated with funding requirements 
The Group’s liquidity risk is mainly linked to the activation and maintenance of su#cient 

funding to support industrial operations. 
The raising of funds, consistent with the latest business plan, is intended to finance both 

working capital and investments in R&D and innovation, as well as investments in fixed as-
sets necessary to ensure su#cient and technologically advanced production capacity. This 
requirement is directly proportional to the trend in customer orders and the resulting trend 
in the volume of business, and also to the Group’s e!orts in directing its research and inno-
vation.

The cash flows envisaged for 2020 include, besides the trend in working capital from 
operations and investments, the e!ects of current liabilities and the short-term portions of 
medium- and long-term loans reaching maturity, as well as the e!ects (assuming the same 
rates of exchange with respect to 31.12.2019) of the closure of derivative financial instru-
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ments on currencies in existence at the reporting date.
The Group envisages meeting the needs arising from all of the above with the flows de-

riving from operations, available liquidity, the collection of receivables from the sale of as-
sets and the availability of additional credit facilities.

The management of liquidity, funding requirements and cash flows are under the direct 
control and management of the Group Treasury, which operates with the aim of managing 
the resources available as e#ciently as possible.

Risks relating to fluctuating exchange and interest rates
The Group is exposed to exchange rate risks by virtue of the fact that a significant portion 

of sales and some of the purchases are made in currencies other than the Group’s functional 
currency, with trade transactions carried out by companies in the euro area with counter-
parties that do not belong to the euro area and vice versa.

Another aspect of exchange rate risk is the fact that several Group companies present 
their financial statements in currencies other than the Group’s functional currency.

Exposure to exchange-rate risk with reference to each entity is regularly monitored by 
the Group Treasury according to a strategy which focuses, in particular, on the balance 
between purchases and sales in foreign currency and activating, for the remaining non-bal-
anced portion and according to the criteria set by the company policy in terms of the man-
agement of financial risks, appropriate initiatives to hedge or reduce the risks identified, 
using the instruments available on the market.

The Group is also exposed to interest rate risks in relation to financial liabilities assumed 
to fund either normal operations or, where applicable, the Group’s expansion by acquisi-
tions. Changes in interest rates may have positive or negative e!ects on both the financial 
outcome and on cash flows.

The interest-rate risk on the floating portion is then reduced if needed via specific hedg-
ing operations.

Credit risk
The Group includes among its customers leading international manufacturers of agricul-

tural machinery, construction equipment vehicles and industrial; The risk concentration is 
associated with the size of these customers, which on a global context is on average high, 
yet balanced by the fact that credit exposure is distributed across a complex network of 
counterparties active in several geographic segments. 

The management of credit is designed to prioritise the acquisition of customers of na-
tional and international standing for multi-annual supplies; on this basis consolidated his-
torical relationships have been built up with the main customers. Generally speaking, these 
relationships are governed by ad-hoc supply contracts. Credit control requires periodic 
monitoring of the main financial and economic data (including the delivery schedules) re-
lating to each customer.

Except in special circumstances to do with country or counterparty risk, guarantees are 
not normally obtained on credit.

Receivables are recognised in the accounts net of any writedowns determined by assess-
ing the counterparty’s risk of insolvency based on the information available. See also the 
Notes on the application of Ifrs 9.
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Operational risks

Supply chain risks
Achieving the objectives of its strategy require Carraro to operate within a supply chain 

in which its suppliers must meet the same standards of technological ability, quality, e#-
ciency and ethics that the Group has set for itself. Accordingly, inadequate management 
of strategic suppliers in terms of quality controls, delivery times and required production 
flexibility carries a risk of potential operational ine#ciencies and the inability to meet cus-
tomer needs. 

To deal with this risk, Carraro subjects its suppliers - and in particular strategic suppli-
ers – to initial and periodic assessments. The assessment measures their adequacy in terms 
of technological and production capacity, overall process and product quality, ISO quali-
ty certifications, corporate and financial situation, and compliance with Carraro’s ethical 
principles.

Risks associated with employee and trade-union relationships
The Group carries out industrial activities through complex production processes that 

make extensive use of skilled labour in the processing, assembly and handling phases. Re-
lations with employees are mediated by trade unions, which are normally well organised 
and historically deep-rooted in the various countries. The status of these relationships de-
termines the continuity of production and the ability to plan to meet delivery commitments 
with customers, with risks of delays or interruptions in activities caused by conflict over 
contract renewals or the downsizing and closure of production sites.

Risks related to product quality
The success of the products manufactured depends to a large extent on the ability to en-

sure quality standards appropriate to sales markets, taking into account:
› for transmission systems (axles, transmissions, etc.), the levels of reliability required 

by the machines in which the Group’s products are used as key components;
› for agricultural vehicles, the safety requirements for their use, according to the con-

straints dictated by applicable laws or legislation and industry standards for road safe-
ty, operating safety, occupational safety and environmental safety (noise and engine 
emissions).

The risk of defects is therefore mitigated from the design phase, through procure-
ment, production and testing, at all times in dialogue with customers to discuss the results 
achieved, and with suppliers to ensure required quality levels are met from the start of the 
industrial supply chain.

Risks regarding health and safety at work
The Group carries out industrial processes consisting to a large extent of machining, 

assembly of mechanical components. Risks related to health and safety in the workplace 
arising from work activities mainly comprise risks typical of the metalwork industry, which 
involves mechanical processing with interactions between the operator and am automatic 
or semi-automatic machine, parts assembly, handling of loads, use of high temperature fur-
naces and other ancillary activities.

Faced with these risks, the Group has adopted an EH&S (Environmental Health and 
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Safety) Management System based on international best practices and in force across all 
production sites. 

Environmental risks
The Group operates across 8 manufacturing sites in 5 di!erent nations.
The manufacturing processes carried out at the Group’s industrial sites are essentially 

mechanical processing of iron and steel and assembly of purchased components.
These processes have accessory materials such as packaging, lubricants, paints and sol-

vents. The objective of limiting the impact of emissions into the environment has seen a 
significant improvement from 2008 onwards through an important investment in moving 
from solvent-based coatings to water-based paints that reduce atmospheric emissions.

Under the EH&S Management System, Each site operates in compliance with local envi-
ronmental regulations; as a result of relentless management engagement, most of the plants 
have acquired ISO 14001 Environmental Certification.

Particular attention has been paid to increasing the e#ciency of processes in order to 
maximise energy savings.

Risks related to climate change 
The pressure of conclusions reached in scientific circles has gradually led to climate 

change and its possible e!ects establishing itself as a topic of increasing importance for 
international bodies, national authorities, politicians and in public debate. 

Faced with worrying signs, resulting in unpredictable climate changes whose root caus-
es seem to have been identified (increased greenhouse gases, global warming), studies are 
ongoing into the possible consequences on the planet’s equilibrium in terms of continuity 
of access to natural resources, the seasons, and the e!ect on agricultural, mining and more 
general productive activities. 

The emerging picture of uncertainty leads to new hypothetical types of risks or, at least, 
risks of a di!erent gradation to those currently identified, with a future direction that is still 
di#cult to imagine and, moreover, quantify even roughly.

Given this situation, the Group has set out to collect and aggregate all the information 
that gradually becomes available, so as to conduct an analysis that will help to adapt the risk 
framework of its business segments to the new future of industrial activities in the agricul-
tural and construction equipment sectors. 

As already explained with regard to containment of environmental risks, the Group has 
long brought its standards of conduct up to an adequate level to obtain international certi-
fications in this area. 

In terms of production processes, the relentless work to improve energy e#ciency is 
bringing benefits in terms of less energy used for the same output, with a consequent re-
duction in costs and emissions. 

In terms of end products, the impetus given by increasingly stringent vehicle pollution 
regulations and end customers’ need to reduce consumption costs is leading manufacturers 
such as Carraro to adapt their strategies towards the development of innovative technical 
solutions in terms of the energy absorbed by vehicle transmission systems. This is a con-
straint but also an opportunity that the Group must seize by steering its research and devel-
opment work in this direction – as it is already doing.
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In terms of the impact that climate change may have on the Group’s assets, the directors 
do not believe that there are currently any factors that could pose specific risks of any sig-
nificance for the purposes of prospective valuations, including those used for impairment 
tests, given the information currently available and the geographical location of the oper-
ating premises.

Transactions with related parties

Transactions with related parties carried out during the period gave rise to relationships 
of a commercial, financial or advisory nature and were expedited at market terms, in the 
economic interest of the individual companies involved in the transactions. 

No transactions were carried out that were atypical or unusual with compared to normal 
business operations and the interest rates and terms applied to and by the companies in 
their reciprocal financial relationships are in line with market terms. 

For detailed information, as required by Art. 2497-bis of the Civil Code, section 5, on 
transactions carried out with related parties, see the Explanatory Notes to the Individual 
Financial Statements.
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Standards used in preparing 
the Consolidated Financial Statements 

The present financial statements are drawn up in compliance with the International Fi-
nancial Reporting Standards (Ifrs) issued by the International Accounting Standard Board 
(Iasb) and endorsed by the European Union in accordance with Regulation no. 1606/2002 
and with the provisions issued in implementation of Art. 9 of Italian Legislative Decree 
no. 38/2005. Furthermore, these financial statements are based on the assumption that the 
company is a going concern.

Other information

With reference to the provisions of Articles 15 and 18 of Consob Regulation 20249 of 
28.12.2017 (the so-called “Market Regulations”), the parent company Carraro Spa meets the 
conditions required by points a), b) and c) of paragraph 1 of the aforementioned Art. 15 on 
the subject of accounting situations, articles of association, corporate bodies and adminis-
trative and accounting control of its subsidiaries incorporated and regulated in countries 
that do not belong to the European Union. 

The Group’s perimeter includes 12 companies of which seven are established and regu-
lated in non-European Union countries, specifically in Argentina, Brazil, China, India and 
the United States; of these, three, in Argentina, China and India, are significant under the 
terms of Title VI, Section II of the Issuer Regulations (Consob Resolution 11971/1999).

For more complete disclosure on the system of corporate governance of Carraro Spa and 
its ownership structures, as required by Article 123-bis of Legislative Decree 58 of 24 Feb-
ruary 1998, (Consolidated Finance Act – TUF), see the “Report on Corporate Governance 
and Ownership Structures”, which can be consulted on the company’s website www.carra-
ro.com, under the about us/corporate governance section

Consolidated non-financial statement
The Carraro Group’s consolidated non-financial statement 2019, prepared in accordance 

with Legislative Decree 254/16, is a separate report (“Sustainability Report”) to this direc-
tors’ report, as required by Art. 5, paragraph 3, letter b) of Legislative Decree 254/16. It is 
available on the website www.carraro.com.
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Statement of reconciliation of consolidated 
net profit/loss and shareholders’ equity 
with the net profit/loss and shareholders’ equity 
of the parent company

The following statement illustrates the reconciliation of the consolidated net income and 
shareholders’ equity as disclosed in the Consolidated Financial Statements and the net in-
come and shareholders’ equity disclosed in the Financial Statements of Carraro Spa:

Items Net profit/
loss for the 

period

Shareholders’ 
equity for the 

period

Net profit/
loss for the 

previous 
year

Shareholders’ 
equity for the 
previous year

Net profit/loss and shareholders’ equity 
of Carraro Spa

 ;@9>7>  ?:97=A  ?9B>>  ?>9>@B 

Net profit/loss and shareholders’ equity 
of subsidiaries

 ;?98=?  ;AB98>;  >@97@7  >B;9;B8 

Aggregate  <73::6  7993626  <73<40  72<3<19 

Elimination of carrying amount of subsidiaries  >98BA 6>779?;B  ?9@8= 6>7:9@:A 

Consolidation adjustments 6>:9AB7  7B9B7@ 6>89::?  7B9;A: 

Profit and shareholders’ equity  239:4  9<3<61  5<3597  993691 

Recognition of minority interests 6:8= 6A9;B; 6A?= 6A978: 

Profit and shareholders’ equity 
of the Group

 23575  41376<  573529  4934:2 

The information required by Article 152 quinquies 1 of the Issuers’ Regulations and Reg-
ulation EU 596/2014 Art. 19 (information on the equity investments in the Parent Company 
Carraro Spa and its subsidiaries held by directors, statutory auditors and …omitted…) is set 
forth in a specific statement annexed to the Explanatory Notes to the Financial Statements 
to which this Report refers.

Enrico Carraro
Chairman
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Consolidated Income Statement

Notes -./.0/.1 of which 
non3

recurring

-./.0/.2 of which 
non3

recurring

F) GHIHJKHL MGNO LFPHL

;) Products E  =7>9=@?  :B;9A:: 

>) Services E  79A>:  =9@;7 

7) Other revenues E  ;>978> E  ;:987: E

Total revenues from sales 5  0123214  4713550 

Q) NRHGFSTJU VNLSL

;) Purchases of goods and materials E  7@@9>::  7?;98>8 

>) Services E  8898=;  A:9B;? 

7) Use of third6party goods and services E  ?@  ;9B=A 

@) Personnel costs E  A;9?7= A@@  A>9?A= >9B7: 

=) Amortisation9 depreciation and impairment of assets E  >B9>7=  >B9:>7 

!"a) depreciation of property# plant and equipment $  %&#'&&  %!#(!' 

!"b) amortisation of intangible fixed assets $  )#)*'  )#+*' 

!"c) impairment of fixed assets $ ,'!  %#!&' 

!"d) impairment of receivables $  %-&  *. 

:) Changes in inventories E 6:9:7=  @?A 

8) Provision for risks and other liabilities E  897=A  7=8  :9;??  >B; 

?) Other income and expenses E 6?9;;;   6=9:B;  6=B 

A) Internal construction E 6@:A 6=:8 

Total operating costs 7  0743<50  0:732<5 

E E E E

Operating profit/(loss)  7730<5  <53721 

V) UFTJL/(PNLLHL) NJ MTJFJVTFP FLLHSL

;B) Income and expenses from equity investments E  >?B   ;9=;8   

;;) Other financial income E  A7@  >9;7: 

;>) Financial costs and expenses E 6;B98AB 6;>98?: 

;7) Net gains/(losses) on foreign exchange E  8@ 6;9788 

;@) Value adjustments of financial assets E 6>9>7@ E 6;9>B= 

;=) Income (charges) from hyperinflation E 67=A E 6;9B>7 E

Net gains/(losses) on financial assets < 85736:0 85739<2 

Profit/(loss) before taxes  5631<4  523014 

;=) Current and deferred income taxes 1  ;9:@B 67AB  =978@ 68:A 

Net profit/(loss)  239:4  5<3597 

;:) Minority interests E 6:8= 6A?= 

Group consolidated profit/(loss)  23575 8:55  573529 853152 

Earnings (losses) per share 0

Basic# for the profit/loss for the period attributable to ordinary 
shareholders of the parent company

/  -"%% /  -"%& 

Diluted# for the profit/loss for the period attributable to ordinary 
shareholders of the parent company

/  -"%% /  -"%& 
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Consolidated Comprehensive Income Statement

Notes -./.0/05.1 -./.0/05.2
Net profit/loss for the period =  239:4  5<3597 
Other income components that could be recognised 
in the income statement in subsequent periods?

E E E

Change in cash flow hedge reserve :  ;7B 6>?A 
Exchange differences from the translation of items from foreign operations 50  6;9::8 6==7 
Taxes on other comprehensive income components 67>  :A 
Total other income components that could be recognised 
in the income statement in subsequent periods?

 5304: 899< 

Other income components that will not be recognised 
in the income statement in subsequent periods?

= =

Change in the provision for discounting employee benefits 5: 6>;:  =?7 
Taxes on other comprehensive income components E  :? 67@ 
Total other income components that will not be recognised 
in the income statement in subsequent periods?

= 8512  01: 

Other comprehensive income components3 net of tax effects = 853959 8771 
Total comprehensive income for the period =  9369:  573:12 
Total comprehensive income attributable to? = = =
Shareholders of the parent company E  :9@;7  ;;9A@= 
Profit/loss pertaining to minorities E  :::  ;9BB7 
Total comprehensive income for the period  9369:  573:12 

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

Notes -./.0/05.1 -./.0/05.2
F) JNJ6VKGGHJS FLLHSL

;) Property9 plant and equipment 4  ;=?98?=  ;=B98>; 
>) Intangible fixed assets 9  =>9=@@  =@98B; 
7) Real estate investments 2  :A=  :A= 
@) Investments :  ;9=B:  89>@? 
=) Financial assets 56  8988@  ?9:=: 

!"%) Loans and receivables  &#!&(  +#).+ 
!"() Other financial assets  %#(%(  %#(!. 

:) Deferred tax assets 55  >B97?A  >B98;@ 
8) Trade receivables and other receivables 57  @9;?;  @9A=; 

+"%) Trade receivables  6  , 
+"() Other receivables  *#%'%  *#.!% 

Total non8current assets  7103291  7193424 
Q) VKGGHJS FLLHSL

;) Closing inventory 5<  ;>79>;>  ;;?9@BA 
>) Trade receivables and other receivables 57  A@9>@7  ;;:9?;: 

("%) Trade receivables  !'#)%!  +'#.-* 
("() Other receivables  )!#.('  )+#.%( 

7) Financial assets 56  >9B@?  797;A 
)"%) Loans and receivables  %#*!&  (#'!* 
)"() Other financial assets  !.(  *&! 

@) Cash and cash equivalents 51  8:9;>B  7=9:;8 
*"%) Cash  +(  '% 
*"() Bank current accounts and deposits  +&#-*'  )!#!)& 
*")) Other cash and cash equivalents  6  , 

Total current assets  7:0347<  7913545 
Total assets  01531:9  0753219 
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Notes -./.0/05.1 -./.0/05.2

F) LWFGHWNPXHGL’ HYKTSZ 50

;) Share Capital  @;9@=7  @;9@=7 

>) Other Reserves  898=:  ;@9?A@ 

7) Profits/(Losses) brought forward  6  6 

@) Cash flow hedge reserve  ;;7  >B 

=) Provision for discounting employee benefits  >?@  @;? 

:) Foreign currency translation reserve  :9@8: 6;9>8@ 

8) Profit/loss for the year pertaining to the group  ?9;>;  ;>9;?8 

Group shareholders’ equity  41376<  4934:2 

?) Minority interests  A9;B;  A978: 

Total shareholders’ equity  9<3<61  993691 

Q) JNJ6VKGGHJS PTFQTPTSTHL

 ;) Financial liabilities 54  ;A@9BA:  ;?:978A 

%"%) Bonds  %+&#+-+  %+&#%*% 
%"() Loans  %+#)&'  %-#()* 
%")) Other financial liabilities  (%  * 

>) Trade payables and other payables 59  ;;=  >8B 

("%) Trade payables  6  , 
("() Other payables  %%!  (+- 

7) Deferred tax liabilities 55  ;9?AA  >9@;; 

@) Provision for employee benefits/retirement 5:  A98:A  A9:=: 

*"%) Provision for severance indemnity  '#%.+  '#*.& 
*"() Provision for retirement benefits  %#!+(  %#%&- 

=) Provisions for risks and liabilities 76  798@:  @9>B7 

!"%) Provision for warranties  (#.'.  )#)-* 
!"() Provision for legal claims  !&  !& 
!")) Provision for restructuring and reconversion  ,  , 
!"*) Other provisions  +-%  '*) 

Total non8current liabilities  >BA9:>=  7673:5: 

V) VKGGHJS PTFQTPTSTHL

;) Financial liabilities 54  ;89?:;  ;?9B78 

%"%) Bonds  6  , 
%"() Loans  %!#-&+  %*#.)+ 
%")) Other financial liabilities  (#+.*  )#%-- 

>) Trade payables and other payables 59  >;A9>@8  ;A?9>7B 

("%) Trade payables  %!-#%&.  %&-#''' 
("() Other payables  &.#-+'  )+#)*( 

7) Current taxes payables 52  =977;  89?:@ 

@) Provisions for risks and liabilities 76  ;:9;>A  ;898>7 

*"%) Provision for warranties  %)#)%+  %-#.*) 
*"() Provision for legal claims  *&%  '!% 
*")) Provision for restructuring and reconversion  %#*')  %#&&' 
*"*) Other provisions  '&'  *#(&% 

Total current liabilities  7023042  7153201 

Total liabilities  14235:<  111399< 

Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities 01531:9 0753219 
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Statement of changes
in Consolidated Shareholders’ Equity

Share 
Capital

Other reserves Provision 
for 

discount. 
employee 

benefits 

Reserve
cash 
flow 

hedge

Foreign currency 
translation reserve 

Profit/
(Loss) 

for the 
period

Equity of 
Group

Minority  
interests

Total

Capital 
reserves

Other 
reserves

Treasury 
stock 

acquired

On capital 
reserves

On profit 
reserves

Balance as at 
5;5;7652 

15310< <63579 <3916 843444 879< 7<4 823<<6 8:<4 5<3442 9<365: :3616 27360:

Total profit/loss 
for the year

 07: 8752 = 800<  573529  553:10  5366<  573:12 

Transactions with 
shareholders:
Share premium 
reserve and  
AUCAP expenses

6A> E E E E E E E 8:7 E 8:7 

Allocation 
of Carraro Spa 
dividend

6;79;B= E E E E E E 85<3560 6:=; 85<3904 

Allocation of >B;8 
residual profit

 ;79::? E E E E E 6;79::?  8 E  8 

Hyperinflation 
effect (Carraro 
Argentina)

6;>9:A= E E E  ;:9;>> E E  <3179 E  <3179 

Exchange impact 
“capital reserves”

E E E E 689=;> E E 893057  6 893057 

Other changes 6?7  6  ;:>  > 6:=  6  6  54 6;:  8 
Total transactions 
for the period

 8 8:7 8573750  8  547  7  23010  8 85<3442 8593744 8449 8593:<< 

Balance as at 
<5;57;7652

 15310<  <636<0 823190 843444  152  76  750 85312:  573529  4934:2  :3<94  993691 

Share 
Capital

Other reserves Provision 
for 

discount. 
employee 

benefits 

Reserve
cash 
flow 

hedge

Foreign currency 
translation reserve

Profit/
(Loss) 

for the 
period

Equity of 
Group

Minority  
interests

Total

Capital 
reserves

Other 
reserves

Treasury 
stock 

acquired

On capital 
reserves

On profit 
reserves

Balance as at
5;5;765: 

15310< <636<0 823190 843444 152 76 750 85312: 573529 4934:2 :3<94 993691

Total profit/loss 
for the year

 85<1 :< = 853449  23575  4315<  444  9369: 

Transactions with 
shareholders:
Allocation of >B;? 
residual profit

 ;>9;?8 E E E E E 6;>9;?8  8 E  8 

Allocation  
of Carraro Spa 
dividend

6;B9B>> E E E E E E 8563677 6A7: 8563:02  

Hyperinflation 
effect (Carraro 
Argentina)

6A9>8@  E E E  A9>>7E E  805 E  805 

IFRS ;: 6 
“Restatement 
Effect”

6>AE E E E  E E 87:  6= 8<1 

Exchange impact 
“capital reserves”

6E E E E ;A@ E E 5:1  6 5:1 

Total transactions 
for the period

 8 8 8935<2  8  8  8  5:1  :377< 8573529 8:3:62 8:15 856321: 

Balance as at
<5;57;765:

 15310<  <636<0 850345< 843444  721  55<  16: 43649  23575  41376<  :3565  9<3<61 

For further details regarding changes in consolidated shareholders’ equity, please refer to note no.15 below. 
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Consolidated Statement of Clash Flows

Notes -./.0/.1 -./.0/.2

Profit/(loss) for the year pertaining to the Group = ?9;>; ;>9;?8

Profit/(Loss) for the year pertaining to minority interests :8= A?=

Tax for the year @ ;9:@B =978@

Profit/(loss) before taxes !"#$%& !'#($&
Depreciation of property9 plant and equipment > ;:9?:: ;=9>=?

Amortisation of intangible fixed assets > 797@? 798@?

Impairment of intangible assets > 6?= ;9=:?

Provisions for risks > 897=A :9;??

Provisions for employee benefits > @9A=@ @9@7?

Net gains/(losses) on foreign exchange 7 68@ ;9788

Income and expenses from equity investments 7 6>?B 6;9=;8

Value adjustments of financial assets 7 >9>7@ ;9>B=

Other non6monetary income and expenses 6 6

Cash flows before changes in Net Working Capital $$#)(' ("#'!!
Changes in inventory ;7 6:9:7= @?A

Change in trade receivables  ;> ;A98>: 679B@@

Change in trade payables ;8 6?98A; 6A9:88

Change in other receivables/payables 779:>@ 68978>

Changes in receivables/payables for deferred taxation ;; 67: 8:;

Use of provisions for employee benefits ;A 6@9A=> 6@978=

Use of risks provisions for risks and liabilities >B 6?9A?A 6=9=@?

Change in other financial assets and liabilities ?A@ ?::

Tax payments @ 679?A> 6@9A87

Cash flows from operating activities &(#)") !)#*%'
Investments in material fixed assets and real estate : 6>>9?;8 6>89;@;

Disinvestments and other movements in property9 plant and equipment : 6??= 6>9B@A

Investments in intangible fixed assets 8 6;9;?> 6?7A

Disinvestments and other movements in intangible assets 8 6? 6;?7

Equity investments/divestments 798?? ;:98;:

Cash flows from Investing activities +,!#!"$ +!%#$*&
Change in financial assets ;B ?>7 6>9B;?

Change in financial liabilities ;: =9A>? 6=>A

Change in share capital ;= 6 6

Declared dividends ;= 6;B9A=? 6;798=:

Entrance of non6controlling interests 6 6

Other movements of shareholders’ equity >B> 6:?8

Cash flows from financing activities +$#""( +!&#**"
Total cash flows for the period $"#(*' +!,#($'
Opening cash and cash equivalents <03459 123242

Exchange changes in cash and cash equivalents ,.! ,+-)

Closing cash and cash equivalents 943576 <03459
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Explanatory and supplementary notes
to the Consolidated Accounts
as at 3# december !"#$

1. Introduction
Publication of the Consolidated Financial Statements of Carraro Spa and “Carraro 

Group” subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2019 was authorised by a resolution of 
the Board of Directors on 17 March 2020.

Carraro Spa. is a joint-stock company registered in Italy at the Padua Companies Register 
and controlled by Finaid Spa.

Carraro Spa is not subject to management and coordination activities under the terms of 
Art. 2497 et seq of the Italian Civil Code.

The controlling shareholder Finaid Spa does not perform any activity of management 
and coordination in relation to Carraro, and in particular:

› Finaid is a purely financial holding;
› Finaid does not issue any directions to Carraro;
› the Finaid Board of Directors does not approve Carraro’s strategic plans or business 

plans nor does it “interfere” regularly in its operations; and
› there are no relationships of a commercial or financial nature between Finaid and Car-

raro.
These financial statements are presented in euros, as this is the currency in which most of 

the group’s operations are conducted. The foreign companies are included in the consolidat-
ed financial statements in accordance with the principles described in the notes that follow.

Amounts in these financial statements are given in thousands of euros, while amounts in 
the notes are indicated in millions of euros.

The Carraro Group companies are principally engaged in the manufacture and market-
ing of drive systems developed for agricultural tractors, construction equipment, material 
moving machinery, light commercial vehicles and automobiles, and electronic control and 
power systems.

The Carraro Group is organised into two CGUs (Cash Generating Units): Carraro Drive 
Tech and Agritalia.

Reporting criteria and accounting principles
The annual Financial Statements are drawn up in compliance with the International 

Financial Reporting Standards (‘Ifrs’) issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (“Iasb”) and endorsed by the European Union, and with the measures issued im-
plementing Article 9 of Legislative Decree 38/2005. The term Ifrs also includes the re-
vised International Accounting Standards (Ias) and all interpretations of the International 
Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (Ifric) previously known as the Standard 
Interpretation Committee (Sic). These standards are the same as those used for the Finan-
cial Statements as at 31 December 2018, with the exceptions described in paragraph 3.3 
“Accounting standards, amendments and interpretations applicable as of 1 January 2019”.

The financial statements were prepared assuming that the company is a going concern. 
For further details, please refer to the information in the Directors’ Report on Operations.



Consolidated Financial Statements##'

2. Form and content of the financial statements
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the re-

vised International Accounting Standards (Ias/Ifrs) ratified by the European Union and to 
this end the figures of financial statements of the consolidated subsidiary companies have 
been reclassified and adjusted appropriately.

This document contains a number of “alternative performance indicators” not envisaged 
by the Ifrs accounting standards: 

› Ebitda (understood as the sum of operating profit/(loss), amortisation, depreciation 
and impairment of fixed assets); 

› Ebit (understood as operating profit/(loss) in the income statement); 
› Net Financial Position: Esma Net Debt determined in accordance with the provisions 

of paragraph 127 of the recommendations contained in the Esma document no. 319 of 
2013, implementing Regulation (EC) 809/2004, deducted, where applicable, non-cur-
rent receivables and financial assets, and the e!ects of the application of Ifrs 16.

2.1AFormat of the consolidated financial statements
With regard to the format of consolidated accounting schedules, the Group opted for the 

presentation of the following accounting statements.

Income Statement
Items on the consolidated income statement are classified by their nature. 
The income statement separately indicates the e!ects of non-recurrent positive and neg-

ative income components relative to non-recurrent events or transactions, or transactions 
or events that are not repeated frequently in carrying out normal activities.

Statement of Comprehensive Income
The statement of comprehensive income includes items of income and costs that are not 

posted on the period income statement, as required or permitted by the Ifrs, such as changes 
to the cash-flow hedge reserve, changes to the provision for employee benefits, actuarial 
gains and losses, changes to the translation reserve and the result of financial assets avail-
able for sale.

Statement of Financial Position 
The consolidated interim statement of financial position is presented with separate dis-

closure of Assets, Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity.
Assets and Liabilities are illustrated in the Consolidated Financial Statements according 

to their classification as current and non-current.

Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity
The statement of changes in shareholders’ equity is presented in accordance with the re-

quirements of the international accounting standards, showing the comprehensive income 
for the period and all changes generated from transactions with shareholders.
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Statement of Cash Flows
The consolidated statement of cash flows illustrates the changes in cash and cash equiv-

alents (as presented in the statement of financial position) divided by cash generating area, 
indicating financial flows in accordance with the “indirect method”, as permitted by Ias 7.

Accounting statements of transactions with related parties 
(Consob regulation 15519)
With reference to the reporting of related-party transactions in the financial statements, 

provided for in Consob Regulation 15519 of 27 July 2006, balances of a significant amount 
are specifically indicated, to facilitate understanding of the assets and liabilities, financial 
position and results of the Group, in the table of paragraph 8 below on related-party trans-
actions.

2.2AContent of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements of the Group include the financial statements of 

Carraro Spa and companies it directly or indirectly controls.
Subsidiaries are companies in which the Company exercises control. The Company con-

trols another company when it is exposed, or has rights, to the variability of the subsidiary’s 
results, based on its involvement with the subsidiary, and can influence those results by 
exercising its power. 

Control may be exercised through directly or indirectly holding the majority of shares 
with voting rights, or on the basis of contractual or legal agreements, also regardless of 
shareholding relations. The existence of potential voting rights that may be exercised at the 
reporting data is considered for the purposes of determining control. 

In general, the existence of control is assumed when the Parent Company holds, directly 
or indirectly, more than half the voting rights. 

Subsidiaries are consolidated on a line-by-line basis, starting from the date when control 
is actually acquired and stop being consolidated at the date when control is transferred to 
third parties. 

The following companies are consolidated using the line-by-line method:

Name Based in Currency Nominal value
Share capital

Group  
stake

Parent company?

Carraro Spa Campodarsego 
(Padua)

Eur  @;9@=>9=@@ E

Italian subsidiaries?

Carraro Drive Tech Spa Campodarsego 
(Padua)

Eur  7B9;B>97:= ;BB<BB%

Siap Spa Maniago (Pordenone) Eur  ;?9AB79BBB 8:<8:%

Driveservice Srl Campodarsego 
(Padua)

Eur 7B9BBB ;BB<BB%

Carraro Drive Tech Italia Spa Campodarsego 
(Padua)

Eur =B9BBB ;BB<BB%
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Name Based in Currency Nominal value
Share capital

Group  
stake

Carraro International Se Campodarsego 
(Padua)

Eur  ;79=BB9BBB ;BB<BB%

Carraro Germania Srl Campodarsego 
(Padua)

Eur  ;B9=B89B@? ;BB<BB%

Foreign subsidiaries?

Carraro Technologies India Pvt< Ltd< Pune (India) Inr  ;?9BBB9BBB ;BB<BB%

Carraro Argentina Sa Haedo (Argentina) Ars  ;9@7=9:7@9>8: AA<A=%

Carraro China Drive System Qingdao (China) Cny  ;:?9;B79>;A ;BB<BB%

Carraro India Ltd< Pune (India) Inr  =:?9=;=97?B ;BB<BB%

Carraro North America Inc< Norfolk (Usa) Usd  ;9BBB ;BB<BB%

Carraro Drive Tech Do Brasil Santo Andrè 
(State of São Paulo)

Brl  ;?9?7=98?A ;BB<BB%

Mini Gears Inc Virginia Beach (Usa) Usd  ?9A;B9BBB ;BB<BB%

Associated companies are consolidated using the net equity method as better defined in 
the following paragraph “Accounting standards and measurement criteria”.

A breakdown of the equity investments is given below:

Name Based in Currency Nominal value
Share capital

Group  
stake

Enertronica Santerno Spa Milan Eur  8?@9A?? >B<>@%

Changes in the basis of consolidation and other operations of company 
reorganisation
Formation of Carraro Drive Tech Italia Spa
On 12 November 2019, Carraro Spa set up Carraro Drive Tech Italia Spa with subscribed 

and fully paid-up capital of 50,000 euros.

Disposal of equity investment in the Joint Venture 
Agriming Agriculture Equipment Co. Ltd
In order to speed up the development of the Group’s activities in China, it August it was 

decided to end the joint venture Agriming Agriculture Equipment Co. Ltd., begun in June 
2017, by selling the 49% of its share capital held by Carraro International SE to Shandong 
Juming Machinery Co. Ltd. For further details see note 9.

3. Consolidation criteria and accounting standards

3.1AConsolidation criteria
The figures are consolidated using the line by line method, that is assuming the entire 

amount of the assets, liabilities, costs and revenues of the individual companies, regardless 
of the stock held in the company.

Foreign companies are consolidated using financial statement formats in line with the 
layout adopted by the parent company and compiled in accordance with common account-
ing standards, as applied for Carraro Spa. Where necessary, to achieve alignment with the 
reporting dates of the foreign companies, infra-annual financial statements as at 31 Decem-
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ber 2019 have been provided by the directors, with the same criteria as those for year-end 
statements.

The carrying amount of consolidated equity interests, held by Carraro Spaor by other 
companies within the consolidation scope, was o!set by the relevant amount of sharehold-
ers’ equity in the subsidiary companies.

The amount of shareholders’ equity and the net profit/(loss) of these third-party share-
holders are shown in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position, Consolidated In-
come Statement and Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income respectively.

Payable and receivables, income and expenditure and all operations undertaken between 
the companies included within the consolidation scope have been eliminated, including 
dividends distributed within the Group.

Profits not yet realised and capital gains and losses deriving from operations between 
companies of the Group have also been eliminated.

Intra-group losses that indicate impairment are recognised in the consolidated financial 
statements.

Financial statements denominated in foreign currencies are translated into euros using 
the period-end exchange rates for assets and liabilities, historical exchange rates for eq-
uity items and average exchange rates for the period for the income statement, except for 
investments in hyperinflationary economies, for which the period-end exchange rates re-
quired by Ias 21, paragraph 42.b, were also used to translate the income statement.

Exchange di!erences resulting from this conversion method are shown in a specific 
shareholders’ equity item entitled “Foreign currency translation reserve”.

The exchange rates applied for the translation of balances presented in foreign curren-
cies were as follows:

Currency Average 
exchange rate 

for 05.1

Exchange rate 
as at 

-./.0/05.1

Average 
exchange rate 

for 05.2

Exchange rate 
as at 

-./.0/05.2

Indian rupee 8?<?7:; ?B<;?8B ?B<877 8A<87B

US dollar ;<;;A= ;<;>7@ ;<;?; ;<;@=

Chinese renminbi 8<87== 8<?>B= 8<?B? 8<?8=

Argentine peso :8<>8@A :8<>8@A 7><ABA @7<;=A

Brazilian real @<@;7@ @<=;=8 @<7BA @<@@@

3.2ADiscretionary valuations and significant accounting estimates

Estimates and assumptions
In the application of the Group’s accounting standards, the directors have not made deci-

sions based on discretionary evaluations (excluding those which involve estimates) having 
a significant e!ect on the values in the financial statements.

We present below the key assumptions on the future and other significant sources of 
uncertainty in the estimates at the reporting date.

In this regard, it should be noted that the estimates made as at 31 December 2019 do 
not reflect the consequences on these assessments of possible developments linked to the 
national and international scenario marked by the spread of Covid-19 and the consequent 
restrictive measures for its containment, implemented by the public authorities of the 
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countries a!ected. This situation, which emerged in the early months of 2020, constitutes 
a subsequent event that does not require the financial statements to be adjusted in accor-
dance with Ias 10. However, it is an extraordinary situation in its scope and nature and may 
have direct and indirect repercussions on economic activities, creating an environment of 
general uncertainty, whose future evolution and e!ects are not currently foreseeable. The 
e!ects of this phenomenon will also depend on how quickly governments set out monetary 
and fiscal measures to support the most exposed sectors and businesses.

Impairment loss on goodwill
Goodwill is examined for any impairment once a year. This test requires an estimate of 

the value in use of the cash generating unit to which the goodwill is attributed, which in 
turn is based on an estimate of the anticipated cash flows from the unit and their discount-
ing based on an appropriate discount rate. For further details see note 7, also as regards the 
sensitivity analyses carried out on the possible impacts on the impairment test deriving 
from the general uncertainty caused by the spread of Covid-19.

Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets are recognised in compliance with Ias 12 and they include retained 

tax losses, to the extent that it is likely there will be future tax profits to o!set these losses 
with the returns of the temporary di!erences absorbed. A significant discretionary valua-
tion is required of the directors to determine the amount of the deferred tax assets that can 
be accounted for. They must estimate the probable timing and the amount of future taxable 
profits as well as a planning strategy for future taxation. The details are provided in note 11.

Pension funds and other post employment benefits  
The cost of defined-benefit pension plans is determined using actuarial valuations. The 

actuarial valuation requires assumptions on the discount rates, the expected rate of return 
on investments, future salary increments, mortality rates and future pension increases. Be-
cause of the long-term nature of these plans, these estimates are subject to a significant 
level of uncertainty. Further information is provided in note 19.

Development costs
Development costs have been capitalised based on the following accounting principle. In 

order to determine the amounts to be capitalised the directors must develop assumptions 
on anticipated future cash flows from assets, the discount rates to apply and the periods of 
manifestation of the anticipated benefits.

Provisions for risks and liabilities
The Group used estimates for the valuation of the provisions for credit risks, for work 

under warranties granted to customers, for company restructuring, for stock depreciation 
and for other risks and liabilities. Further details are provided in the notes relating to the 
individual financial statement items.
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3.3AAccounting standards and measurement criteria

Ifrs accounting standards, amendments and interpretations adopted since 1 January 2019 
Ifrs 16 – «Leases» 
On 13 January 2016, the Iasb published IFRS 16 - Leases which replaces Ias 17 - Leases, 

as well as the interpretations Ifric 4 Determining Whether an Arrangement contains a Lease, 
Sic-15 Operating Leases-Incentives and Sic-27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions In-
volving the Legal Form of a Lease. 

The standard provides a new definition of lease and introduces a criterion based on the 
notion of control (right of use) of an asset for distinguishing lease contracts from service 
provision contracts, identifying the following as discriminating factors: identification of the 
asset, the right to replace it, the right to obtain substantially all the economic benefits aris-
ing from use of the asset and, lastly, the right to direct the use of the asset underlying the 
contract.

The standard establishes a single model of recognition and valuation of lease contracts 
for the lessee which entails recognising the asset covered by the lease, also operating lease, 
under assets with an o!setting financial payable. On the contrary, the standard does not 
include significant changes for lessors.

The Group has used the practical expedient provided for the transition to Ifrs 16 in order 
not to restate when a contract is or contains a lease. Therefore, the conclusion regarding the 
classification of a contract as a lease in accordance with Ias 17 and Ifric 4 will continue to be 
applied to contracts entered into or amended before 1 January 2019.

The change in the definition of a lease mainly refers to the right-of-use criterion. Accord-
ing to Ifrs 16, a contract is, or contains, a lease if the customer has the right to control the 
use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. This concept is 
substantially di!erent from the concept of “risks and benefits” which receives significant 
attention in Ias 17 and Ifric 4.

The Group applies the definition of leases and the related provisions of Ifrs 16 for all leas-
es entered into or amended on or after 1 January 2019 (regardless of whether it is a lessee 
or lessor in each lease). In view of the first-time application of Ifrs 16, the Group carried out 
an assessment of the potential impacts and implementation of Ifrs 16. The analysis showed 
that the new definition provided by Ifrs 16 does not significantly change the scope of the 
contracts defined by the Group as leases.

Transition with modified retrospective method:
The Carraro Group has chosen to apply the standard retrospectively but has recognised 

the cumulative e!ect of applying the standard in equity at 1 January 2019, in accordance 
with paragraphs C7-C13. In particular, the Group will account for the leases previously 
classified as operating leases:

a) a financial liability, equal to the present value of the remaining future payments at the 
transition date, discounted by using for each contract the incremental borrowing rate 
applicable at the transition date;

b) a right of use equal to the value of the financial liability at the transition date, net of any 
accrued income and prepaid expenses relating to the lease and recorded in the balance 
sheet at the balance sheet date of these financial statements.
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The following table shows the impacts of the adoption of Ifrs 16 at the transition 
date. 

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position Impacts as at
transition date

(5./5./05.1)

Right of use for buildings  7B? 

Right of use for equipment  8AB 

Right to use vehicles  ?B7 

Total non8current assets  53:65 

Total assets  53:65

Other reserves 67=E

Profits/(Losses) brought forward 6 

Total shareholders’ equity 8<0 

Non6current financial liabilities  ;9;A: 

Total non8current liabilities  535:4 

Current financial liabilities  8@B 

Total current liabilities  916 

Total liabilities  53:<4 

Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities  53:65 

In adopting Ifrs 16, the Group intends to make use of the exemption granted in paragraph 
5.a) in relation to short-term leases. 

The Group also made use of the exemption granted in paragraph 5.b, with regard to lease 
contracts for which the underlying asset is a low-value asset (i.e. the assets underlying the 
lease contract do not exceed 5 thousand euros when new). 

For these contracts, the introduction of Ifrs 16 will not result in the recognition of the 
financial liability of the lease and the related right of use, but the lease payments will be 
recorded in the income statement on a straight-line basis for the duration of the respective 
contracts. 

In addition, with reference to the transition rules, the Group intends to make use of the 
following practical tools available in the event of the choice of the modified retrospective 
transition method:

› Use of the assessment made at 31 December 2018 in accordance with the rules of Ias 37 
“Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets” in relation to the accounting 
of onerous contracts as an alternative to the application of the impairment test on the 
value of the right of use at 1 January 2019;

› Classification of contracts that expire within 12 months of the transition date as short 
term leases. For these contracts, lease payments will be recorded in the income state-
ment on a straight-line basis; 

› Use of the information present at the transition date to determine the lease term, with 
particular reference to the exercise of extension and early closure options.
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Amendments to Ifrs 9 
«Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation» 
(published on 12 October 2017)
This document specifies that instruments that provide for early repayment may comply 

with the “SPPI” test including when the “reasonable additional compensation” to be paid 
in the event of early repayment is a “negative compensation” for the lender. The adoption 
of this amendment had no e!ect on the Group consolidated financial statements.

Ifric Interpretation 23
«Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments»
On 7 June 2017, the Iasb published the interpretative document Ifric 23 - “Uncertainty 

over Income Tax Treatments”. The document addresses the issue of uncertainty about the 
tax treatment to be adopted on income taxes.

In particular, the interpretation requires an entity to analyse uncertain tax treatments 
(individually or as a whole, depending on their characteristics) on the assumption that the 
tax authority will examine the tax position in question, with full knowledge of all relevant 
information. If the entity believes that it is not probable that the tax authority will accept 
the tax treatment followed, the entity shall reflect the e!ect of the uncertainty in measuring 
its current and deferred income taxes. In addition, the document does not contain any new 
disclosure requirements, but emphasises that the entity will have to determine whether it 
will be necessary to provide information on the management’s considerations and the un-
certainty inherent in the accounting of the tax, in accordance with Ias 1.

The new interpretation was applied from 1 January 2019. The adoption of this amend-
ment had no e!ect on the Group’s financial statements, with the exception of the disclosure 
on some contingent tax liabilities being moved to the section on other payables.

Annual Improvements to Ifrss 2015-2017 Cycle
On 12 December 2017, the Iasb published the document “Annual Improvements to Ifrs 

2015-2017 Cycle” which incorporates the amendments to certain standards as part of the 
annual improvement process. The main changes concern:  

› Ifrs 3"- «Business Combinations»"and Ifrs 11"- «Joint Arrangements»: the amendment 
clarifies that when an entity obtains control of a business that is a joint operation, it 
must re-measure the interest previously held in that business. However, this process is 
not envisaged if joint control is obtained.

› Ias 12 - “Income Taxes”: the amendment clarifies that all tax e!ects related to divi-
dends (including payments on financial instruments included in shareholders’ equity) 
should be accounted for in a manner consistent with the transaction that generated 
these profits (income statement, OCI or equity).

› Ias 23 - “Borrowing costs”: the amendment clarifies that if loans remain in place after 
the qualifying asset is ready for use or for sale, said loans become part of the totality of 
the loans used to calculate borrowing costs.

The adoption of this amendment had no e!ect on the Group consolidated financial state-
ments.
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Amendments to Ias 19
«Plant Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement» (published on 7 February 2018)
The document clarifies how an entity should recognise an amendment (i.e. a curtailment 

or a settlement) to a defined benefit plan. The amendments require an entity to update its 
assumptions and re-measure the net liability or asset arising from the plan. The amend-
ments clarify that after the occurrence of this event, an entity should use up-to-date as-
sumptions to measure current service cost and interest for the remainder of the reporting 
period following the event. The adoption of this amendment had no e!ect on the Group 
consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to Ias 28 – «Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures»
(published on 12 October 2017) 
This document clarifies the need to apply Ifrs 9, including impairment requirements, 

to other long-term interests in associates and joint ventures for which the equity method 
is not applied. The adoption of this amendment had no e!ect on the Group consolidated 
financial statements.

Ifrs and Ifric accounting standards, amendments and interpretations endorsed 
by the European Union, not yet mandatorily applicable and not adopted in advance
by the Group as at 31 December 2019
Amendments to Ias 1 and Ias 8
«Definition of Material» (published on 31 October 2018)
The document introduced a change in the definition of “material” contained in Ias 1 - 

“Presentation of Financial Statements” and Ias 8 - “Accounting Policies, Changes in Account-
ing Estimates and Errors”. This amendment aims to make the definition of “material” more 
specific and introduces the concept of “obscured information” alongside the concepts of 
omitted or incorrect information already present in the two standards being amended. The 
amendment clarifies that information is “obscured” if it has been described in such a way 
that the e!ect on primary readers of financial statements would be similar to the e!ect that 
would have occurred if such information had been omitted or incorrect.

The amendments apply to all transactions after 1 January 2020.
The directors do not expect a significant e!ect in the consolidated financial statements 

of the Group from the adoption of this amendment.

Amendments «References to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards» 
(published on 29 March 2018)
The amendment is e!ective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020, but early 

application is permitted. 
The Conceptual Framework defines the fundamental concepts for financial reporting 

and guides the Board in the development of Ifrs standards. The document helps to ensure 
that the Standards are conceptually consistent and that similar transactions are treated in 
the same way, so as to provide useful information to investors, lenders and other creditors.

The Conceptual Framework supports companies in the development of accounting stan-
dards when no Ifrs standard is applicable to a particular transaction and, more generally, 
helps stakeholders understand and interpret the Standards. 
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Amendments to Ifrs 9, Ias 39 and Ifrs 7
 «Interest Rate Benchmark Reform» (published on 26 September 2019)
On 26 September 2019, the Iasb amended Ifrs 9 - Financial Instruments and Ias 39 - Fi-

nancial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement as well as Ifrs 7 - Financial Instruments: 
Disclosures. In particular, the amendment changes some of the requirements for the ap-
plication of hedge accounting, providing for temporary exceptions to the same, in order to 
mitigate the impact of the uncertainty of the Ibor reform (still in progress) on future cash 
flows in the period prior to its completion. The amendment also requires companies to 
provide additional information in their financial statements on their coverage ratios which 
are directly a!ected by the uncertainties generated by the reform and to which the above 
exceptions apply.

The amendments enter into force on 1 January 2020, but companies may opt for earlier 
application.

The directors do not expect a significant e!ect in the consolidated financial statements 
of the Group from the adoption of this amendment.

Ifrs standards, amendments and interpretations 
not yet endorsed by the European Union
Amendments to Ifrs3 «Definition of a Business» (published on 22 October 2018)
The document provides some clarifications regarding the definition of business for the 

purposes of the correct application of Ifrs 3. In particular, the amendment clarifies that 
while a business usually produces an output, the presence of an output is not strictly nec-
essary to identify the presence in a business of an integrated set of activities/processes and 
assets. However, to meet the definition of business, an integrated set of activities/process-
es and goods must include, as a minimum, a substantial input and process that together 
contribute significantly to the ability to create output. To this end, the IASB has replaced 
the term “ability to create output” with “ability to contribute to the creation of output” to 
clarify that a business can exist even without the presence of all the inputs and processes 
necessary to create an output.

The amendment also introduced a concentration test, which is optional for the entity, 
to determine whether a set of assets/processes and goods purchased is not a business. If 
the test is successful, the set of activities/processes and goods purchased is not a business 
and the principle does not require further testing. If the test fails, the entity must carry out 
further analysis of the assets/processes and goods purchased to identify the presence of a 
business. To this end, the amendment has added a number of examples to Ifrs 3 in order to 
illustrate the practical application of the new definition of business in specific cases. The 
amendments apply to all business combinations and acquisitions of assets after 1 January 
2020, but early application is permitted.

The directors do not expect a significant e!ect in the consolidated financial statements 
of the Group from the adoption of this amendment.
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Amendments to Ifrs 10 and Ias 28
«Sales or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture»
(published on 11 September 2014)
The document was published in order to resolve the current conflict between Ias 28 and 

Ifrs 10. 
According to Ias 28, the gain or loss resulting from the sale or contribution of a non-mon-

etary asset to a joint venture or associate in exchange for a share in the capital of the latter is 
limited to the share in the joint venture or associate held by the other investors extraneous 
to the transaction. In contrast, Ifrs 10 requires the recording of the entire gain or loss in the 
event of loss of control of a subsidiary, even if the entity continues to hold a non-controlling 
stake in the same, including in this case also the sale or transfer of a subsidiary to a joint 
venture or associate. 

The changes introduced provide that in the case of a sale/contribution of an asset or a 
subsidiary to a joint venture or associate, the extent of the gain or loss to be recognised in 
the financial statements of the seller/contributor depends on whether or not the assets or 
subsidiary sold/contributed constitute a business, in the sense of Ifrs 3. In the event that 
the assets or subsidiary sold or contributed represent a business, the entity must recognise 
the gain or loss on the entire investment previously held; while, if not, the share of the gain 
or loss on the stake still held by the entity must be eliminated. At the moment, the Iasb has 
suspended application of this amendment. 

The directors do not expect a significant e!ect in the consolidated financial statements 
of the Group from the adoption of this amendment.

Business Combinations and Goodwill
Business combinations are accounted for according to the purchase method. This re-

quires the recognition at fair value of the identifiable assets (including intangible fixed 
assets previously not recognised) and identifiable liabilities (including potential liabilities 
and excluding future restructuring) of the business acquired. 

The goodwill acquired through a business combination is initially measured at cost, rep-
resented by the amount by which the cost of the business combination exceeds the share 
attributable to the Group of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and po-
tential liabilities (of the business acquired). In order to analyse appropriateness, goodwill 
acquired in a merger is allocated at the date of acquisition, to the individual cash generating 
units of the Group or to groups of cash generating units, which should benefit from the 
synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other Group assets or liabilities are 
allocated to such units or groups of units. 

Each unit or group of units to which the goodwill is allocated:
› represents the lowest level, within the Group, at which the goodwill is monitored for 

internal management purposes; and 
› is no larger than the business segments identified on the basis of the Group’s primary 

or secondary schedule of presentation of the segment reporting, determined on the 
basis of the indications of Ifrs 8 - “Operating Segments”.

When the goodwill represents part of a cash generating unit (or group of cash generating 
units) and part of the asset internal to that unit is transferred, the goodwill associated with 
the asset transferred is included in the carrying amount of the asset in order to determine 
the profit or loss generated by the transfer. Goodwill transferred in such cases is calculat-
ed on the basis of the values relating to the asset transferred and of the portion of the unit 
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maintained in existence.
When the transfer concerns a subsidiary, the di!erence between the selling price and the 

net assets plus the accumulated translation di!erences and goodwill is recognised in the 
income statement.

Acquisitions of additional equity interests after achieving control
Ias 27 Revised states that, once control of an entity has been obtained, transactions in 

which the controlling entity buys or sells further minority interests without a!ecting the 
control exercised over the subsidiary are transactions with owners and therefore must be 
recognised in shareholders’ equity. It follows that the carrying amount of the controlling 
and the minority interests must be adjusted to reflect the change in the equity investment 
in the subsidiary and any di!erence between the amount of the adjustment made to the 
minority interests and the fair value of the price paid or received in this transaction is rec-
ognised directly in shareholders’ equity and is attributed to the owners of the parent com-
pany. There will be no adjustments to the value of goodwill and profits or losses recognised 
in the income statement. Any ancillary expenses deriving from these transactions, more-
over, must by recognised in shareholders’ equity in accordance with the provisions of Ias 
32, paragraph 35.

Previously, in the absence of a specific Standard or Interpretation on the subject, in the 
case of acquisition of minority interests in companies already controlled, the Carraro Group 
had adopted the Parent Entity Extension Method, which involved recognition of the di!er-
ence between the purchase price and the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities under 
the item Goodwill. In the case of sale of minority interests without loss of control, instead, 
the Group recognised the di!erence between the carrying amount of the assets and liabili-
ties sold and the sales price in the income statement.

The measurement criteria and accounting standards are illustrated below for the most 
significant items.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment items are recognised at their historical cost, minus the 

related accumulated depreciation and cumulative impairment losses. This cost includes 
expenses for replacing parts of machinery and plant at the time they are incurred if this is 
in accordance with the recognition criteria. 

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis with reference to the estimated useful 
life of the assets. 

Property, plant and equipment items are derecognised at the time of sale or once future 
economic benefits are no longer expected from their use or disposal. Any losses or profits 
(calculated as the di!erence between the net income on the sale and the carrying amount) 
are recognised in the income statement during the year of elimination as above. 

Assets held under finance leases, through which all the risks and benefits of ownership 
are transferred to the Group, are recognised as Group assets at their current value or, if 
lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. 

The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the financial statements under 
financial payables. Leases where the lessor substantially retains all the risks and benefits 
of ownership are classified as operating leases and the related costs are recognised in the 
income statement over the term of the contract. 

The asset’s residual value, its useful life and the methods applied are reviewed annually 
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and adjusted if necessary, at the end of each accounting period. On average the useful life, 
in years, is as follows: 

Category Useful Life

Industrial Buildings >B6=B

Plant ;=6>=

Machinery ;=6;?

Equipment 76;=

Dies and Models =6?

Furniture and Fittings ;=

Office Machines =6;B

Motor Vehicles =6;=

Real estate investments
Real estate investments are recognised at fair value and are not depreciated.

Intangible fixed assets
Intangible assets are recognised in the accounts only if they can be identified and 

checked, are expected to generate future economic benefits, and their cost can be reliably 
determined.

Intangible fixed assets with a limited life are carried at purchase or production cost net 
of amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

Amortisation is calculated in relation to their anticipated useful life and starts when the 
asset becomes available for use.

Goodwill
Goodwill represents the surplus of the purchase cost compared to the acquirer’s interest 

in the fair value (referred to the identifiable net values of the assets or liabilities of the entity 
acquired).

After initial recognition, goodwill is carried at cost, less any cumulative impairment losses.
Goodwill is subject, at least once a year, to an impairment test, to identify any impairment 

losses. In order to perform a correct fair value analysis, the goodwill is allocated to each 
of the units generating financial flows that will benefit from the e!ects deriving from the 
acquisition.

Research and development costs
The costs of research are charged to the income statement when incurred, in accordance 

with Ias38.
Again in compliance with Ias 38, development costs relating to specific projects are re-

corded among the assets only if all the following conditions are fulfilled:
› the asset can be identified;
› the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for 

use or sale exists;
› the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it exists;
› the ability to use or sell the intangible asset exists;
› the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the 
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development and to use or sell the intangible asset exists;
› it is likely that the asset created will generate future financial benefits;
› the costs of the development of the asset can be reliably measured.
Such intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over their useful lives.

Licences, trademarks and similar rights
Trademarks and licences are stated at cost, net of amortisation and accumulated impair-

ment losses. 
The cost is amortised over the shorter of the duration of the contract and the limited 

useful life.

Software
The cost of software licences, inclusive of ancillary expenses, is capitalised and rec-

ognised net of amortisation and of any accumulated impairment losses. 
Such intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over their useful lives.

Impairment losses
Where there are specific signs of impairment, tangible and intangible fixed assets are 

subject to an impairment test, estimating the recoverable value of the assets and comparing 
it with their net carrying amount. The recoverable value is the greater of the fair value of an 
asset net of selling costs and its value in use, which is determined as the present value of the 
cash flows that the company estimates will derive from the continuous use of the asset and 
from its disposal at the end of its useful life.

This recoverable value is determined for each individual asset except when the asset 
does not generate cash flows which are fully dependent on those generated by other assets.

If the recoverable value is lower than the carrying amount, the latter is reduced accord-
ingly. This reduction represents an impairment loss, which is recognised in the income 
statement.

If there is no longer any reason for an impairment loss previously recognised to be main-
tained, with the exception of goodwill and of intangible assets with an unlimited useful life, 
the carrying amount is reinstated to the new value deriving from the estimate, provided 
that this value does not exceed the net carrying amount which the asset would have had, if 
no impairment had ever been made and net of amortisation that would have accumulated. 
The value written back is also recorded in the income statement.

Impairment tests are carried out annually in the case of goodwill and of intangible fixed 
assets with an unlimited useful life.

Impairment tests are also carried out on all assets with independent flows that show 
evidence of impairment.

Equity investments in associated companies
An associated company is an entity over which the Group is able to exercise significant 

influence, but does not have control or joint control, via the equity investment, over the 
financial and operating policies of the subsidiary.

The income, expenses, assets and liabilities of associated companies are shown in the 
consolidated financial statements using the net equity method. 
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Equity investments in other companies and other securities
In accordance with Ifrs 9 and Ias 32, equity investments in companies other than sub-

sidiaries and associates are classified as financial assets available for sale (hold to collect 
contractual cash flow and sell), and are carried at fair value except in cases where it is not 
possible to determine the market price or the fair value: in this case the cost method is used.

Profits and losses deriving from value adjustments are recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income and accumulated in a specific shareholders’ equity reserve.

In the presence of permanent impairment losses or in the event of a sale, profits and 
losses recognised up to that moment in shareholders’ equity are recognised in the income 
statement.

Financial assets
The standard Ifrs 9 sets out the following types of financial instruments: financial assets 

at amortised cost, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, and financial assets at 
fair value through other comprehensive income. Initially, all financial assets are recognised 
at fair value, increased, in the case of assets other than those at fair value, by any ancillary 
expenses. The company establishes the classification of its financial assets at initial regis-
tration and, where appropriate and permitted, revises the classification at the end of each 
financial year.

All standardised (regular way) purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised at 
the trade date, or at the date on which the company undertakes to acquire the asset. Stan-
dardised purchases and sales means all purchase/sale transactions on financial assets which 
require the handing over of the assets in the period generally envisaged by the regulations 
and by the practices of the market on which the trade occurs.

Attività finanziarie al costo ammortizzato
Financial assets that meet both of the following conditions are measured at amortised 

cost:
› the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial 

assets in order to collect contractual cash flows;
› the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows 

that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.
This amortised cost is calculated as the value initially recognised, less the repayment of 

the principal, plus or minus the amortisation accumulated using the e!ective interest rate 
method on any di!erence between the value initially recognised and the amount at maturi-
ty. This calculation includes all the fees or points paid between the parties, which form an 
integral part of the e!ective interest rate, the transaction costs and other premiums or dis-
counts. For investments measured at their amortised cost, profits and losses are recognised 
in the income statement at the moment in which the investment is derecognised or in the 
event of an impairment loss, as well as by means of the amortisation process.
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Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
Financial assets are measured at fair value through other comprehensive income if both 

of the following conditions are met:
› the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both 

collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets and
› the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows 

that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.
On disposal of the financial asset, amounts previously recognised in other comprehen-

sive income are reversed to the income statement, unless the financial asset was an equity 
instrument not held for trading, in which case they are not expected to be recycled on dis-
posal and the other comprehensive income reserves accumulated over time are reversed 
directly to other available reserves.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
If a financial asset is not measured at amortised cost or at fair value through other com-

prehensive income, it must be measured at fair value and any changes in fair value are rec-
ognised in the income statement for the period in which they arise.

Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities
Financial assets
A financial asset (or, if applicable, part of a financial asset or parts of a group of similar 

financial assets) is derecognised when:
› the right to receive the cash flows from the asset has expired;
› the Group maintains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has undertaken 

a contractual commitment to pay them in full and without delay to a third party; 
› the Group has transferred the rights to receive cash flows from the asset and (a) has 

essentially transferred all the risks and benefits of the ownership of the financial asset 
or (b) has not transferred or essentially withheld all the risks and benefits of the asset, 
but has transferred control of the same.

In cases where the Group has transferred the rights to receive cash flows from an asset 
and has not essentially transferred or withheld all the risks and benefits or has not lost con-
trol over the same, the asset is recorded in the Group’s financial statements to the extent 
of the latter’s residual involvement in this asset. The residual involvement, which takes the 
form of a guarantee on the asset transferred, is measured at the lower of the initial carrying 
amount of the asset and the maximum amount which the Group could be obliged to pay. 

In cases where the residual involvement takes the form of an option issued and/or ac-
quired on the asset transferred (including options settled in cash or similar), the extent 
of the Group’s involvement corresponds to the amount of the asset transferred which the 
company could re-acquire; however, in the case of a put option issued on an asset measured 
at fair value (including options settled in cash or by means of similar provisions), the ex-
tent of the Group’s residual involvement is limited to the lower of the fair value of the asset 
transferred and the exercise price of the option.



Consolidated Financial Statements#'*

Financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the underlying obligation is discharged, can-

celled or fulfilled.
In cases where an existing financial liability is replaced by another of the same lender, 

under essentially di!erent conditions, or the conditions of an existing liability are essential-
ly changed, this change or amendment is treated as derecognition of the original liability 
and recognition of a new liability. Any di!erence between the carrying amounts are rec-
ognised in the income statement.

Impairment losses on financial assets
The Group assesses whether a financial asset or group of financial assets has undergone 

a loss in value at the end of each accounting period. 

Assets measured on the basis of amortised cost
If there is objective evidence that a loan or receivable recognised at amortised cost has 

su!ered an impairment loss, the amount of the loss is measured as the di!erence between 
the carrying amount of the asset and the present value of the estimated future cash flows 
(excluding future receivable losses not yet incurred) discounted at the original e!ective 
interest rate of the financial asset (that is the e!ective interest rate calculated at the date of 
initial recognition). The carrying amount of the asset is reduced both directly and by setting 
aside provisions. The amount of the loss will be recognised in the income statement.

The Group assesses first of all the existence of objective evidence of impairment at the 
individual level. In the absence of objective evidence of an impairment loss for a financial 
asset measured individually, whether significant or otherwise, this asset is included in a 
group of financial assets with similar credit risk features and the group is subject to as-
sessment for impairment losses in a collective manner. Assets assessed at the individual 
level, for which an impairment loss is seen or continues to be seen, will not be included in 
collective valuation.

If, in a subsequent accounting period, the amount of an impairment loss decreases and 
this reduction can objectively be traced back to an event which took place after the impair-
ment loss was recognised, the value previously written down is reinstated. Any subsequent 
write-backs are recognised in the income statement, provided that the carrying amount of 
the asset does not exceed the amortised cost at the date of the reversal.

Assets recognised at cost
If objective evidence exists of the loss in value of an unlisted instrument representing 

equity which is not recognised at fair value because its value cannot be measured reliably, 
or of a derivative instrument which is linked to this equity instrument and must be settled 
by means of the consignment of the instrument, the amount of the impairment loss is giv-
en as the di!erence between the carrying amount of the asset and the present value of the 
expected future cash flows and discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar 
financial asset.

Available-for-sale financial assets  
In the event of an impairment loss of an available-for-sale financial asset, a value equal 

to the di!erence between its cost (net of repayment of the principal and amortisation) and 
its current fair value, net of any losses in value previously recognised in the income state-
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ment, is transferred from the statement of comprehensive income to the income statement. 
Writebacks relating to equity instruments classified as available for sale are not recognised 
in the income statement. Writebacks relating to debt instruments are recognised in the in-
come statement if the increase in the fair value of the instrument can be objectively traced 
back to an event which took place after the loss was recognised in the income statement. 

 
Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of the average purchase or production cost for the 

period, and market value. Production cost includes materials, labour and direct and indi-
rect manufacturing costs. Obsolete or slow-moving stocks are written down appropriately, 
as well as in consideration of their anticipated future use and their realisation value.

Works in progress to order
Works in progress are recognised based on the progress method (or percentage of com-

pletion) according to which costs, revenues and the margin are recognised based on the 
progress of production activities. The Group adopts the percentage of completion method. 
Job order revenues include sums paid under the contract, sums for changes in works and 
price revisions. Job order costs include all costs that refer directly to the job order, costs 
which may be attributable to job order activities in general and that may be allocated to the 
job order, in addition to any other cost that may be specifically charged to the client based 
on contract clauses.

If a loss is expected from completion of a job order, this is entirely recognised in the year 
in which it is reasonably foreseeable.

Trade receivables and other receivables
Trade receivables and other receivables are included among current assets, with the ex-

ception of those falling due more than 12 months after the reporting date, which are clas-
sified as non-current assets. These assets are valued at amortised cost on the basis of the 
e!ective interest rate method. 

Receivables which mature at more than one year, are interest-free or that earn less inter-
est than the market, are discounted using market rates. Trade receivables are discounted 
when they have longer payment terms than the average term of extension granted. 

If there is objective evidence of elements indicating an impairment loss, the asset is re-
duced by an amount that returns the discounted value of the cash flows obtainable in the 
future. Impairment losses are recognised in the income statement. Where reasons for pre-
vious writedowns are not maintained into subsequent trading periods, the value of the asset 
is reinstated until it corresponds to the value that would have derived from application of 
the amortised cost.

In addition to the valuation referred to in the previous paragraph with reference to im-
pairment, the estimate of losses on receivables is supplemented by an analysis of expected 
losses.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and cash deposits and investments ma-

turing within three months of the original date of acquisition.
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Loans and bonds
Loans are initially recognised at the fair value of the price received net of the related loan 

acquisition costs. After initial recognition, loans are carried on the basis of their amortised 
cost calculated by means of the application of the e!ective interest rate. The amortised cost 
is calculated taking into account the issue costs and any discounts or premium provided for 
at the time of settlement.

Allowances and provisions
Provisions for risks and liabilities
Provisions for risks and liabilities are made when the Group must meet a current legal 

or implicit obligation deriving from a past event, a sacrifice of resources is likely in order to 
deal with this obligation and it is possible to make a reliable estimate of its amount. When 
the Group considers that a provision for risks and liabilities will be partly or fully reim-
bursed, for example in the case of risks covered by insurance policies, the indemnity is 
recognised separately among the assets if, and only if, it is practically certain. In this case, 
the cost of the possible related provisions, net of the amount recognised for the indemnity, 
is presented in the income statement. If the e!ect of discounting to the present the value of 
the money is significant, the provisions are discounted back using a pre-tax discount rate 
which reflects, where appropriate, the specific risks of the liabilities. When the discounting 
is carried out, the increase of the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a 
financial expense.

Employee and similar benefits
According to Ias 19, employee benefits to be paid out subsequent to the termination of the 

employment relationship and other long-term benefits (including the provision for sever-
ance indemnity) are subjected to actuarial valuations which have to take into account a se-
ries of variables (such as mortality, the provisions of future salary changes, the anticipated 
rate of inflation, etc.).

Following this method, the liability recognised represents the current value of the obli-
gation, net of any plan assets, adjusted for any actuarial losses or profits not accounted for.

As provided for by Ias 19 Revised, actuarial gains and losses were recognised directly in 
the income statement, without using the corridor approach.

Following the adoption of Ias 19 Revised, actuarial gains/losses are no longer directly 
recognised in the income statement, but are directly recognised in a reserve of sharehold-
ers’ equity with immediate recognition in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Inter-
est cost is classified under Financial income/expenses and no longer under the item Per-
sonnel Costs.

Recognition of revenues and other positive income components
1.%Recognition of revenues (as required by IFRS 15, paragraphs 31, 46, 47 and 119)
The revenues recognised by the Carraro Group mainly refer to the following types:
› Revenues from the sale of products (axles, transmissions, spare parts, agricultural trac-

tors, gears and components);
› Revenues from holding, financing and processing activities and logistics on behalf of 

third parties.



Annual Report !"#$ #$#

1.1 Revenues from the sale of products 
(axles, transmissions, spare parts, tractors, gears and components)
The companies belonging to the Carraro Group sell axles, integrated power transmis-

sion systems, spare parts, agricultural tractors, gears and other components to other com-
panies operating in the international construction of agricultural machinery, earthmoving 
machinery, industrial transport equipment, material handling and power tools sectors, thus 
operating in the B2B sector. 

The guarantees related to the sale are aligned in terms of duration to those required by 
law and/or in accordance with commercial practice in the sector. Therefore, the company 
accounts for compliance guarantees in accordance with Ias 37 - “Provisions, Contingent Li-
abilities and Contingent Assets” in line with the accounting treatment previously adopted 
(see Note 20).

Revenues as described above include a single performance obligation concerning the 
sale of the product, not including in the sale of services or ancillary products which, in ac-
cordance with the standard, should constitute separate performance obligations.

As far as the recognition of revenues is concerned, these are recorded at the time of the 
transfer of control of the goods on which processing has been carried out (at a point in 
time), this condition depends on what has been established with the customer, in most cas-
es this transfer of control occurs when the goods are taken over by the carrier (which may 
alternatively be a carrier or a ship). After the transfer of control, the customer has full dis-
cretion on the good, on its processing, on the method of distribution of the goods and on the 
sales price to be applied, has full responsibility for its use within its products and assumes 
the risks of obsolescence and possible loss of the goods.

Group companies recognise the receivable when control is transferred, as indicated in 
the previous paragraph, as it represents the moment when the right to the consideration 
becomes unconditional, since the due date of the invoice is the only prerogative that iden-
tifies when payment is due.

According to the standard contractual conditions applied by the company, the fee is cer-
tain and there are no variable parts. In addition, there are no contractually agreed sales 
with a right of return. 

Returns are only made if there is an error in quality or delivery and therefore the goods 
sold have not been produced with the technical characteristics agreed with the customer 
at the time of ordering. For quality problems, the Guarantee Fund set aside in accordance 
with Ias 37 will be used.

1.2 Revenues from holding, financing and processing activities and logistics 
on behalf of third parties.
Some of the companies belonging to the Carraro Group carry out holding activities and 

therefore deal with the purchase, management, possession and sale of shares, bonds and 
other quotas or similar securities, as well as shareholdings or interests in other companies. 
They also finance subsidiaries and associates and coordinate their technical and financial 
activities within the limits and in compliance with the law.

The companies of the Carraro Group also carry out work on moulds, gears and mechan-
ical work as well as road haulage services and logistics in general on behalf of third parties. 

The guarantees related to the sale are aligned in terms of duration to those required by 
law and/or in accordance with commercial practice in the sector. Therefore, the company 
accounts for compliance guarantees in accordance with Ias 37 - “Provisions, Contingent Li-



Consolidated Financial Statements#$'

abilities and Contingent Assets” in line with the accounting treatment previously adopted 
(see Note 20).

Revenues as described above include a single performance obligation concerning the 
provision of the service, not including in the sale any services or ancillary products which, 
in accordance with the standard, should constitute separate performance obligations.

The application of this standard has not shown any deviation from the application of the 
provisions of the previous standard in force (Ias 18). 

Group companies recognise the receivable when control is transferred, as indicated in 
the previous paragraph, as it represents the moment when the right to the consideration 
becomes unconditional, since the due date of the invoice is the only prerogative that iden-
tifies when payment is due.

According to the standard contractual conditions applied by the company, the fee is cer-
tain and there are no variable parts. 

2.%Recognition of other positive income components
Interest income is recognised in accordance with the accruals concept, on the basis of 

the amount financed and the e!ective interest rate applicable, which represents the rate 
that discounts future collections estimated over the expected life of the financial asset so as 
to take them back to the carrying amount of the asset itself.

Revenues from dividends are recorded when the right to collection arises, which nor-
mally corresponds to the resolution of the shareholders’ meeting approving distribution 
of the dividends. Dividends to shareholders are recognised as payable at the time of the 
distribution resolution.

Public grants
Public grants are recognised when reasonable certainty exists that they will be received 

and all the related conditions are satisfied. When the grants are associated with cost ele-
ments, they are recorded as revenues, but they are systematically spread over the account-
ing periods so that they are commensurate with the costs they are intended to o!set. If the 
grant is linked to an asset, the fair value is suspended in long-term liabilities and the release 
to the income statement takes place progressively over the expected useful life of the asset 
concerned on a straight-line basis.

Taxes
Taxation for the year represents the sum total of the current and deferred income taxes.

Current taxes
Current income taxes have been provided for on the basis of an estimate of the taxable 

income for the consolidated companies, in accordance with the provisions issued or essen-
tially issued at the reporting date and taking any applicable exemptions into account.

Deferred taxes
Deferred taxes are determined on the basis of the taxable temporary di!erences existing 

between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities and their value for tax purposes; they 
are classified under non-current assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets are provided for only to the extent that future tax burdens will prob-
ably exist, against which this asset balance can be used.
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The value of deferred tax assets which can be recognised is subject to an annual assess-
ment and is written down to the extent that it is not likely that su#cient income for tax 
purposes will be available in the future so as to permit all or part of this credit to be used. 
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reviewed annually at the reporting date and are rec-
ognised to the extent that it has become likely that income for tax purposes will be su#-
cient to permit these deferred tax assets to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined with reference to the tax rates which 
are expected to be applied in the period in which these deferments will be realised, taking 
into account the rates in force or those which it is known will be subsequently issued.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are o!set, if a legal right exists to o!set the current tax 
assets with current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes refer to the same fiscal entity and 
the same tax authority.

Value added tax
Revenues, costs, assets and liabilities are recognised net of value added tax, except when: 
› the tax applied to the purchase of goods or services is non-deductible, in which case 

it is recognised as part of the purchase cost of the asset or part of the cost item rec-
ognised in the income statement; 

› it refers to trade receivables and payables recorded including the value of the tax.

Earnings (losses) per share
Basic earnings (losses) per share are calculated by dividing the net profit (net loss) for 

the period attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the weighted average 
number of ordinary shares outstanding in the period.

Diluted earnings (losses) per share are obtained by means of adjustment of the weighted 
average of outstanding shares, so as to take into account all the potential ordinary shares 
with diluting e!ects.

Translation of foreign currency balances
Functional currency
The companies of the Group provide their financial statements in the currency used in 

the individual country.
The Group’s functional currency is the euro, which represents the currency in which the 

separate financial statements are drawn up and published.

Accounting transactions and entries
Transactions carried out in a foreign currency are initially recognised using the exchange 

rates at the transaction date.
At the reporting date, the monetary assets and liabilities denominated in a foreign cur-

rency are re-translated on the basis of the exchange rate in force at that date.
Non-monetary foreign currency items measured at historical cost are translated using 

the exchange rate in force at the date of the transaction.
Non-monetary items recognised at fair value are translated using the exchange rate in 

force at the date of determination of the value.
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Derivative financial instruments and hedging transactions
The Carraro group’s financial risk management strategy conforms to the company objec-

tives set out in the policies approved by the Board of Directors of Carraro Spa. In particular, 
it aims to minimise interest rate and exchange rate risk and optimise the cost of debt.

These risks are managed in accordance with the principles of prudence and market best 
practices and all risk management transactions are centrally managed.

The main objectives indicated by the policy are as follows:

Exchange-rate risks
› to hedge all commercial and financial transactions against the risk of fluctuation;
› to apply the “currency balancing” method of hedging the risk, where possible, favour-

ing the o!setting of revenues and expenses and payables and receivables in foreign 
currencies in order to engage in hedging solely for the excess balance not o!set;

› not to permit the use and ownership of derivatives or similar instruments for mere 
trading purposes;

› to permit only the use of instruments traded on regulated markets for hedging transac-
tions.

Interest-rate risks
› to hedge financial assets and liabilities against the risk of changes in interest rates;
› in hedging against risk, to comply with the general criteria for balancing lending and 

borrowing set at the Group level by the Board of Directors of Carraro Spa when it ap-
proves long-term plans and budgets (fixed and floating interest rates, proportions at 
short term and medium/long term);

› to permit only the use of instruments traded on regulated markets for hedging transac-
tions.

The Group uses derivative financial instruments such as currency futures contracts and 
interest rate swaps to hedge the risks deriving mainly from fluctuations in interest and ex-
change rates. These derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at their fair 
value at the date they were entered into; this fair value is periodically reviewed. They are 
accounted for as assets when the fair value is positive and as liabilities when it is negative.

Any profits or losses emerging from the changes in the fair value of derivatives not eligi-
ble for hedge accounting are charged directly to the income statement during the account-
ing period.

The fair value of currency futures contracts is determined with reference to the current 
forward exchange rates for contracts with a similar maturity profile. The fair value of in-
terest rate swap agreements is determined with reference to the market value for similar 
instruments.

For hedge accounting purposes, hedges are classified as: 
› fair value hedges, if they hedge the risk of change in the fair value of an underlying 

asset or liability;  
› cash flow hedges, if they hedge the risk of change in the cash flows deriving from exist-

ing assets and liabilities or from future transactions;  
› hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation (net investment hedges).
A transaction hedging the exchange-rate risk relating to an irrevocable commitment is 

accounted for as a cash flow hedge.
When implementing a hedging transaction, the Group formally designates and docu-
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ments the hedging relationship to which it is intended to apply the hedge accounting, its 
risk management objectives and the strategy pursued. The documentation identifies the 
hedging instrument, the element or transaction subject to the hedge, the nature of the risk 
and the methods by means of which the entity intends to assess the e!ectiveness of the 
hedge in o!setting exposure to changes in the fair value of the element hedged or the cash 
flows attributable to the hedged risk. 

These hedges are expected to be highly e!ective in o!setting exposure of the element 
hedged to changes in the fair value or in the cash flows attributable to the hedged risk. The 
assessment of whether these changes are in fact highly e!ective is carried out on an ongo-
ing basis during the accounting periods in which they were designated.

Transactions which meet the criteria for hedge accounting are accounted for as follows:

Fair-value hedges
The Group may use fair value hedging transactions against exposure to changes in the 

fair value of accounting assets and liabilities or of an o!-balance sheet irrevocable commit-
ment, as well as an identified part of the said assets, liabilities or irrevocable commitments, 
attributable to a particular risk, which could have an impact on the income statement. As 
far as fair-value hedges are concerned, the carrying amount of the element being hedged 
is adjusted to reflect the profits and losses attributable to the risk subject to the hedge, the 
derivative instrument is re-determined at fair value and the profits and losses of both are 
booked to the income statement.

With regard to fair value hedges referring to elements recognised on the basis of amor-
tised cost, the adjustment of the carrying amount is amortised in the income statement over 
the period remaining until maturity. Any adjustments to the carrying amount of the hedged 
financial instrument to which the e!ective interest rate method is applied are amortised in 
the income statement.

The amortisation can start as soon as an adjustment exists but not after the date when 
the hedged element ceases to be adjusted due to the changes in its fair value attributable to 
the hedged risk.

When an unrecognised irrevocable commitment is designated as a hedged item, subse-
quent cumulative changes in its fair value attributable to the hedged risk are recognised as 
assets or liabilities and the corresponding profits and losses are recognised in the income 
statement. Changes in the fair value of a hedging instrument are also booked to the income 
statement. 

An instrument is no longer recognised as a fair value hedge when it matures or is sold, 
discharged or exercised, when the hedge no longer meets the requirements for hedge ac-
counting purposes, or when the Group revokes its designation. Any adjustments to the car-
rying amount of the hedged financial instrument to which the e!ective interest rate meth-
od is applied are amortised in the income statement. The amortisation can start as soon as 
an adjustment exists but not after the date when the hedged element ceases to be adjusted 
due to changes in its fair value attributable to the hedged risk. 

Cash flow hedges
Cash flow hedges are transactions hedging the risk of fluctuations in cash flows attribut-

able to a specific risk, associated with a recognised asset or liability or with a highly likely 
future transaction which could influence the financial outcome. Profits or losses deriving 
from the hedging instrument are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income 
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and accumulated in a specific shareholders’ equity reserve for the e#cient part, while the 
remaining (ine#cient) portion is recognised in the income statement. 

The profit or loss booked to shareholders’ equity is reclassified in the income statement 
during the period when the transaction being hedged influences the income statement (for 
example, when the financial income or expense is recognised or when an anticipated sale 
or purchase takes place). When the element being hedged is the cost of a non-financial as-
set or liability, the amounts recognised in shareholders’ equity are transferred at the initial 
carrying amount of the asset or liability.

If the transaction is no longer expected to take place, the amounts initially accumulated 
in shareholders’ equity are transferred to the income statement. If the hedging instrument 
matures or is sold, cancelled or exercised without being replaced, or if its designation as a 
hedge is revoked, the amounts previously accumulated in shareholders’ equity remain rec-
ognised therein until the expected transaction takes place. If it is believed that this will no 
longer happen, the amounts are transferred to the income statement. 

Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation
Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation, including hedges of a monetary item 

recognised as part of a net investment, are recognised on a similar basis to cash flow hedges. 
Profits or losses deriving from the hedging instrument are recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income and accumulated in a specific shareholders’ equity reserve for the 
e#cient part of the hedge, while for the remaining (ine#cient) portion they are recognised 
in the income statement. On disposal of the foreign operation, the cumulative value of these 
profits or losses booked to shareholders’ equity is transferred to the income statement. 

Credit risk  
The Group includes among its customers leading international manufacturers of agri-

cultural machinery, construction equipment vehicles, industrial vehicles and light power 
tools as well as renewable energy producers, and designers and installers of photovoltaic 
systems. The risk concentration is associated with the size of these customers, which on a 
global context is on average high, yet balanced by the fact that credit exposure is distributed 
across a complex network of counterparties active in several geographic segments. 

The management of credit is designed to prioritise the acquisition of customers of na-
tional and international standing for multi-annual supplies; on this basis consolidated his-
torical relationships have been built up with the main customers. Generally speaking, these 
relationships are governed by ad-hoc supply contracts. Credit control requires periodic 
monitoring of the main financial and economic data (including the delivery schedules) re-
lating to each customer.

Except in special circumstances to do with country or counterparty risk, guarantees are 
not normally obtained on credit.

Receivables are recognised in the accounts net of any writedowns determined by assess-
ing the counterparty’s risk of insolvency based on the information available. The serious 
uncertainties and fears about the social and economic repercussions of the health Covid-19 
health emergency also have an impact on credit risk. The e!ects of this phenomenon will 
also depend on how quickly governments set out monetary and fiscal measures to support 
the most exposed sectors and businesses. At present, it is therefore not possible to make 
reliable forecasts about the duration and impact of this emergency on customers and con-
sequently on associated credit risk.



Annual Report !"#$ #$"

Liquidity risk
The Group’s liquidity risk is mainly linked to the activation and maintenance of su#cient 

funding to support industrial operations. 
The raising of funds, consistent with the Group’s short- and medium-term development 

plans, is intended to finance both the working capital and investments in fixed assets nec-
essary to ensure su#cient and technologically advanced production capacity. This require-
ment is directly proportional to the trend in customer orders and the consequent trend in 
business volumes.

The cash flows envisaged for 2020 include, besides the trend in working capital and in-
vestments, the e!ects of current liabilities and the short-term portions of medium- and 
long-term loans reaching maturity, as well as the e!ects (assuming the same rates of ex-
change with respect to 31.12.2019) of the closure of derivative financial instruments on cur-
rencies in existence at the reporting date.

The Group envisages meeting the needs arising from all of the above with the flows de-
riving from operations, available liquidity and the availability of additional credit facilities.

In 2020, the Group expects to be able to generate financial resources through its opera-
tions such as to ensure adequate support for investments. 

The management of liquidity, funding requirements and cash flows are under the strict 
control and direct management of the Group Treasury, which operates with the aim of 
managing the resources available as e#ciently as possible, in particular, taking into account 
the general uncertainty about the macroeconomic scenarios created by the e!ect of the 
spread of Covid-19 as more fully described in the section “Subsequent events” section of the 
Directors’ Report on Operations.

Uncertainties in financial markets have had an e!ect on borrowing by banks and as a 
consequence on credit granted to businesses. This instability could also continue in 2020, 
preventing the normal execution of financial transactions. 

Lastly, regardless of the fact that the Group has continued refinancing its debts with the 
support of its banking counterparties and the financial markets, the situation could arise of 
having to seek additional financing in less favourable market conditions, with the limited 
availability of such sources and an increase in financial expenses.

The maturity features of the Group’s liabilities and assets are shown in notes 10 and 16 re-
lating respectively to non-current financial receivables and non-current financial payables. 
The maturity features of derivative financial instruments are described in paragraph 9.2.

Exchange-rate risk and interest rate risk
The Group is exposed to exchange rate risks by virtue of the fact that a significant portion 

of sales and some of the purchases are made in currencies other than the Group’s functional 
currency, with trade transactions carried out by companies in the euro area with counter-
parties that do not belong to the euro area and vice versa.

Another aspect of exchange rate risk is the fact that several Group companies present 
their financial statements in currencies other than the Group’s functional currency.

Exposure to exchange-rate risk with reference to each entity is regularly monitored by 
the Group Treasury according to a strategy which focuses, in particular, on the balance 
between purchases and sales in foreign currency and activating, for the remaining non-bal-
anced portion and according to the criteria set by the company policy in terms of the man-
agement of financial risks, appropriate initiatives to hedge or reduce the risks identified, 
using the instruments available on the market.
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The Group is also exposed to interest rate risk in relation to financial liabilities under-
taken for loans for both ordinary operations and investments. Changes in interest rates may 
have positive or negative e!ects on both the financial outcome and on cash flows.

The strategy adopted pursues the basic objective of achieving a balance between float-
ing-rate and fixed-rate debt. The interest-rate risk on the floating portion is then reduced 
via specific hedging operations.

Intra-group transactions
As regards related-party transactions, including intra-group transactions, said transac-

tions cannot be qualified as atypical or unusual, and are part or the normal operations of 
Group companies. Said transactions take place in market conditions, considering the char-
acteristics of the goods and services provided.

Information on related-party transactions, including the information required by Con-
sob Communication of 28 July 2006, is given in section 8.

4. Reporting by business and geographic segment

Information on Operating Segments is given on the basis of the internal reporting pro-
vided as at 31 December 2019 to the highest operating decision-making level. 

For operational purposes, the group manages and controls its business on the basis of the 
type of products supplied.

The Carraro Group as at 31.12.2019 was organised in the following Business Areas:
› Carraro Drive Tech (Transmission systems and components): specialised in the design, 

manufacture and sale of transmission systems (axles, transmissions and planetary drives) 
mainly for agricultural and construction equipment, and also markets a wide range of 
components and gears for very diverse sectors, from the automotive industry to light 
power tools, material handling, agricultural applications and construction equipment;

› Carraro Divisione Agritalia (Vehicles): designs and manufactures special tractors (from 
60 to 100 hp) for third-party brands;

The item “other segments” brings together the Groups operations not allocated to the 
two operating segments, and comprises the central holding and management activities of 
the Group.

The Management examines separately the results achieved by the operating segments 
in order to take decisions on the allocation of resources and on assessment of the results. 

4.1 Business segments

The most significant information by business segment is presented in the tables below, 
with comparisons between financial years 2019 and 2018.
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A.!Economic data

05.1 Drive Tech Agritalia Eliminations
and items

not allocated

Consolidated 
Total

Revenues from sales  1013120  55236:5 87<39<6  0123214 

Sales to third parties  @7=9?B=  ;;>9=;>  =B>  =@?9?;A 

Related sales  ;?  6  A  >8 

Sales between divisions  ;?9::>  =9=8A 6>@9>@;  6 

Operating costs  17:377:  55936<1 85:3:12  0743<50 

Purchases of goods and materials  >@A9@?A  ;;89;>= 6>>97@?  7@@9>:: 

Services  :79AA;  ;;9:??  >9B8>  8898=; 

Use of third6party goods 
and services

 ;=9>@=  6 6;=9;:;  ?@ 

Personnel costs  :@9A=A  ;79:::  ;79>;B  A;9?7= 

Amortisation9 depreciation 
and impairment of assets

 ;:978>  ;9AA8  ;9?::  >B9>7= 

Changes in inventories  ;A9B7@ 6>=9:77 67: 6:9:7= 

Provisions for risks  :9=:@  8A@  ;  897=A 

Other income and expenses 6:9B?; 6>9:B7  =87 6?9;;; 

Internal construction 67@@  6 6;>= 6@:A 

Operating profit/(loss)  703704  53609 8<3927  7730<5 

05.2 Drive Tech Agritalia Eliminations
and items

not allocated

Consolidated 
Total

Revenues from sales  052317:  5<73:46 8793791  4713550 

Sales to third parties  @A=9@7:  ;>89;:>  6  :>>9=A? 

Related sales  ;9=B8  6  ;B  ;9=;8 

Sales between divisions  >;9@?:  =98A? 6>89>?@  6 

Operating costs  1213524  5<532<0 87<35:6  0:732<5 

Purchases of goods and materials  7;:978>  AB9=78 6>=9;?>  7?;98>8 

Services  8?9?8?  ;@9;AB  797=;  A:9@;A 

Use of third6party goods 
and services

 ;A9=AB  8? 6;?9:BA  ;9B=A 

Personnel costs  :=9=?A  ;79=;?  ;798??  A>9?A= 

Amortisation9 depreciation 
and impairment of assets

 ;=98??  ;988A  79B=:  >B9:>7 

Changes in inventories 6;B9>:@  ;B9:>;  ;7>  @?A 

Provisions for risks  @9;=:  ;9:7>  @BB  :9;?? 

Other income and expenses 6=9;:? 6=>B  ?8 6=9:B; 

Internal construction 67=@  6 6>;7 6=:8 

Operating profit/(loss)  <1371<  53570 813621  <53721 
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B.!Other Information
 

05.1 Drive Tech Agritalia Eliminations 
and items  

not allocated

Consolidated 
Total

Investments (EUR/BBB)  ;?9@B:  ;9@@7  @9;=B  >79AAA

Workforce as at 7;<;>  >9=A:  7>@  ;8>  79BA> 

05.2 Drive Tech Agritalia Eliminations 
and items  

not allocated

Consolidated 
Total

Investments (EUR/BBB)  >B9A??  ;9:@B  =97=>  >89A?B 

Workforce as at 7;<;>  >98?8  7;=  ;:@  79>:: 

4.2AGeographic segments

The Group’s industrial operations are located in various areas of the world: Italy, other 
European countries, North and South America, Asia and other non-European countries.

The Group’s sales, deriving from the manufacturing carried out in the above areas are 
achieved equally with customers in Europe, Asia and the Americas.

The most significant information by geographic segment is presented in the tables below.

A.!Sales
The breakdown of sales by main geographic area is shown in the following table.

-./.0/05.1 % -./.0/05.2 %

India 8:9;=A ;7<??% ;BA9A;7 ;8<:;%

North America 8897;8 ;@<BA% A:9?@@ ;=<=>%

Germany 8B9>>@ ;><8A% :@9A?B ;B<@;%

United Kingdom @B9??> 8<@=% @=9A>8 8<7:%

South America 7>9AB7 =<AA% 7@9B>? =<@=%

Switzerland >?9==A =<>B% 7>9?@B =<>:%

France >?9B?7 =<;>% >A9@=A @<8>%

China >>98@8 @<;@% >79AA@ 7<?@%

Spain ;:9>:B ><A:% ;89?AA ><?8%

Turkey ;79;;= ><7A% ;@9:B= ><7@%

Other EU areas >A9;:; =<7;% 7=9=A? =<8B%

Other non6EU areas ;:97?B ><A?% ;@978> ><7B%

Total Abroad 10539:6 27;<7% 076310: 2<;<:%

Italy A89B=: ;8<:?% ;B79:=: ;:<:;%

Total 0123214 566;6% 4713550 566;66%

of which[

Total EU area 7273517 05;15% 7:9305: 19;49%

Total non8EU area 7443961 12;0:% <7430:0 07;<<%
Note[ following an improvement in the reclassification by geographical area9 the figures for >B;? have been restated<
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B.!Carrying amount of assets by area 
The following table illustrates the book values of current and non-current assets accord-

ing to the primary geographic areas of manufacture.

-./.0/05.1 -./.0/05.2

Current 
assets

Non3current 
assets

Current 
assets

Non3current 
assets

Italy >??9=== @?B9@@= >8?9?@8 @?;97:7

North America >?= 6 >A@ 6

South America ;;97=8 @9>7A ;:9>=> @9?7:

Asia (India9 China) ?A9>?A =79B:> ;B=9;:= =>9A?>

Eliminations and items not allocated 6A79?:7 6>A;9?8> 6;>:97A8 6>A;9@A=

Total 7:0347< 7103291 7913545 7193424

C.!Investments by geographic segment
The table below illustrates the value of investments in the primary geographic areas of 

manufacture.

-./.0/05.1 -./.0/05.2

Italy ;?988? >B9;AB

Other EU countries 6 6

North America 6 6

South America 7B: @;

Asia :9@B? 89:8@

Eliminations and items not allocated 6;9@A7 8=

Total 7<3::: 793:26
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5. Non-recurring transactions and other extraordinary events

A.!Non-recurring transactions
At 31 December 2019, the following non-recurring operations were present: restructur-

ing costs mainly relating to sta! downsizing in Argentina for a total of 1.3 million euros.

-./.0/05.1 Personnel 
costs

Provisions 
for 

impairment

Provisions 
for risks 

and 
liabilities

Other 
income and 

expenses

Ebit Before 
tax

Taxes Net

Carraro Argentina Sa  A@@  6  7=8 6 ;97B; ;97B; 67AB A;;

Total  :11  8  <09 8  
53<65 

 53<65 8<:6  :55 

B.!Other extraordinary event
Argentina - hyperinflationary economy: impacts of the application of Ias 29
As at 1 July 2018, the Argentine economy is considered hyperinflationary on the basis of 

the criteria established by Ias 29 - Financial reporting in hyperinflationary economies. This is 
the result of the evaluation of a number of qualitative and quantitative elements, including 
the presence of a cumulative inflation rate higher than 100% over the previous three years.

For the purposes of preparing these consolidated financial statements and in accordance 
with the provisions of Ias 29, certain items in the balance sheets of the investee Carraro 
Argentina Sa have been remeasured by applying the general consumer price index to the 
historical data, in order to reflect the changes in the purchasing power of the Argentine 
peso at the closing date of the financial statements.

The non-monetary balance sheet data of the financial statements of this company was 
remeasured by applying the inflation indices from their original acquisition date.

In particular, during 2019, the accounting e!ects of this remeasurement were recorded 
in the following manner:

› the remeasurement of non-monetary items, shareholders’ equity items and income state-
ment items recognised during the 2019 financial year, carried out to take account of the 
change in the reference price index, was recognised as a contra entry in a specific item 
of the income statement under financial income and expense (see item in the financial 
statements: C15 - Income (charges) from hyperinflation).

The cumulative e!ects of Ias 29 at 31 December 2019 are reported below, in addition to 
showing the impacts of hyperinflation on the main items of the income statement.

Effects - hyperinflationary economy Carraro Argentina

Balance sheet effects: Effects 
Ias 01

Total assets  53601 

Total shareholders’ equity  96: 

Total liabilities  <10 
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Economic effectsB Effects
Ias 01

;) Products  >9;B7 

>) Services  ;A 

7) Other revenues  @ 

Total revenues from sales  73574 

;) Purchases of goods and materials  ?>@ 

>) Services  @AB 

7) Use of third6party goods and services  ;8 

@) Personnel costs  8A= 

=) Amortisation9 depreciation and impairment of assets  78A 

:) Changes in inventories  6A@ 

8) Provision for risks and other liabilities  @= 

?) Other income and expenses ;?7

A) Internal construction  6 

Total operating costs  734<: 

Operating profit/(loss) 805< 

;B) Income and expenses from equity investments  6 

;;) Other financial income  ;

;>) Financial costs and expenses 6;B 

;7) Net gains/(losses) on foreign exchange A: 

;@) Value adjustments of financial assets  6 

;=) Income (charges) from hyperinflation 67=A

Net gains/(losses) on financial assets 8797 

Profit/(loss) before taxes 8920 

;=) Current and deferred income taxes ;A?

Net profit/(loss)  :2<

;:) Minority interests  6 

Group consolidated profit/(loss)  :2< 

Ebitda 85<1

6. Notes and comments

Revenues and costs

A.!Revenues from sales (note 1)
Analysis by business and geographic segment
Reference is made to the information in section 4 above, and to the Directors’ Report on 

Operations.  
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B.!Operating costs (note 2)

-./.0/05.1 -./.0/05.2

Purchases of raw materials  77@9AB;  78;9?BB 

Returns of raw materials 6? 6;A 

F) RKGVWFLHL  77@9?A7  78;98?; 

Miscellaneous consumables  ;9:8B  >9;7> 

Consumable tools  @9@7A  @9:A; 

Maintenance material  >9@:8  >9=>; 

Material and services for resale  >9:;@  79B@B 

Rebates and discounts – suppliers 6;9?;8 6>9@7? 

Q) NSWHG RGNXKVSTNJ VNLSL  A9787  A9A@: 

5) Purchases of goods and materials  <113744  <253979 

F) H\SHGJFP LHGITVHL MNG RGNXKVSTNJ  @>9;;:  =@9AB8 

Q) LKJXGZ LKRRPTHL  89877  89:=@ 

V) UHJHGFP NIHGWHFXL  >79>;;  >@9?=? 

X) VNOOHGVTFP VNLSL  ;9=@B  ;9>BA 

H) LFPHL H\RHJLHL  79;=;  897AB 

7) Services  993905  :43652 

<) Use of third8party goods and services  21  5360: 

F) ]FUHL FJX LFPFGTHL  :=9BB7  ::97;@ 

Q) LNVTFP LHVKGTSZ VNJSGTQKSTNJL  ;89>@;  ;89=77 

V) HORPNZHH LHIHGFJVH TJXHOJTSZ FJX GHSTGHOHJS  @9A=@  @9@7? 

X) NSWHG VNLSL  @9:78  @9:;B 

1) Personnel costs  :532<0  :732:0 

F) XHRGHV< RGNR<9 RPFJS & HYKTROHJS  ;:9?::  ;=9>=? 

Q) FONGS< TJSFJUTQPH FLLHSL  797@?  798@? 

V) TORFTGOHJS NM MT\HX FLLHSL 6?=  ;9=:? 

X) TORFTGOHJS NM GHVHTIFQPHL  ;B:  @A 

0) Amortisation3 depreciation and impairment of assets  7637<0  76347< 

F) VWFJUHL TJ TJIHJSNGTHL NM GF] FJX FJVTPPFGZ OFSHGTFPL FJX UNNXL 6;=9?:?  =97>A 

Q) VWFJUHL TJ TJIHJSNGTHL NM ]NG^ TJ RGNU< LHOT6MTJ< & MTJ< RGNXL  A9>77 6@9?@B 

4) Changes in inventories 8434<0  12: 

F) ]FGGFJSZ  :9=B?  @9:;8 

Q) VNLSL NM PHUFP VPFTOL  AA  A@ 

V) GHJNIFSTNJ FJX VNJIHGLTNJ  7=8  >BB 

X) NSWHG RGNITLTNJL  7A=  ;9>88 

9) Provision for risks and other liabilities  93<0:  43522 

F) LKJXGZ TJVNOH 6?9B=; 6=9B88 

Q) UGFJSL 6@8 6=B? 

V) NSWHG NRHGFSTJU H\RHJLHL  ;9>A7  ;9?B; 

X) NSWHG JNJ6NGXTJFGZ NRHGFSTJU TJVNOH/H\RHJLHL 6;97B: 6;9?;8 

2) Other income and expenses 823555 803465 

:) Internal construction 814: 8049
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C.!Net income from financial assets (note 3)

-./.0/05.1 -./.0/05.2

56) Income/expenses from equity investments 726 53059

F) MGNO MTJFJVTFP FLLHSL 6 :>

Q) MGNO QFJ^ VKGGHJS FVVNKJSL FJX XHRNLTSL ;;7 ;8@

V) MGNO NSWHG VFLW HYKTIFPHJSL := >@A

X) TJVNOH NSWHG SWFJ SWH FQNIH 8=: ;9:=;

H) MGNO VWFJUHL TJ SWH MFTG IFPKH NM XHGTIFSTIH SGFJLFVSTNJL NJ GFSHL 6 6

55) Other financial income :<1 735<4

F) MGNO MTJFJVTFP PTFQTPTSTHL 6?9;:B 6?9BB7

Q) MGNO QFJ^ VKGGHJS FVVNKJSL FJX XHRNLTSL 6A:; 6A@:

V) H\RHJLHL NSWHG SWFJ SWH FQNIH 6;9::A 679?78

X) MGNO VWFJUHL TJ SWH MFTG IFPKH NM XHGTIFSTIH SGFJLFVSTNJL NJ GFSHL 6 6

57) Financial costs and expenses 85639:6 8573924

From net derivative transactions on exchange rates 6A8: 6?:@

From changes in the fair value of derivative transactions 
on net exchange rates

>:@ 68@8

Other net exchange rate differences 8?: >7@

5<) Net gains/(losses) on foreign exchange 91 853<99

Q) ]GTSH6XN]JL 6>9>7@ 6;9>::

51) Value adjustments of financial assets 8737<1 853760

Income (charges) from hyperinflation 7=A ;9B>7

50) Income (charges) from hyperinflation <0: 5367<

Net gains/(losses) on financial assets 85736:0 85739<2

Financial expenses amounted to 10.790 million euros compared to 12.786 million euros 
in 2018, a decrease of 15.61%. 

Financial expenses also include the fees paid on the bond issue that are absorbed along 
the bond amortisation schedule in application of the amortised cost method of accounting. 

Exchange di!erences as at 31 December 2019 were positive, amounting to 0.074 million 
euros (0.01% of turnover) compared to a negative value of 1.377 million euros (-0.2% of 
turnover) as at 31 December 2018. 

Value adjustments of financial assets and income from equity investments refer to the 
e!ect on the income statement deriving from using the equity method of measuring the 
investment held in Enertronica Santerno Spa and the realisable value of the investment in 
Agriming Agriculture Equipment Co. Ltd. and a portion of the investment in Enertronica 
Santerno Spa.

For further details and analysis, see section 9.1 “General summary of the e!ects on the In-
come Statement deriving from financial instruments”.

A
m

ou
nt

s 
in

 E
ur

o/
00

0



Consolidated Financial Statements#%+

Current and deferred income taxes (note 4)

-./.0/05.1 -./.0/05.2

Current taxes >9=>8 =9B::

Tax consolidation expense and income 797B8 @9>B=

Taxes from previous years 6@9;>A 679=>?

Deferred taxes 6:= 67:A

50) Current and deferred income taxes 53416 03<91

Current taxes
Tax on the income of Italian companies is calculated at 24%, for Ires (corporation tax), 

and at 3.90% for Irap (regional business tax) on the respective taxable income for the peri-
od. Taxes for the other foreign companies are calculated at the rates in force in the various 
countries.

Tax consolidation expense and income
The companies Carraro Spa, Carraro Drive Tech Spa, Siap Spa, Carraro International SE, 

Driveservice Srl, Carraro Germania Srl and Carraro Drive Tech Italia Spa adhere to the tax 
consolidation area of the parent company Carraro Spa. The option is valid for the three-
year period 2018-2020 with reference to the subsidiaries Carraro Drive Tech Spa, Siap Spa, 
Carraro International SE and Driveservice Srl and for the three-year period 2019-2021 with 
reference to the subsidiaries Carraro Germania Srl and Carraro Drive Tech Italia Spa. The 
expense/income deriving from the transfer of the Ires taxable base are booked under cur-
rent taxes.  

Deferred taxes
These are set aside on the temporary di!erences between the carrying amount of the 

assets and liabilities and the corresponding tax value.
The provisions for taxation for the year can be reconciled with the result recorded in the 

financial statements as follows:

-./.0/05.1 % -./.0/05.2 %

Earnings before tax  5631<4 523014

Theoretical tax rate  73:57 79;:6% 03591 79;:6%

Tax effects related to[

Effect of non6deductible costs  A9?B? A7<A?% =9B;A >8<B:%

Untaxable income 689>:A 6:A<:=% 6>9>?8 6;><77%

Effect of change in deferred tax rate 6>7A 6><>A% 6 6

Other unrecognised deferred tax assets  =:? =<@@% :7= 7<@>%

Adjustment of deferred taxes of previous year 6 6 A8 B<=>%

Use of previous tax losses 6 6 6>A@ 6;<=A%

Foreign companies rate difference 6 6 @A B<>:%

Withheld at source 6 6 =BA ><8@%

Provisions for tax risks 6 6 6 6

Prior6year tax credits 679777 67;<A@% 6 6

Taxes from previous years 6?B8 68<87% 679=>? 6;A<B>%

Taxation at effective rate  53416 50;95% 03<91 72;:2%
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As well as taxes recognised in the income statement for the year, deferred tax assets of 
0.03 million euros were directly recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

Earnings (loss) per share (note 5)
Basic earnings (losses) per share are calculated by dividing the net earnings (net losses) 

for the year attributable to the company’s ordinary shareholders by the weighted average 
number of outstanding ordinary shares during the year.

-./.0/05.1 -./.0/05.2

Results

Earnings (Losses) for the purposes of calculating basic earnings per share  ?9;>;  ;>9;?8 

Diluting effect deriving from potential ordinary shares  6  6 

Earnings (Losses) for the purposes of calculating diluted earnings per share  ?9;>;  ;>9;?8 

Number of shares

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for calculating

basic earnings (losses) per share  889B?A9@@>  889B?A9@@> 

diluted earnings (losses) per share  889B?A9@@>  889B?A9@@> 

Basic earnings (losses) per share (euros)  B<;;  B<;: 

Diluted earnings (losses) per share (euros)  B<;;  B<;: 

Dividends
The Shareholders’ Meeting of 11 April 2019 approved the distribution of dividends for an 

amount of 10,021,627.46 euros. These dividends were paid in full in 2019.

Property, plant and equipment (note 6)
These items present a net balance of 158.78 million euros compared with 150.72 million 

euros in the previous period. The breakdown is as follows:

Items Land and 
buildings

Plant and 
machinery

Industrial 
equipment

Other 
assets

Invest/ in progress 
and deposits

Total

Historical cost 8=9>@? ;8?9?8=  ;B798@?  ;;9:B>  @9>87  78798@:

Provisions 
for amort< and deprec<

6>=9>=? 6;;89=;8 6?;9B78 6A9>;8  6 6>779B>A

Net as at <5;57;7659 1:3::6 453<02  773955 73<20 1379< 5163959

Movements in 7652?

Increases  ;9=?B  :98:7  =9?:?  A@@  ;;9A?:  >89;@; 

Decreases 6> 6@@: 6;;> 6@  6 6=:@ 

Capitalisation  ;9=@B  79@88  ;9BA7  ;= 6:9;>=  6 

Hyperinflation effect 
in Argentina

 6  >9=?:  6  6  6  >9=?: 

Depreciation 
and amortisation

6;9=;> 6?9=87 6@9=?? 6=?=  6 6;=9>=? 

Reclassification  6  7B  @=  > 688  6 

Write6downs  6 6;9=:?  6  6  6 6;9=:? 

A
m

ou
nt

s 
in

 E
ur

o/
00

0
A

m
ou

nt
s 

in
 E

ur
o/

00
0



Consolidated Financial Statements#%*

Items Land and 
buildings

Plant and 
machinery

Industrial 
equipment

Other 
assets

Invest/ in progress 
and deposits

Total

Foreign exchange 
translation difference

6>=; 6;97=; 6:B; 6A8 677 6>9777 

Net as at <5;57;7652  053<10  473794  713154  73446  563671  5063975 

Made up of?

Historical cost  889?8?  ;A?97>?  ;B79:AA  ;;9A8=  ;B9B>@  @B;9AB@ 

Provisions for amort< 
and deprec<

6>:9=77 6;7:9B=> 68A9>?7 6A97;=  6 6>=;9;?7 

Items Land and 
buildings

Plant and 
machinery

Industrial 
equipment

Other 
assets

Invest/ in progress 
and deposits

Total

Historical cost 889?8? ;A?97>?  ;B79:AA  ;;9A8=  ;B9B>@  @B;9AB@

Provisions 
for amort< and deprec<

6>:9=77 6;7:9B=> 68A9>?7 6A97;=  6 6>=;9;?7

Net as at <5;57;7652 053<10 473794  713154 73446 563671 5063975

Movements in 765:?

Increases  8=7  ?9?;@  :9A?>  ;9?B?  @9@:B  >>9?;8 

Decreases 6@B ;=@ 6A: 6;B@  67 6?A 

Capitalisation  :9B@B  @9@7:  @;?  7;7 6;;9>B8  6 

Hyperinflation effect 
in Argentina

 7B?  :7:  ;9;7B  ?:;  6  >9A7= 

Depreciation 
and amortisation

6;98AA 6?9==; 6=97?; 6;9;7=  6 6;:9?:: 

Reclassification  6  6@@7  787  ?8 6;8  6 

Write6downs  6 :A  6:  >>  6 ?= 

Foreign exchange 
translation difference

6@ 6=@? 6;@A 6=7 6:@ 6?;? 

Net as at <5;57;765:  04346<  44321<  793429  1310:  <35:<  5023920 

Made up of?

Historical cost  ?@9A@8  ;A897BA  ;;797A:  ;@9?A@  79;A>  @;7987? 

Provisions for amort< 
and deprec<

6>?97@@ 6;7B9@:: 6?=98BA 6;B9@7=  ; 6>=@9A=7 

As at 31.12.2019, assets under finance leases for 3.4 mln euros and right-of-use assets (Ifrs 
16) of 2.5 mln euros are recognised under property, plant and equipment.

Right-of-use assets (Ifrs 16) are broken down by category as follows:
› Land and buildings: 0.2 million euros;
› Industrial equipment: 1.2 million euros;
› Other assets: 1.1 million euros;
Investments in land and buildings were carried out in particular by Carraro Spa, Siap Spa 

and Carraro Drive Tech Do Brasil.
The main investments in plant and machinery were made by Carraro Drive Tech Spa, 

Carraro India Pvt. Ltd. and Siap Spa
The increases in industrial equipment refer mainly to purchases made by Carraro Spa, 

Carraro Drive Tech Spa, Carraro India Pvt. Ltd., and Siap Spa.
The increases in other assets mainly refer to o#ce equipment and vehicles purchased by 

Carraro Spa, Carraro Drive Tech, Carraro India Pvt. Ltd. and Siap Spa. 
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The increases in Assets under development and payments on account are mainly due to 
the investments being made in Carraro Spa relating to the extension of the owned building 
and o#ces, as well as to the increases in the o#ces of Carraro Drive Tech Spa, Carraro In-
dia Pvt. Ltd. and Siap Spa.

The properties of Carraro India Pvt. Ltd. are encumbered by mortgages guaranteeing 
outstanding loans for a total of 7.12 million euros and its machinery by mortgages guaran-
teeing outstanding loans for a total of 8.5 million euros.

Decrease and exchange di!erence values are highlighted by the net value of the histori-
cal cost and the accumulated amortisation and uses of the depreciation provision.

Intangible assets (note 7)
These items present a net balance of 52.5 million euros compared with 54.7 million euros 

in the previous period.
The breakdown is as follows:

Items Goodwill Develop/
costs

Royalties 
and 

patents

Licences 
and 

Trademarks

Invest/ 
in prog/ and 

deposits

Other 
intangible

assets

Total

Historical cost  7?9>A@  ;B97B8  ;9;:>  >:98;?  =9:>>  6  ?>9;B7 

Provisions for amort< 
and depreciations

6;9=BB 6@98>B 6;9B>8 6;89>=7  6  6 6>@9=BB 

Net as at  <5;57;7659  <439:1  03029  5<0  :3140  03477  8  09346< 

Movements in 7652? = = =

Increases  6  6  =8  ===  >>8  6  ?7A 

Decreases  6 6?  6 6>7:  @7;  6  ;?8 

Capitalisation 
of internal costs

 6  6  6  :@ 6:@  6  6 

Change  
in consolidation scope

 6  6  6  6  6  6  6 

Depreciation  
and amortisation

 6 6;987> 6@: 6;9A8B  6  6 6798@? 

Reclassification  6  6  6  6  6  6  6 

Write6downs  6  6  6  6  6  6  6 

Foreign exchange  
translation difference

 6 6;  6 68; 6;B?  6 6;?B 

Net as at  <5;57;7652  <439:1  <3214  514  93269  43562  8  013965 

Made up of?

Historical cost  7?9>A@  ;B9>A?  ;9>;A  >:98;8  :9;B?  6  ?>9:7: 

Provisions for amort< 
and depreciations

6;9=BB 6:9@=> 6;9B87 6;?9A;B  6  6 6>89A7= 

Items Goodwill Develop/
costs

Royalties 
and 

patents

Licences 
and 

Trademarks

Invest/ 
in prog/ and 

deposits

Other 
intangible

assets

Total

Historical cost  7?9>A@  ;B9>A?  ;9>;A  >:98;8  :9;B?  6  ?>9:7: 

Provisions for amort< 
and depreciations

6;9=BB 6:9@=> 6;9B87 6;?9A;B  6  6 6>89A7= 

Net as at  <5;57;7652  <439:1  <3214  514  93269  43562  8  013965 
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Items Goodwill Develop/
costs

Royalties 
and 

patents

Licences 
and 

Trademarks

Invest/ 
in prog/ and 

deposits

Other 
intangible

assets

Total

Movements in 765:? = = = = = = =

Increases  6  6  8=  @;;  :A:  6  ;9;?> 

Decreases  6  6 6>  6  ;  6 6; 

Capitalisation 
of internal costs

 6  ;9?>?  6  ?> 6;9A;B  6  6 

Change  
in consolidation scope

 6  6  6  @  6  6  @ 

Depreciation  
and amortisation

 6 6;9@AB 6@A 6;9?BA  6  6 6797@? 

Reclassification  6  6  6  6  6  6  6 

Write6downs  6  6  6  6  6  6  6 

Foreign exchange  
translation difference

 6  ;  6  8 6>  6  : 

Net as at  <5;57;765:  <439:1  13520  596  43067  132:<  8  073011 

Made up of?

Historical cost  7?9>A@  ;>9;>:  ;9>A>  >89>;B  @9?A@  6  ?79?;: 

Provisions for amort< 
and depreciations

6;9=BB 689A@; 6;9;>> 6>B98B? 6;  6 67;9>8> 

The other intangible fixed assets with a limited useful life are amortised on a straight-
line basis over terms estimated at between three and five years.

Decrease and exchange di!erence values are highlighted by the net value of the histori-
cal cost and the accumulated amortisation and uses of the depreciation provision.

Goodwill and Impairment Tests
Goodwill
Goodwill is attributed to the CGUs (cash generating units) as shown in the following table. 

Business Area (Cgu) 05.1 Changes 05.2

Drivetech 7:98A@ 6 7:98A@

Total <439:1 8 <439:1

The assets of the CGUs were tested for impairment as described below.

Impairment Tests
Impairment tests were carried out, applying the provisions of Ias 36, with the application 

criteria described below, also considering guidelines on methodologies issued by the Oiv 
(Italian Valuation Standard Setter), in particular the indications provided by: i) Application 
no. 2 published by the Oic in December 2009; ii) the Guidelines with regard to Impairment 
Tests, published by the Oiv on 14 June 2012; iii) Consob communication no. 0003907 of 19 
January 2015; iv) guidelines (in terms of plans) of the Italian Valuation Standards issued by 
the Oiv in July 2015.

› the recoverable value of the assets of the cash generating units (henceforth “CGUs”) 
was ascertained by identifying their “value in use” obtained from the present value of 
the expected operating cash flows of these assets applying a rate expressing the risks 
of the single “CGUs” considered;
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› for the purpose of impairment testing for the Consolidated Financial Statements as at 
31 December 2019, and as for the previous year, the “CGUs” were identified as the two 
business areas: “Drive Tech” and “Agritalia”. As in previous years, the test was also car-
ried out at a Group level overall, although the average Stock Exchange capitalisation 
value was higher than the carrying amount of shareholders’ equity;;

› the reference time horizon for the estimate of future cash flows is a period of four 
years, subsequently using the perpetual return criterion;

› the expected cash flow projections are based on: i) the 2020 budget approved by the 
Board of Directors on 17 December 2019; (ii) projections prepared by management 
for the period 2021-23, based on the most reliable and up-to-date information on the 
business outlook; 

› It should be noted that the flows and rates underlying the impairment test take into 
account the company’s situation as at 31.12.2019, without regard to the e!ects of the 
spread of Covid-19 (which, however, is to all intents and purposes a subsequent event 
according to the definition provided by Ias10).

› the future cash flow estimates were determined based on criteria of prudence with 
regard to both growth rates as well as margin evolution. The cash flow projections re-
fer to current operating conditions and therefore do not include the cash flows arising 
from any extraordinary interventions;

› the terminal value was estimated based on the values of the last year of analytical fore-
casting; a “standard” tax rate was applied, which, for conservative purposes, does not 
consider any tax recovery arising from the use of previous losses. The estimated, for-
ward-looking growth rate (“g”) is equal to 1%. The figures of the projections are ex-
pressed in nominal terms;

› Wacc (weighted average cost of capital) rates were used to discount flows, calculated 
analysing comparable company data in relation to each CGU (cash generating unit), so 
as to reflect the risk level of each segment of activity, as well as uncertainties related 
to the current economic context. The rates were determined net of the tax e!ect. The 
change in taxes from one year to another is a!ected, among others, by the change in 
the cost of money and update to the basket of comparable companies for each segment 
of activity. In line with the decisions taken in previous years, for each CGU a degree 
of “historical” error (in terms of overstatement) inherent in the forecasts prepared by 
the Group’s management has been measured. As a result of this analysis, a “surcharge 
on the final balance” was determined. In line with the previous year and with the Oiv 
document of June 2012, a second and further increase has also been considered, deter-
mined by comparing the Ebitda envisaged in the Plan used for the impairment test at 
31 December 2019 with that envisaged in the Plan used for the test as at 31 December 
2018. No surcharges on plans emerged during the year, as the new plans are more con-
servative than the previous ones.

The rates used for each CGU and for the Group overall, are indicated below:

WACC
Discount rate net of taxes

Carraro Group ?<7:%

Drivetech CGU ?<8B%

Agritalia CGU =<??%
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› the sensitivity analysis of the di!erence between the value in use and the carrying 
amount was performed, also in light of the contingent factors represented by the na-
tional and international spread of Covid-19:  
– changing some of the basic parameters of the estimate carried out, in compliance 

with the Consob Communication of 19 January 2015, as an instrument for providing 
the additional information indicated in paragraph 134 letter f ) of Ias36. In particular, 
a sensitivity analysis was carried out on the following variables: 
› Wacc (increased, in the light of the trend in market rates, by 25 bps and 50 bps, and 

determination of the rate that eliminates the di!erence between Enterprise Value 
and Nic); 

› Growth rate at full capacity (g): reduction of 50 and 100 bps;
› Ebit (reduced by 5% and 10% and determination of the percentage reduction that 

eliminates the di!erence between Enterprise Value and Cin);
› Turnover (10% reduction)

– taking into account the di!erent business risk levels of the CGUs.
Parameters used for sensitivity analysis are indicated below: in particular, the discount 

rate and the Ebit reduction (for the explicit period and the terminal flow) which makes 
recoverable values equal to the carrying amounts is provided:

Wacc Ebit

Carraro Group ;B<=7% 6>@<>@%

Drivetech CGU ;><>@% 677<B;%

Agritalia CGU ;><;7% 6=8<7:%

Although the financial-market turbulence caused by the emergency related to the spread 
of Covid-19 has led to a sharp and widespread fall in share prices, leading to a significant 
reduction in the market value of the Company’s shares compared to 31 December 2019, the 
present value is higher than that implicit in consolidated shareholders’ equity at 31 Decem-
ber 2019.

The procedure adopted and impairment testing were approved by the Board of Directors 
independently and before approval of the financial statements.

Investments in progress and deposits
The increase in assets under development refers mainly to the costs incurred by Carraro 

Spa for the design of new product lines developed in relation to similar projects launched 
by customers. Development costs generated internally are capitalised at cost. 

Licences and Trademarks
The increases are mainly attributable to the acquisition of licenses by Carraro Spa, Car-

raro China Drive System and Siap Spa.

Royalties and patents
Investments in Royalties and Patents mainly refer to purchases of Carraro Spa.
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Research and development costs
In 2019, the financial commitment made by the group for R&D activities amounted to ap-

proximately 4.12% of turnover. These costs did not give rise to capitalisations in accordance 
with the criteria of Ias 38.

Real estate investments (note 8)
These present a net balance of 0.7 million euros.
The breakdown is as follows:

Items Buildings Total

Balance as at <5;57;7652  4:0  4:0 

Increases  6 6 

Decreases 6 6 

Change in currency conversion  6  6 

Balance as at <5;57;765:  4:0  4:0 

Real estate investments refers to non-industrial properties owned by the municipalities 
of Campodarsego and Maniago.

Equity investments (note 9)
Equity investments in associated companies
On 22 November 2018 the Carraro Group signed an investment agreement with its part-

ner Enertronica aimed at enhancing the value of its subsidiary Elettronica Santerno Spa. 
On 18 December 2018 Carraro Spa and Carraro International SE completed the subscrip-
tion of the capital increase in kind in Enertronica Spa (which subsequently changed its 
name to Enertronica Santerno Spa), released through the contribution of the related equity 
investments held in Elettronica Santerno.

As a result of this agreement, Carraro Spa and Carraro International SE held, respective-
ly, a connecting interest in Enertronica Santerno Spa for an amount of 0.930 million euros, 
equal to 13.49% (Carraro Spa) and for an amount of 1.862 million euros, equal to 14.37% 
(Carraro International).

On 29 May 2019, the Board of Directors of Enertronica Santerno Spa approved its draft 
consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2018, which showed negative share-
holders’ equity of 0.181 million euros.

An adjustment was therefore made in 2019 to the initial book value of the equity invest-
ment, recording a write-down of 0.714 million euros which was entirely attributed to Car-
raro International SE.

During 2019, Carraro Spa sold 265,800 shares of Enertronica Santerno Spa, reducing its 
percentage ownership from 13.49% to 10.10% and realising a capital gain of 154 thousand 
euros; Carraro International SE sold 332,700 shares of Enertronica Santerno Spa, with its 
percentage ownership falling from 14.37% to 10.14% and realising a total capital gain of 
126.7 thousand euros.

On the reporting date, the financial statements of Enertronica Santerno Spa as at 31 De-
cember 2018 were not available. 

Therefore, no adjustment was made to the value of the equity investment to the value of 
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the pro-quota shareholders’ equity with respect to the book value recorded in the financial 
statements of Carraro Spa and Carraro International SE.

Name Registered
office

Holding
company

Share 
capital

Number 
of shares

Stakes 
held

Profit
(loss) 

-./.0/.1

Sh/ Equity
-./.0/.2*

Direct 
portion

Carrying 
amount of 
the invest/

-./.0/.1

Currency Amount Total (ctv/ Euro) (ctv/ Euro)

Enertronica
Santerno 
Spa

Milan9 
Italy

Carraro 
Spa

Eur 8?@9A?? 8A79>BBE n<a< ?9:;89@?7 ;B<;B% :A:9?@A

Enertronica
Santerno 
Spa

Milan9 
Italy

Carraro 
International 
SE

Eur 8?@9A?? 8A=9:BB n<a< ?9:;89@?7 ;B<;@% ?BA9>A8

* Figures updated to 7; December >B;A are not yet available< The most up6to6date financial information available has therefore 
been provided<

Joint ventures held for sale 
In order to speed up the development of the Group’s activities in China, it has been de-

cided to end the joint venture Agriming Agriculture Equipment Co. Ltd., begun in June 
2017, by selling the 49% of its share capital held by Carraro International SE to Shandong 
Juming Machinery Co. Ltd. 

As a result, the value of the investment in the Chinese joint venture Agriming was adjust-
ed to its realisable value in 2019, with an impairment loss of 1.52 million euros; the dissolu-
tion of the Joint Venture was finalised in August 2019.  

Financial assets (note 10)

-./.0/05.1 -./.0/05.2

Loans to related parties @98:7 =9;:7

Loans to third parties ;98AA >9>7@

Loans and receivables 43047 93<:9

Available for sale ?8 ?8

Other financial assets ;9;>= ;9;8>

Other financial assets 53757 5370:

Non8current financial assets 93991 23404

From related parties @BB @BB

From third parties ;9B=: >9@=@

Loans and receivables 53104 73201

Fair value of derivatives >B@ :A

Other financial assets 7?? 7A:

Other financial assets 0:7 140

Current financial assets 73612 <3<5:

Non-current loans and receivables
Non-current receivables and loans from third parties mainly include the medium/long-

term portion (1.62 million euros) of the receivable from the Argentinian real estate compa-
nies to which the land and the building relating to the Argentinian production plant were 

A
m

ou
nt

s 
in

 E
ur

o/
00

0



Annual Report !"#$ #))

sold in two successive stages Non-current related party loans and receivables refer to the 
medium/long-term portion of 4.76 million euros of the loan to Elettronica Santerno Spa.

Values of these receivables approximate their fair value.

Other non-current financial assets
These mainly include minority interests and guarantee deposits and up-front fees in-

curred by Carraro International SE for revolving credit lines.

Current loans and receivables
These include 0.69 million euros relating to the short-term portion of the financial re-

ceivable from the Argentinian real estate companies to which the land and the building re-
lating to the Argentinian production plant were transferred in two successive stages. Cur-
rent related party loans and receivables refer to the short-term portion of 0.4 million euros 
of the loan to Elettronica Santerno Spa.

Other current financial assets
Include “cash flow hedge” derivatives for 0.20 million euros. The amount refers to the 

fair value calculated as at 31.12.2019 on current instruments on currencies. As described in 
detail in the section on derivative financial instruments (paragraph 9), profits or losses de-
riving from hedging instruments are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income 
and accumulated in a specific shareholders’ equity reserve for the e#cient part, while the 
remaining (ine#cient) portion is recognised in the income statement and for 0.3 million 
euros they refer to the short-term part of the up front fees incurred by Group companies 
for revolving credit lines.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities (note 11)
The table below illustrates the composition of deferred taxation by the nature of the 

temporary di!erences that determine it. The change corresponds to the e!ect of deferred 
taxes on net equity and income.

Description 
of differences

Opening
-./.0/.2

Reclassific/ Effect Difference
Exchange 

rate

Closing
-./.0/.1on income 

statement
on net 
equity

Assets? =

Depreciation and amortisation A9>77 6@B@ E E  ?9?>A 

Measurement of receivables ?: 6; E E  ?= 

Measurement of financial assets/
liabilities

;>=   6>8 E  A? 

Discounting of employee severance 
indemnity

;=? E :> E  >>B 

Allocations to provisions ?9@@; @?; E  ?9A>> 

Tax losses =A7  E E  =A7 

Thin cap 787  E E  787 

Other ;97=> 6;@@ E E  ;9>B? 

Personnel bonuses 7=7 6>A> E E  :; 

Total 763951 8 8<46  <0 8  763<2: 
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Description 
of differences

Opening
-./.0/.2

Reclassific/ Effect Difference
Exchange 

rate

Closing
-./.0/.1on income 

statement
on net 
equity

Liabilities?

Depreciation and amortisation 6797>? 6;9BBA :>8 6798;B

Measurement of receivables E@=: @=:

Measurement of financial assets/
liabilities

67=  7= 6

Discounting of employee severance 
indemnity

E E

Allocations to provisions 77A EA=8 E ;9>A:

Other :;7  6;@ E6=@B =A

Total 873155 8  170 29= 8 8532::

Balance 523<6< 8 40 577 8 5231:6

The carrying amount of net deferred tax assets recognised as at 31 December 2019 was 
18.5 million euros. (2018: 18.3 million euros). Deferred tax assets include the potential ben-
efits associated with retained tax losses, insofar as it is likely that there will be adequate 
future taxable profits against which these losses can be used in a reasonably short period. 

Tax losses for which it was decided not to recognise deferred tax assets as at 31 Decem-
ber 2019 amounted to 30.1 million euros (2018: 30.1 million euros) with a tax e!ect of 8.5 
million euros (2018: 8.5 million euros).

With reference to temporarily non-deductible financial charges, it was decided to recog-
nise deferred tax assets of 0.3 million euros (2018: 0.3 million euros) for a taxable income 
of 1.6 million euros. No deferred tax assets on temporarily non-deductible residual interest 
charges were therefore recognised for a taxable amount of 26.2 million euros (2018: 28.2 
million euros), with a tax e!ect of 6.3 million euros (2018: 6.8 million euros).

The item “Amortisation and depreciation” includes deferred tax assets related to the cap-
ital gain resulting from a transaction carried out in 2014. Since this is a transaction between 
companies subject to common control, in accordance with the Assirevi document “OPI1” 
this capital gain has not been recognised for accounting purposes, having consequently giv-
en rise to the corresponding recognition of deferred tax assets, the value of which as at 
31.12.2019 amounted to 7.7 million euros, unchanged on the prior year in accordance with 
the 2019 Budget Law.
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Trade receivables and other receivables (note 12)

-./.0/05.1 -./.0/05.2

Non8current trade receivables 8 8

From third parties @9;?; @9A=;

Other non8current receivables 13525 13:05

Non8current trade receivables and other receivables 13525 13:05

From related parties ;98>@ ;9?7>

From third parties =:9=A; 889B8>

Current trade receivables 023<50 923:61

From related parties ?BA ?BA

From third parties 7=9;;A 789;B7

Other current receivables <03:72 <93:57

Current trade receivables and other receivables :1371< 5543254

Other non-current receivables (4.2 million euros) consist mainly of guarantee deposits, 
portions of costs pertaining to subsequent years and advance payments and tax credits of 
the subsidiary Carraro India Pvt Ltd. and Carraro Argentina Sa. 

Trade receivables bear no interest and mature on average at 60 days.
Other current receivables due from third parties can be analysed as follows:

-./.0/05.1 -./.0/05.2

VAT credits >;9=7: >@9;;B

VAT credits due for rebate 6 6

Other tax credits ;9?=8 >9>;A

Receivables for current taxes A9=?@ ?9@8;

Receivables from employees >? ;=

Receivables from pensions agencies 7=? 7A8

Provisions for Depreciation of other Receivables 6 6>=>

Other receivables ;98=: >9;@7

Other current receivables from third parties <0355: <9356<

Other current receivables from third parties equal to 35 million euros (37 million euros 
in 2018) decreased, mainly due to the decrease in VAT receivables.

The breakdown of trade and other receivables (including provisions for impairment of 
receivables) by maturity is shown in the following table:

-./.0/05.1 Past due Not yet due

Less than . year More than . year Less than . year More than . year Total

Trade receivables  ;>9B?@  ::?  @:98@B  >@  =A9=;: 

Other receivables  6  6  7=9A>?  @9;?;  @B9;BA

Total 573621 442 273442  13760 ::3470
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-./.0/05.2 Past due Not yet due

Less than . year More than . year Less than . year More than . year Total

Trade receivables  ?9BA;  6  8;9?BA  7B8  ?B9>B8 

Other receivables  6  6  7?9;:@  @9A=;  @79;;= 

Total 236:5 8 56:3:9<  03702 57<3<77 

The balance of receivables is equal to 99.6 million euros. (123.3 million euros in 2018). As 
envisaged in Ifrs 7.37 bands of amounts past due were identified. In the 2019 financial year 
past due receivables amounted to 12.7 million euros and were almost all less than one year 
old.

An analysis was carried out on specific impairment at the reporting date for past due po-
sitions, from which a total impairment loss of 1.2 million euros was identified. (1.6 million 
euros in 2018). In addition, for the purposes of verifying the recoverability of the positions 
recognised as at 31.12.2019, future prospects of recovery in line with the provisions of IFRS 
9 were also taken into account.

Provisions for Depreciations of Receivables
The breakdown of the gross and net value of the receivables is as follows:

-./.0/05.1 -./.0/05.2

Trade receivables from related parties  ;98>@  ;9?7>

Net trade receivables from related parties 53971 532<7

Current trade receivables from third parties  =898A>  8?978=

Provisions for depreciation 6;9>B; 6;97B7

Net current trade receivables from third parties  0430:5  993697

Other receivables from related parties  ?BA  ?BA

Net current other receivables from related parties  26:  26:

Other current receivables from third parties  7=9;;A  7897==

Provisions for Depreciation of other Receivables 6 6>=>

Net current other receivables from third parties <0355: <9356<

Trade receivables and other receivables from related parties refer to the tax consolida-
tion receivable from the parent company Finaid Spa and transactions with Enertronica 
Santerno Spa and its subsidiaries.

Movements in provisions for depreciation for the periods considered can be broken 
down as follows.

-./.0/.2 Increases Decreases Change in 
consolid/ 

scope

Reclassif/ Exchange3rate 
adjustments

-./.0/.1

Provisions 
for impairment
of trade receivables

 ;97B7  ;B: 6;>7  6  6 6?=  ;9>B; 

Provisions 
for impairment 
of other receivables

 >=>  6  6>=>  6  6 6  6 

Total  53000  564 8<90  8  8 820  53765
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Closing inventory (note 13)

Items -./.0/05.1 -./.0/05.2

Raw materials A:97>; ?>9=?B

Work in progress and semi6finished products >89:>8 779A=B

Finished products ;897B@ ;A9=?B

Goods in transit >== @77

Total inventories 5153069 5<03007

Provision for impairment of inventories 6;?9>A= 6;?9;7@

Total inventories 57<3757 552316:

The inventories have a net balance of 123.2 million Euros compared to Euro 118.4 million 
of December 31, 2018.

The increase is mainly due to the storage of bunkering engines following the European 
directive on diesel engine emissions (Reg. 2016/1628 EC).

Movements in provisions for depreciation of inventories are shown in detail below:

Balance as at -. December 05.2  .24.-8 

Provisions set aside  ;9A;B 

Utilisation 6;98;B

Translation differences 67A 

Balance as at <5 December 765: 5237:0 

Cash and cash equivalents (note 14)

-./.0/05.1 -./.0/05.2

Cash  8>  ?; 

Bank current accounts and deposits  8:9B@?  7=9=7: 

Total  943576  <03459 

The constraints on cash and cash equivalents in the various companies of the Carraro 
Group as at 31 December 2019 are shown in the table below:

Currency Constraint
in Currency

Equivalent
in euros

Group company    

Carraro India Ltd<  Inr  =9:B?  8B 

Carraro India Ltd<  Inr  ;9;>A  ;@ 

Carraro India Ltd<  Inr  :?  ; 

Total constrained  
cash and cash equivalents

  43260  20 

Constrained cash and cash equivalents amounted to 0.09 million euros and refer to guar-
antees provided in India to local public entities.
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Shareholders’ equity (note 15)

-./.0/05.1 -./.0/05.2

;) Share Capital  @;9@=7  @;9@=7 

>) Other Reserves  898=:  ;@9?A@ 

7) Profits/(losses) brought forward  6  6 

@) Cash flow hedge reserve  ;;7  >B 

=) Provision for discounting employee benefits  >?@  @;? 

:) Foreign currency translation reserve :9@8: 6;9>8@ 

8) Result for the period pertaining to the group  ?9;>;  ;>9;?8 

Group shareholders’ equity  41376<  4934:2 

?) Minority interests  A9;B;  A978: 

Total shareholders’ equity  9<3<61  993691 

The Shareholders’ Meeting of Carraro Spa held on 11 April 2019 resolved to allocate the 
profit for 2018, equal to 8,022,233.92 euros, as shown below:

› 401,111.70 euros to the Legal Reserve;
› 7,621,122.22 euros to dividends.
The Shareholders’ Meeting also resolved to distribute additional dividends as follows:
› 1,844,339.81 euros drawing on previous years’ profits;
› 556,165.43 euros drawing on the extraordinary reserve.
The share capital is set at 41,452,543.60 euros, fully paid-up, divided into 79,716,430 or-

dinary shares with a par value of 0.52 euros. The company has issued a single category of 
ordinary shares which do not give the right to a fixed dividend.

No other financial instruments which assign equity and investment rights have been is-
sued.

No new treasury shares were purchased in 2019. The overall investment therefore 
amounts to 6.666 million euros.

Other reserves
The item “Other reserves” of 7.756 million euros, includes the reserves of Carraro Spa 

relating to profits not distributed or carried forward and others as follows:
› 7.926 million euros relating to the share premium reserve;
› 5.949 million euros relating to the legal reserve;
› 0.092 million euros relating to the future capital increase reserve;
› 1.234 million euro relating to the extraordinary reserve and profits carried forward;
› less 6.666 million euros for deduction of the reserve corresponding to treasury share 

purchase;
› 22.200 million euros relating to other Ias reserves;
› less 22.795 million euros arising from the reduction in the shareholders’ equities of 

consolidated companies with respect to the corresponding carrying amounts of equity 
investments and consolidation adjustments.

Other Ias/Ifrs reserves
This includes the values arising from application of the criterion prescribed for cash flow 

hedging of 0.1 million euros.
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Provision for discounting employee benefits
This reserve, which is negative amounting to 0.28 million euros, includes Employee ben-

efit actuarial gains/losses, as provided for by Ias 19 Revised.
For further details, see section 3.3 “Accounting standards and measurement criteria”.

Foreign currency translation reserve
This reserve, which is positive at 6.48 million euros, is used to record exchange di!erenc-

es arising from translation of the financial statements of foreign subsidiaries.
It should be noted that, as required by Ias 1 Revised paragraph 83, the movements in the 

period of the foreign currency translation reserve were recognised in the statement of com-
prehensive income and other capital reserves, as detailed below:

-./.0/.2 Changes 
in the 

statement of 
comprehensive 

income 
profit reserves

Changes 
in 

shareholders 
equity 

capital reserves

Changes 
in 

shareholders 
equity 

profit reserves

Changes 
by area

-./.0/.1

Exchange reserve 
of the parent company’s 
shareholders

6;9>8@ 6;9::8  ;A@  A9>>7 6 :9@8: 

Exchange reserve 
of minority interests

 6 E  6  6  6  6 

Translation reserve 853791 853449  5:1  :377< 8 43194 

Minority interests
For an analysis of the change in minority interests, see paragraph 2.2.

Financial liabilities (note 16)
As at 31 December 2019, there was full compliance with all of the financial parameters 

provided for in the regulations on the bond issue (“Incurrence Covenants”) and in the bank-
ing agreement envisaged by the Agreement with BPM and Carraro International Se. signed 
on 18.2.2018, by the agreement with ING signed on 08.03.2018 and by the Agreement with 
San Paolo Imi signed on 30.09.2019.

In particular:
› the ratio of net financial position of management to Adjusted Ebitda at 31 December 

2019 was 2.81.
› The limit of the parameter contractually provided for the bond loan for that date is 

3.50.
› The limit of the parameter contractually provided in the Bank Agreements for that 

date is 3.30.
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The classification of financial liabilities is shown below:

-./.0/05.1 -./.0/05.2

Non8current bonds  5943969  5943515 

Medium/long6term loans  ;=9?BA ;B9>7@ 

Medium/long6term lease payables 6 Ifrs ;:  ;9==A 6

Non8current financial liabili ties  593<42  5637<1  

Fair value of non6current interest rate derivatives  >; @ 

Other non8current financial liabilities  75  1  

Non8current financial liabilities  5:136:4 5243<9:  

Medium6/long6term loans – short6term portion  @9@B@  >9:B8 

Loans to others  A9:8=  ;>977B 

Lease payables from rights of use 6 Ifrs ;:  A?? 6

Current financial liabilities  503649  513:<9 

Fair value of interest rate derivatives  6  6 

Fair value of exchange rate derivatives  ;@>  7AA 

Other current financial liabilities  >9:=>  >98B; 

Other current financial liabilities  739:1  <3566 

Current financial liabilities  593245  5236<9 

Short-term loans include current accounts payable and loans taken out during 2019, with 
a short-term maturity.

Medium- and long-term loans are presented below, divided into short-term portion, me-
dium-term portion and portion at more than 5 years. 

Company up to one year from . to 6 years more than 6 years Total 
-./.0/05.1

nominal 
value

amort< cost 
and 

exchange 
impact

nominal 
value

amort< cost 
and 

exchange 
impact

nominal 
value

amort< cost 
and 

exchange 
impact

Carraro India Pvt Ltd  79;A?  6  89:=>  6  6  6  ;B9?=B 

Carraro Argentina Sa  7  6  6  6  6  6  7 

Siap Spa  :A7  6  >98B8  6  @97?A  6  898?A 

Carraro Drive Tech Spa  @8;  6  ;9B=;  6  6  6  ;9=>> 

Carraro Spa  7A  6  ;B  6  6  6  @A 

Totale  13161  8  553176  8  13<2:  8  76375< 

The following table provides further detailed information on the financial liabilities il-
lustrated above. For an analysis of the maturities of trade payables see Note 17, while a de-
scription of how the Group manages liquidity risk is included in paragraph 3.3.  

Company Lender Short3term 
portion as 
at -./.0/.1

Medium/
long3term 
portion as 
at -./.0/.1

Expiry Rate Rate type Currency

Carraro India Kotak Mahindra 
Bank Ltd

 A7=  >9?B: >7 Dec A<BB% variable Inr

Carraro India Idbi Bank  =7=  ;9778 >7 Jun 7<8=% variable Euro

Carraro India Idbi Bank  8A  6 >@ Mar ;><8=% variable Inr
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Company Lender Short3term 
portion as 
at -./.0/.1

Medium/
long3term 
portion as 
at -./.0/.1

Expiry Rate Rate type Currency

Carraro India Axis  ;9:@A  79=BA >@ Dec ?<:A% variable Inr

Carraro Argentina HSBC  7  6 >B Sep >@<BB% variable Ars

Siap Banca  
di Cividale

 >A=  AB= >7 Mar ;<@=% variable Euro

Siap Banca  
di Cividale

 >BA  :9B:; 7= Jan B<?=% variable Euro

Siap Fraer Leasing  >:  >@ >; Nov ;<8=% variable Euro

Siap Fraer Leasing  >:  >? >> Jan ;<8=% variable Euro

Siap Fraer Leasing  :?  8? >> Feb ;<8=% variable Euro

Siap De Lage Landen  :A  6 >B Jun 7<8=% fisso Euro

Carraro Drive Tech Spa Semalbipiemme  >;  7A >> Oct ;<AB% variable Euro

Carraro Drive Tech Spa Semalbipiemme  @>  A7 >7 Feb ;<A>% variable Euro

Carraro Drive Tech Spa Semalbipiemme  @@  ;BA >7 May ;<A?% variable Euro

Carraro Drive Tech Spa Fraer Leasing  A@  ;7 >; Feb ;<8=% variable Euro

Carraro Drive Tech Spa Fraer Leasing  78  => >> May ;<8=% variable Euro

Carraro Drive Tech Spa Alba Leasing  8@  >;: >7 Oct ;<8>% variable Euro

Carraro Drive Tech Spa Alba Leasing  ;=  => >@ Apr ;<8>% variable Euro

Carraro Drive Tech Spa Alba Leasing  ;@  @? >@ May ;<8>% variable Euro

Carraro Drive Tech Spa Alba Leasing  ;>>  @B; >@ May ;<8>% variable Euro

Carraro Drive Tech Spa Alba Leasing  ?  >A >@ May ;<8>% variable Euro

Carraro Spa Selmabipiemme 
Leasing

 ?  ;B >> Mar ;<8>% variable Euro

Carraro Spa IBM Italia Servizi 
Finanziari

 7;  6 >B Jan ;<AB% variable Euro

Total =  13161 50326: = = = =

As required by the Amendments to Ias 7, disclosures on the changes in financial liabilities 
are presented below, with indication of cash and non-cash movements:

Financial liabilities -./.0/.2 Cash 
Flow

Reclassif/ Other 
changes

Change in 
consolidation 

scope

Exchange 
impact

-./.0/.1

Gross non6current loans 
payable

 ;AB9>77  ;;9;:B 6@9@=7 6;;  ;9==A 6;9;>;  ;A897:? 

Gross current loans 
payable

 ;@9A7: 6=9>7>  @9@=7  6    AA; 6?>  ;=9B:8 

Total loans payable  760354:  03:72  8   855  73006 85376<  75731<0 

Amortised cost 679?=8  6    6    =:: E  6   679>A7 

Other non6current 
financial liabilities

 @ 6>@  6    @; E  6    >; 

Other current financial 
liabilities

 >98B; 6>987:  6    >9:?8 E  6    >9:=> 

Financial liabilities  7613659  <3542  8    <372<  73006 85376<  7553250 
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The net financial position is broken down below:

Net financial position -./.0/05.1 -./.0/05.2

Non6current bonds 6;8:98B8 6;8:9;@; 

Current bonds  6  6 

Bonds? 85943969 85943515 

Non6current loans payable 6;897:? 6;B9>7@ 

Current loans payable 6;=9B:8 6;@9A78 

Other non6current financial liabilities 6>; 6@ 

Other current financial liabilities 6>9:=> 6>98B; 

Financial liabilities? 8<03562 8793294 

Current loans and receivables  ;9@=:  >9?=@ 

Other current financial assets  7??  7A: 

Financial assets?  53211  <3706 

Cash  8>  ?; 

Bank current accounts and deposits  8:9B@?  7=9=7: 

Cash and cash equivalents?  943576  <03459 

Net financial position* 85<<3205 85403506 

Non6current loans and receivables  :9=:>  897A8 

Other non6current financial assets  ;9;>=  ;9;8> 

Non6current leases 6 Ifrs ;:  ;9==A 

Current leases 6 Ifrs ;:  A?? 

Net financial position of operations 857<3459 85043025 

of which payables/(receivables)? = =

non6current 6;?@9?=B 6;889?;B 

current  :;9>77  >;9>>A 
* Net financial debt drawn up in accordance with the framework provided for by Recommendation Esma/>B;7/7;A

In January 2018, the Company issued a 3.5% fixed-rate senior unsecured bond of 180 mil-
lion euros - maturing in 2025 - listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and on the Mot.

The e!ect of the amortised cost on this item amounted to 3.293 million euros at 31 De-
cember 2019.

Carraro Group medium- and long-term banking credit facilities amounted to a total of 
125.74 million euros, against a utilisation of 9.67 million euros. The medium- and long-term 
banking credit facilities amounted to a total of 109.17 million euros, against a utilisation of 
20.22 million euros.

The rate terms vary according to the country of usage and can be summarised as follows:
› Europe: 1.50 – 2%
› India: 9 - 10.50%

Fair Value
The fair value of medium/long-term financial liabilities, taking account of the fact that 

these are almost exclusively for variable-rate funding and that the terms being renegotiat-
ed with the banking counterparties are in line with the average levels for the market and 
the segment – even considering the residual volatility of the markets and the relative un-
certainty in identifying “reference” conditions – as measured is not significantly di!erent 
overall from the carrying amounts.
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Trade payables and other payables (note 17)

-./.0/05.1 -./.0/05.2

From third parties ;;= >8B

Other non8current payables 550 796

Trade payables and other non8current payables 550 796

From related parties >?B >8?

From third parties ;@A9??A ;:B9:;B

Current trade payables 506354: 5463222

From related parties AB ;=;

From third parties :?9A?? 789;A;

Other current payables 4:3692 <93<17

Trade payables and other current payables 75:3719 5:237<6

Trade payables do not produce interest and on average are settled at 120 days.
Other payables due to third parties can be analysed as follows:

-./.0/05.1 -./.0/05.2

VAT payables A9B>; :9;7@

Other tax payables 7=: =>?

Amounts due to pensions agencies @9;B7 79A??

Amounts due to employees ;;9?@= ;>9>8B

Irpef (personal income tax) employees & professionals 79BBA >9AAA

Board of Directors ;9>;? ;98>B

Other payables 7A9@7: A9==>

Other current payables 423:22 <935:5

The increase in other current payables to third parties is mainly due to advances received 
from customers for the purchase by the company of engines (called bunkering engines) 
intended to be installed on new generation tractors that will be produced in subsequent 
years; for more details, see note 13.

With regard to the Indian company, a tax dispute is underway following disputes by the 
local tax authorities over a number of years, mainly relating to the benchmark used for 
transfer pricing and the evidence of the services and related benefits received by the Indian 
plant for the deductibility of royalties and intra-group services. Extensive documentation 
has already been submitted in court in support of the defence arguments of the company. 

Supported by the opinions of its tax consultants, the risk of losing the case in court in 
relation to the claims of the Indian financial administration is estimated to be possible for 
a total of 8.6 million euros. Considering the estimated degree of risk, it was not considered 
necessary to allocate a risk provision.
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The following table shows an analysis of trade and other payables by maturity:

-./.0/05.1 Past due Not yet due

Less than 
. year

More than 
. year

Less than 
. year

More than 
. year

Total

Trade payables  ;;9;?B  A;>  ;7?9B:B  ;8  506354:

Other payables  6  6  :A9B8?  ;;=  4:35:< 

Total  553526  :57  76935<2  5<7  75:3<47 

-./.0/05.2 Past due Not yet due

Less than 
. year

More than 
. year

Less than 
. year

More than 
. year

Total

Trade payables  ;79=A>  ;9>;@  ;@:9B?>  6  5463222 

Other payables  6  6  7897@>  >8B  <93457 

Total  5<30:7  53751  52<3171  796  5:23066 

Current taxes payables (note 18)

-./.0/05.1 -./.0/05.2

Current taxes payable =977; 89?:@

Current tax payable 03<<5 93241

Employee severance indemnities and retirement benefits (note 19)
Provision for severance indemnity and retirement benefits

-./.0/05.1 -./.0/05.2

Opening severance indemnities in accordance with Ias 5: 231:4 :3761

Utilisation of employee severance indemnities 68A@ 6::B

Employee severance indemnities transferred to other companies 6@@ 6=::

Employee severance indemnities transferred from other companies @@ =::

Interest cost :; ?7

Actuarial gains/losses @7@ 6;7;

Change in consolidation scope 6 6

Closing severance indemnities in accordance with Ias 5: 235:9 231:4 

The severance indemnity, calculated according to current Italian laws, is treated for ac-
counting purposes as a defined-benefit fund and as such is recalculated at the end of each 
accounting period according to a statistical-actuarial criterion which also takes account of 
the e!ects of financial discounting.

The actuarial valuation of this obligation is carried out according to the actuarial crite-
rion of the “projected unit credit method” with the support of the data issued by Istat, the 
Inps and the Ania. The parameters used are as follows: 1) annual discount rate: 0.37%, 2) 
personnel rotation rate 5%, 3) annual inflation index 1.2%, 4) advances rate 2%, 5) remuner-
ation increase rate 2.4%.
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The accounting treatment of employee benefits recorded in the financial statements 
complies with Ias 19 Revised for defined-benefit plans. For further details, see section 3.3.

Termination benefits are benefits to employees regulated by the laws in force in Italy and 
recognised in the financial statements of Italian companies.

On the basis of the changes introduced in Law 296/06, with e!ect from 30 June 2007, 
termination benefits maturing after 1 January 2007 must be paid into a specific treasury re-
serve established at the pensions agency Inps, or, if the employee so chooses, into a special 
complementary pension fund. There are no more provisions for termination benefits with 
these contributions.

Sensitivity analysis Ias 19 revised
The table below indicates the values of the Employee benefits provision as at 31.12.2018 

calculated in the case of changes in actuarial assumptions reasonably possible at that date 
with the following variables:

› turnover frequency
› discount rate (taken from the Iboxx Corporate AA 7-10 index)
› inflation rate

Turnover
frequency

Inflation
rate

Discount 
rate

.% 3.% C5406% 35406% C5406% 35406%

Provisions for employee benefits 7;<;><>B;A ?9;@7 ?9>=8 ?9>?? ?9;BA ?9B== ?97@=

Pension/retirement funds
Pension funds and similar for 1.6 million euros. (1.2 mln euros as at 31.12.2018) refer to 

Argentine, Indian and Chinese personnel. 

Opening 
-./.0/05.2

Increases Decreases Change in 
consolidation 

scope

Change in 
currency

Closing 
-./.0/05.1

Pension and similar funds  53546  7? 68>  6  @@:  53097 

Number of employees
The number of employees refers only to the fully consolidated companies and is divided 

into categories:

Employees -./.0/05.2 Changes -./.0/05.1

Executives >@ > >:

Clerical staff :8? >= 8B7

Factory workers >9;B@ 6?? >9B;:

Temporary workers @:B 6;;7 7@8

Total as at <5;57 <3744 8591 <36:7
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Provisions for risks and liabilities (note 20)
The item can be broken down as follows:

Opening 
situation

Increases Decreases Reclassif/ Exchange3
rate adjust/

Closing 
situation

Non8current portion = = = = = =

;) Warranty  797B@  6  6 67B? 68  >9A?A 

>) Costs of legal claims  =:  6  6  6  6  =: 

7) Renovation and convers<  6  6  6  6  6  6 

@) Other provisions  ?@7  >?A 6>=; 6; 6;8A  8B; 

Total  1376<  72: 8705 8<6: 8524  <3914 

Current portion = = = = = =

;) Warranty  ;B9A@7  :9=B8 6@97A:  7B? 6@=  ;797;8 

>) Costs of legal claims  ?=;  AA 6@7B  ; 6:B  @:; 

7) Renovation and convers<  ;9::?  7=8 67A8  6 6;@=  ;9@?7 

@) Other provisions  @9>:;  ?=7 6@9>:;  6  ;=  ?:? 

Total  59397<  93254 8:3121  <6: 87<0  54357: 

Warranty reserve
From the product warranty reserve, 4.4 million euros was used for customer claims ac-

cepted and the reserve was increased by 6.6 million euros on the basis of the expected war-
ranty costs which will be incurred in relation to the sales made. 

Provision for costs of legal claims
The provision for costs of legal claims refers to tax liabilities that have been defined or 

are being defined and litigation concerning employees.

Provision for restructuring and reconversion
The detailed movements of provisions for restructuring are shown below:

Provisions 
-./.0/.2

Increases Decreases Reclassif/ Exchange3
rate adjust/

Provisions 
-./.0/.1

Carraro Spa  >AB  6  6  6  6  >AB 

Carraro Drive Tech Spa  6  6 6  6  6  6 

Siap Spa  7@;  6  6  6  6  7@; 

Driveservice Srl  :7=  6 6>A@  6  6  7@; 

Carraro Argentina Sa  @B>  7=8 6;B7  6 6;@=  =;; 

Total  53442  <09 8<:9  8 8510  5312< 

Other provisions
The item “Other provisions” includes amounts recognised for individual companies for 

future expenses and liabilities. 
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7. Commitments and risks

Items -./.0/05.1 -./.0/05.2

Guarantees given >9=:B9887 ?98=@9@B8

Guarantees granted on behalf of subsidiaries and associates are detailed below:

In favour of On behalf of Expiry Amount 
of guarantee at 

-./.0/05.1

Amount 
used at 

-./.0/05.2

Banco BPM 
(formerly Pop Verona) 

Elettronica Santerno Spa On demand 87=9BBB 87=9BBB

Intesa 
(formerly Cassa di Risp 
Veneto)

Elettronica Santerno Spa On demand ;9A>B9BBB ?@=9887

Intesa 
(formerly Bca Pop Vicenza )

Elettronica Santerno Spa On demand A?B9BBB A?B9BBB

Total = = = 73046399<

8. Transactions with related parties (note 21)

The Carraro Group is controlled directly by Finaid Spa, which as at 31.12.2019 held 
35.3949% of the shares outstanding. 

Carraro Spa and all Italian subsidiaries are included in the tax consolidation area of the 
parent company Carraro Spa. The charges/income deriving from the transfer of the Ires 
taxable base are booked under current taxes. 

The transactions between Carraro Spa. and its subsidiaries which are a#liated entities of 
Carraro Spa, were eliminated in the consolidated financial statements and are not pointed 
out in these notes.

The details of the transactions between Carraro Group and other a#liated companies 
according to principle Ias 24 and Consob requirements, are indicated below.

@ Financial and commercial 
transactions

Economic
transactions

Related 
parties 

Financ/ 
assets

Trade 
receiv/ 

and other 
receiv/

Trade 
payables 

and other 
payables

Sales 
revenues

Purch/ 
of goods 

and 
materials

Purch/
of 

services

Other 
income 

and 
expenses

Other 
financial 

income

Purch/ 
of 

assets

Finaid Srl  6  ?:@  AB  A  6  6  6  6  6 

Enertronica
Santerno Spa

=9;:7  A@7  >?B  ;?  6 6  6>@ 6  6 

Elettronica 
Santerno Ind< 
e Com Ltd<

 6  ;;;  6  6  6  6  6  6  6 

Santerno 
South Africa 
Pty Ltd

 6  ;;=  6  6  6  6  6  6  6 

Santerno Usa  6  =BB  6  6  6  6  6  6  6 

Total  0304<  730<<  <96  79  8  8 871 8  8 
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9. Financial instruments

9.1AGeneral summary of the effects on the Income Statement 
deriving from financial instruments

-./.0/05.1 Financ/
income

Financ/ 
expenses

Positive 
exchange 

diff/

Negative 
exchange 

diff/

Suspension
Costs 

Revenues

&) @"A&A$"&% &##(B#? = = = = =

&;5) Cash and Cash Equivalents?

Bank accounts9 positive balance  ;;7  6  6  6  6 

&;7) Non8derivative Financial Instruments?

F<><;) Financial instruments at fair value (Fvtpl)[

F<><>) Financial instruments held to maturity (Htm)[

F<><7) Loans and receivables (L&R)[

F<><7<;) Loans[

Loans receivable  6  6  6  6  6 

F<><7<>) Other assets[ E E E E

Trade receivables  6  6  ;9A=7 6;9>?;  6 

Other financial assets  ?>;  6  ;9@BB  6  6 

F<><@) Financial instruments available for sale (Avs)[

&;<) Derivative Financial Instruments?

F<7<;) Hedging derivatives[

F<7<;<>) Cash Flow Hedging Derivatives on curren<[

Fair value through profit or loss  6  6 =  6  6 

Fair value in shareholders’ equity  6  6  6  6 ;=8

Profit realised  6  6  ;9>=7  6  6 

F<7<;<>) Cash Flow Hedging Derivatives 
on interest rates[

Profit realised  6  6  6  6  6 

F<7<>) Speculative derivatives (Trading)[           

C) @"A&A$"&% %"&C"%"B"(#

C;5) Non8derivative Financial Instruments?

Q<;<;) Financial Instruments at fair value[

Q<;<>) Other Financial Instruments[

Bank accounts# negative balance   6 6A:;  6  6  6 

Trade payables  6  6  ;978B 6>9>7:  6 

Loans payable E 6?9;:B  6  6  6 

Other financial liabilities  6 6;9::A  6 6@>B  6 

C;7) Derivative Financial Instruments?

Q<><;) Hedging derivatives[

Q<><;<;) Cash Flow Hedging Derivatives on curren<[

Fair value through profit or loss  6  6  6 >=A  6 

Fair value in shareholders’ equity  6  6  6  6  6 

Loss realised  6  6  6 6>9>>A  6 

Q<><;<>) Cash Flow Hedging Derivatives 
on interest rates[

Loss realised           

Q<><>) Speculative derivatives (Trading)[    6       

Total  :<1 85639:6  03:25 803:69  509 

A
m

ou
nt

s 
in

 E
ur

o/
00

0



Annual Report !"#$ #"#

-./.0/05.2 Financ/
income

Financ/ 
expenses

Positive 
exchange 

diff/

Negative 
exchange 

diff/

Suspension
Costs 

Revenues

&) @"A&A$"&% &##(B#? = = = = =

&;5) Cash and Cash Equivalents?

Bank accounts9 positive balance  ;8@  6  6  6  6 

&;7) Non8derivative Financial Instruments?

F<><;) Financial instruments at fair value (Fvtpl)[

F<><>) Financial instruments held to maturity (Htm)[

F<><7) Loans and receivables (L&R)[

F<><7<;) Loans[

Loans receivable  :>  6  6  6  6 

F<><7<>) Other assets[ E E E E

Trade receivables  6  6  =9@;7 6>9=>=  6 

Other financial assets  ;9ABB  6  79A>;  6  6 

F<><@) Financial instruments available for sale (Avs)[

&;<) Derivative Financial Instruments?

F<7<;) Hedging derivatives[

F<7<;<>) Cash Flow Hedging Derivatives on curren<[

Fair value through profit or loss  6  6 67=B  6  6 

Fair value in shareholders’ equity  6  6  6  6 >8

Profit realised  6  6  ;9:A7  6  6 

F<7<;<>) Cash Flow Hedging Derivatives 
on interest rates[

Profit realised  6  6  6  6  6 

F<7<>) Speculative derivatives (Trading)[  6  6  6  6  6 

C) @"A&A$"&% %"&C"%"B"(#

C;5) Non8derivative Financial Instruments?

Q<;<;) Financial Instruments at fair value[

Q<;<>) Other Financial Instruments[

Bank accounts# negative balance   6 6A@:  6  6  6 

Trade payables  6  6  ;9B=@ 6:9?8A  6 

Loans payable E 6?9BB7  6  6  6 

Other financial liabilities  6 679?78  6 68=B  6 

C;7) Derivative Financial Instruments?

Q<><;) Hedging derivatives[

Q<><;<;) Cash Flow Hedging Derivatives on curren<[

Fair value through profit or loss  6  6  6 67A8  6 

Fair value in shareholders’ equity  6  6  6  6  6 

Loss realised  6  6  6 6>9==8  6 

Q<><;<>) Cash Flow Hedging Derivatives 
on interest rates[

Loss realised  6  6  6  6  6 

Q<><>) Speculative derivatives (Trading)[  6  6  6  6  6 

Total  735<4 8573924  5539<5 85<3562  79 

The source for foreign currency exchange rates is provided by the ECB and the Bank of 
Italy for exchange rates with the Argentinian peso.
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9.2ADerivative financial instruments on currencies

The following tables indicate all the key information relating to the portfolio of deriva-
tive financial instruments on currencies outstanding as at 31.12.2019. These are instruments 
designated to cover:

› foreign currency sales budgets
› imbalances of current receivables and payables in foreign currencies.

A.!Notional values  

Contract Swap (DCS) . Swap (DCS) 0 Total 
notional values

Carraro Spa  6  ?7B  ?7B 

Carraro Drive Tech  >89B>:  =978A  7>9@B= 

Carraro India  6  6  6 

Siap  797A@  ?B8  @9>B; 

Carraro China  6  6  6 

Group Total <5;57;765:  <63176  93654  <931<4

Group Total <5;57;7652  773605  :315<  <53141 
; Instruments hedging foreign currency sales and purchasing budget
> Instruments hedging current receivables and payables in foreign currencies

B.!Reference currencies and expiry dates of contracts

Contract Swap (DCS) . Swap (DCS) 0

Currencies Expiry dates Currencies Expiry dates

Carraro Spa 6 6 Usd/Eur Jan >B

Carraro Drive Tech Usd/Eur 
Cny/Eur 

Inr/Eur

Dec >B Usd/Eur Jan >B

Carraro India 6 6 Inr/Eur Mar ;A

Siap Usd/Eur Mar >; Usd/Eur Jan >B

Carraro China 6 6 6 6
; Instruments hedging foreign currency sales and purchasing budget
> Instruments hedging current receivables and payables in foreign currencies

C.!Fair value

Contract Swap (DCS) . Swap (DCS) 0 Total

Carraro Spa  6  :  : 

Carraro Drive Tech >A  7= :@ 

Carraro India  6 6 6 

Siap 6;@  = 6A 

Carraro China  6  6  6 

Group Total <5;57;765: 50 14 45 

Group Total <5;57;7652  8760  8570  8<<6 
; Instruments hedging foreign currency sales and purchasing budget
> Instruments hedging current receivables and payables in foreign currencies
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D.!Details of fair values

-./.0/05.1 -./.0/05.2

Positive 
fair value

Negative 
fair value

Positive 
fair value

Negative 
fair value

Fair Value/Cash Flow Hedge 
Exchange rate risk 

 >B@ 6;@>  :A  67AA 

E.!Summary of fair values recognised before tax e"ect according to their 
accounting treatment 

FV recognised 
in the income statements

FV recognised 
in net equity

Total

Carraro Spa  :  6  :

Carraro Drive Tech 6=A  ;>7 :@ 

Carraro India 6  6 6 

Siap 6@7  7@ 6A 

Carraro China  6  6  6 

Group Total <5;57;765: 8:4  509 45 

Group Total <5;57;7652  8<02  72  8<<6 

In relation to the positioning in the hierarchy of fair values pursuant to Ifrs 7 par. 27 the 
financial instruments described are classifiable as level 2; there were no transfers of level 
during the period.

The fair values as at 31.12.2019 of financial instruments on exchange rates were calculat-
ed using the forward exchange rate method.

The counterparties with which the contracts are stipulated are leading national and in-
ternational banking institutions.

The financial instruments on currencies are used, on a basis consistent with the financial 
risk management policy adopted by the group, to hedge the risks deriving from exchange 
rate fluctuations and concern sales volumes compared with the budget exchange rate and 
the collections and payment of short and medium-term receivables and payables with re-
spect to the historical value.

For accounting purposes in relation to contracts hedging sales budgets in foreign cur-
rencies e!ective at the reporting date, it should be noted that for the transactions executed, 
especially Domestic Currency Swaps, and in accordance with all the conditions provided 
by the Ias/Ifrs standards, hedge accounting was applied.

With reference to cash-flow hedges (hedging of future cash flows) the related changes 
in fair value are recognised in the equity reserve, net of the tax e!ect, while for fair-value 
hedges (hedging the fair value of assets and liabilities) the related changes in fair value are 
reflected in the income statement, net of the tax e!ect.
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9.3ADerivative financial instruments on interest rates

A.!Notional values and fair values
There are no derivative contracts on interest rates outstanding as at 31 December 2019.
Below is a summary table of the assets and liabilities valued at fair value as at 31 Decem-

ber 2019, as required by Ifrs 13, described in paragraph 3.2:

Level 0
-./.0/05.1

Level 0
-./.0/05.2

Assets

Foreign exchange derivative assets >B@ :A

Total Assets 761 4:

Liabilities

Foreign exchange derivative liabilities ;@> 7AA

Interest rate derivative liabilities 6 6

Total Liabilities 517 <::

Sensitivity analysis
The table below shows the economic and financial e!ects generated by financial state-

ment assets and liabilities (as at 31.12.2019 and 31.12.2018 respectively), in the event of sud-
den changes in the following market variables:

› main foreign currencies with respect to the euro: +/- 10%
› interest rates: +100/-15 “basis points” 
The interest rate oscillation bands represent the average expectations of maximum 

change that the markets currently express. 
The following methods were used:
› for Interest Rate Swaps the discounted cash flow method was applied;
› Domestic Currency Swap contracts were calculated using the forward exchange rate 

method;
The exchange rate risks deriving from translation of the financial statements of foreign 

subsidiaries from local currency into EUR were not considered.  

Balances
as at  -./.0/05.1

Interest rate risk Exchange rate risk

C.% 35/.6% C.5% 3.5%

Financ< 
effect<

Effect 
on equity

Financ< 
effect<

Effect 
on equity

Financ< 
effect<

Effect 
on equity

Financ< 
effect<

Effect 
on equity

Assets

Trade receivables E E E E 6>8; E  =:B E

Other financial assets 6 
derivat< on currencies

E E E E  ;9B;> 679BB7 68@7  >9>=A 

Other financial assets 6 
derivat< on interest rates

E  6 E  6 E E E E

Loans E E E E  6 E  6 E

Cash and cash equiv< E E E E  >?A E 6>?: E

Total gross effect  8  8  8  8  536<6 8<366< 814:  7370: 

Taxes (>@%)  6  6  6  6 6>?7  ?>:  ;>A 6:>; 

Total net effect  8  8  8  8  919 873599 8<16  534<2 
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Balances
as at  -./.0/05.1

Interest rate risk Exchange rate risk

C.% 35/.6% C.5% 3.5%

Financ< 
effect<

Effect 
on equity

Financ< 
effect<

Effect 
on equity

Financ< 
effect<

Effect 
on equity

Financ< 
effect<

Effect 
on equity

Liabilities

Trade payables E E E E  77 E ;;= E

Loans  >9B7B E 67B= E 6;AB E  ;AB E

Total gross effect  736<6  8 8<60  8  8509  8  <60  8 

Taxes (>@%) 6@?8  6  87  6 7?  6 687  6 

Total net effect  5301<  8 87<7  8  855:  8  7<7  8 

Total  5301<  8 87<7  8  472 873599 8562  534<2 

Balances
as at  -./.0/05.2

Interest rate risk Exchange rate risk

C.% 35/.6% C.5% 3.5%

Financ< 
effect<

Effect 
on equity

Financ< 
effect<

Effect 
on equity

Financ< 
effect<

Effect 
on equity

Financ< 
effect<

Effect 
on equity

Assets

Trade receivables E E E E 6;77 E  @8> E

Other financial assets 6 
derivat< on currencies

E E E E  ;98@? 6;9AB= 6>9B?7  ;98B= 

Other financial assets 6 
derivat< on interest rates

E  6 E  6 E E E E

Loans E E E E  6 E  6 E

Cash and cash equiv< E E E E  7;7 E 67B7 E

Total gross effect  8  8  8  8  53:72 853:60 853:51  53960 

Taxes (>@%)  6  6  6  6 6@:7  @=8  @=A 6@BA 

Total net effect  8  8  8  8  53140 853112 853100  537:4 

Liabilities

Trade payables E E E E  7@A E 6;@A E

Loans  =8> E 6?: E 6>>A E  >>A E

Total gross effect  097  8 824  8  576  8  26  8 

Taxes (>@%) 6;78  6  >;  6 6>A  6 6;A  6 

Total net effect  1<0  8 840  8  :5  8  45  8 

Total  1<0  8 840  8  53004 853112 853<:1  537:4 

Positive sign: expense (economic) - decrease (equity)
Negative sign: income (economic) - increase (equity)
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10.4Events subsequent to the reporting date

As is well known, the national and international scenario has been characterised since 
January 2020 by the spread of the Coronavirus and the consequent restrictive measures for 
its containment, implemented by the public authorities of the countries a!ected. 

The virus spread within China in January 2020. The restrictive measures adopted also 
a!ected the Carraro Group’s Chinese plant, causing a reduction in production capacity for 
about one month. However, as of March the plant has essentially resumed normal oper-
ations, with the expectation that the backlog that built up in the previous month will be 
worked through in a short amount of time.

Between the end of February and March, the virus gradually spread to other continents 
and Italy was particularly a!ected. On 22 March 2020, the Italian Government imposed a 
temporary freeze on all “non-essential” production activities until 3 April. The manufac-
ture of agricultural and forestry machinery, trade in parts and accessories for motor vehi-
cles, and the wholesale trade in agricultural supplies, was however deemed to be essential.

As a result of this decree, the production plants in Campodarsego, Maniago and Rovigo 
were closed, while the Poggiofiorito logistics hub (which supplies spare parts) remained 
operational. 

In any case, this site continues to pay close attention to compliance with the medical and 
health regulations issued by the government and the authorities responsible for containing 
the spread of the Coronavirus. The directors will assess the benefits of keeping this logis-
tical hub open, also taking into account procurement from its suppliers and its customers’ 
level of operations.

At the same time, the plants in Pune (India), Buenos Aires (Argentina) and Caixas do Sul 
(Brazil) have been closed since 23 March, in view of similar measures taken by the respec-
tive local governments. 

The continuing spread of the virus worldwide and the stringent measures taken by many 
governments to counter its further spread are a!ecting the prospects for future macro-
economic growth, which is likely to have repercussions on the Italian and international 
scenario. To o!set the likely economic and financial repercussions, both domestically and 
internationally, many countries’ governments have already taken steps to support business-
es and the economy, while further measures are currently under discussion.

The events described above have been considered as non-adjusting events on the amounts 
reported in the 2019 financial statements, according to the definition provided by IAS 10 
§21, as they occurred after the end of the financial year. 

The directors monitor these uncertainties on a daily basis through a mitigation plan for 
the company’s business, paying special attention to strategic procurement, close analysis of 
daily expenditure and investments, and non-stop monitoring of accounts receivable (cus-
tomer sales and payments).

However, it is not currently possible to predict how this situation will evolve and the con-
sequences it will have on the macroeconomic scenario, nor is it possible to determine the 
possible impacts that could result in adjustments to the carrying amounts of the Group’s 
assets and liabilities.

In particular, these uncertainties could a!ect mainly, but not exclusively, the financial 
statement items subject to valuation, a description of which can be found in the section 
“Discretionary valuations and significant accounting estimates” in the notes. Although the 
financial-market turbulence caused by the Coronavirus emergency has led to a sharp and 
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widespread fall in share prices, leading to a significant reduction in the market value of the 
Company’s shares compared to 31 December 2019, the present value is higher than that 
implicit in consolidated shareholders’ equity at 31 December 2019.

11.4Information in accordance with article 149-duodecies of the Consob 
Issuers’ Regulations

The auditing of the Carraro Group’s financial statements is carried out by Deloitte & 
Touche Spa.

The following is a summary of the fees and charges of the independent auditors for the 
2019 financial year, relating to audit services and other services provided, net of incidental 
expenses charged. 

 
05.1 05.2

Accounting audit E E

Carraro Spa 7=; @;7

Subsidiaries @B; @;;

Total independent auditing services 907 271

Other services

Carraro Spa >= =B

Subsidiaries 7; >B=

Total other services 04 700

Total fees 262 5369:

A
m

ou
nt

s 
in

 E
ur

o/
00

0



Consolidated Financial Statements#"*

Equity investments held by Directors, 
Statutory auditors and General Managers 
and immediate family members

Name and surname Subsidiary  
companyB 
Carraro Spa

No/ of shares 
held as at 

-./.0/05.2

No/ 
of shares 

purchased

No/ 
of shares 

sold

No/ of shares 
held as at 

-./.0/05.1

Mario Carraro Directly held  @978@9:@B  6  67988@9:@B  :BB9BBB

through Finaid Spa  >?9>;=9=;A  6  6  >?9>;=9=;A 

Enrico e Tomaso Carraro  6  7988@9:@B  6  7988@9:@B 

Julia Dora Koranyi Arduini  >;9:>A988A  6  6  >;9:>A988A 

Alberto Negri  @:9@:B  6  6  @:9@:B 

Enrico Gomiero  ;=9?==  6  6  ;=9?== 

Enrico Carraro
Chairman
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Annex to the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements 3#.#!.!"#$
Transparency obligations under 
Law No. ,-D of -.,E 
(Annual Law on the Market and Competition)

The following is a list of grants, contributions, paid assignments and, in any case, eco-
nomic advantages of any kind received by public administrations and other entities as de-
fined in article 1, subsection 125 of Law 124 of 2017, which the companies belonging to the 
Carraro Group and therefore included in the scope of consolidation received during the 
2019 financial year:

Name and tax number of the recipient: Carraro Spa - (('('(%('*$
Name of the supplying party: European Social Fund ESF;
Sum collected: #),%*" euros;
Payment Purpose: Personnel Training

Name and tax number of the recipient: Carraro Spa - (('('(%('*$
Name of the supplying party: Customs Agency
Sum collected: )#,)+% euros
Payment Purpose: Refund of customs duties. Reference Law No. +$& of ()/("/#&+% - Law No.
""$ of (*/##/#&"$ - Presidential Decree No. "** of ("/(&/#&"".

During the 2019 financial year, the company Carraro Spa, has:
› obtained relief from contributions (as provided for by Law 205/2017, Ampal Decree 

no. 3/2018, Law 190/2014 and Law 280/2015) for 64,276 euros;
› o!set tax credits deriving from investments in Research and Development (as pro-

vided for by Legislative Decree 145/2013 and subsequent amendments) for 1,081,516 
euros.

In addition, in the course of the 2019 financial year, the company Carraro Spa availed 
itself of facilities/benefits:

› Personnel-related: among the various amounts, we point out the sums advanced re-
lating to the integration of services to support income from the company on behalf 
of Inps and Inail (illness, maternity, permits and leave under Law 104, breastfeeding 
permits, blood donations, marriage leave, family allowances, accident). 

› Fiscal in nature: among others, the facilities for the earthquake bonus, superdeprecia-
tion/hyperdepreciation/Ace (aid to economic growth) are worth mentioning.

Name and tax number of the recipient: Carraro Drive Tech Spa - (%$(*#*('*'
Name of the supplying party: European Social Fund ESF;
Sum collected: %,)&% euros
Payment Purpose: Personnel Training
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Name and tax number of the recipient: Carraro Drive Tech Spa - (%$(*#*('*'
Name of the supplying party: Customs Agency
Sum collected: "(,#'+ euros
Payment Purpose: Refund of customs duties. Reference Law No. +$& of ()/("/#&+% - Law No.
""$ of (*/##/#&"$ - Presidential Decree No. "** of ("/(&/#&"".

Name and tax number of the recipient: Carraro Drive Tech Spa - (%$(*#*('*'
Name of the supplying party: Customs Agency
Sum collected: '#%,$++ euros
Payment Purpose: Tax credit for Energy Products shipped to foreign countries, Reference
Legislative Decree no. )(% of '+/#(/#&&) and Ministerial Decree no. +*& of #'/#'/#&&+.

Name and tax number of the recipient: Carraro Drive Tech Spa - (%$(*#*('*'
Name of the supplying party: INPS National Social Security Institute 
Sum collected: $',&)* euros
Payment Purpose: “Youth Employment” incentive of ()/(&/'(#* - Directorial Decree of the
Ministry of Labour and Social Policy No. $ of ('/(#/'(#* - EU Regulation No. #%(" #*.#'.'(#$
-De minimis

During the 2019 financial year, Carraro Drive Tech Spa obtained contribution relief (as 
provided for by Law 205/2017, Law 190/2014 and Law 280/2015) for 96,186 euros.

In addition, during the 2019 financial year, the company Carraro Drive Tech Spa benefit-
ed from special terms and conditions:

› Personnel-related: among the various amounts, we point out the sums advanced re-
lating to the integration of services to support income from the company on behalf 
of Inps and Inail (illness, maternity, permits and leave under Law 104, breastfeeding 
permits, blood donations, marriage leave, family allowances, accident). In addition, 
the company has advanced on behalf of Inps the social shock absorber of the solidarity 
contract for the Poggiofiorito plant; 

› Fiscal in nature: among others, the facilities for superdepreciation/hyperdeprecia-
tion/Ace (aid to economic growth) are worth mentioning.

Name and tax number of the recipient: Siap Spa - ((("%)$(&$'
Name of the supplying party: European Social Fund ESF (Fondimpresa)
Sum collected: $*,""" euros
Payment Purpose: Personnel Training

During the 2019 financial year, the company Siap Spa, has:
› obtained relief from contributions (as provided for by Law 205/2017, Ampal Decree 

no. 3/2018, Law 190/2014 and Law 28/2015) for 83,419 euros;
› o!set tax credits deriving from investments in Research and Development (as provid-

ed for by Legislative Decree 145/2013 and subsequent amendments) for 39,408 euros;
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In addition, in the course of the 2019 financial year, the company Siap Spa availed itself 
of facilities/benefits:

› Personnel-related: among the various amounts, we point out the sums advanced re-
lating to the integration of services to support income from the company on behalf 
of Inps and Inail (illness, maternity, permits and leave under Law 104, breastfeeding 
permits, blood donations, marriage leave, family allowances, accident);

› Fiscal in nature: among others, the facilities for superdepreciation/hyperdeprecia-
tion/Ace (aid to economic growth) are worth mentioning;

› Of a di!erent nature: among other things, the tari! concessions provided for ener-
gy-intensive businesses (energy-intensive businesses), as per the Ministerial Decree of 
5 April 2013 of the Ministry of the Economy and Finance, should be noted.

In the 2019 financial year, the company Driveservice Srl benefited from employee bene-
fits: among others, the Inps and Inail benefits for sickness, leave under Law 104, maternity, 
blood donations, marriage leave, family allowances. The company has advanced on behalf 
of Inps the social shock absorber of the Cigs. In addition, in the company’s retraining plan, 
the training of personnel provided was supported by a third-party company, which was 
financed through the Abruzzo Region’s Calls for Proposals: “Intervention 6 - Active policies 
for the unemployed and workers in Cigs” and “Line 1 - Workers in Cigs: Work-to-work tran-
sition”.

Enrico Carraro
Chairman
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Certification of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements pursuant to article #56-bis, 
subsection 5 of Legislative Decree 57/#$$7 
(Consolidated Law on Finance) and article 7#-ter of 
Consob Regulation no. ##$8# of #6 May #$$$ 
and subsequent amendments and additions

1. The undersigned Alberto Negri, Chief Executive O#cer, and Enrico Gomiero, Finan-
cial Reporting O#cer of Carraro Spa, also taking into account also the provisions of Article 
154-bis, paragraphs 3 and 4, of Legislative Decree 58 of 24 February 1998, certify:

› the adequacy in relation to the characteristics of the enterprise;
› the e!ective application of the administrative and accounting procedures used to pre-

pare the consolidated financial statements for 2019;

2. In this regard no significant aspects emerged which require disclosure.

3. We can also certify that:

3.1 the consolidated financial statements:
› were prepared in conformity with the applicable international accounting stan-

dards endorsed by the European Community under the terms of Regulation (EC) No. 
1606/2002 of the European Parliament and Council, of 19 July 2002;

› correspond to the accounting records;
› give a true and fair picture of the financial position and performance of the Group and 

of all the companies included in the scope of consolidation;

3.2 the report on operations includes a reliable analysis of the progress and results of 
operations, as well as the situation of the issuer and of the set of companies included in 
the consolidation, together with a description of the key risks and uncertainties they are 
exposed to.

Date: 17 March 2020

Alberto Negri     Enrico Gomiero
Chief Executive O#cer      Financial Reporting O#cer  
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Report of the Board of Statutory Auditors 
for the year 2019 to the shareholders  
of Carraro Spa prepared in accordance with art. 
153 of legislative decree 58/1998 e dell’art. 2429
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Dear�Shareholders,�
During� the� year� ended� 31� December� 2019,� we� carried� out� the� supervisory�

activities� required� by� law� (in� particular� by� Article� 149� of� Legislative� Decree�
58/1998�or� "Consolidated�Finance�Act�–�TUF"),� in�accordance�with� the�Rules�of�
Conduct�of�the�Boards�of�Statutory�Auditors�of�listed�companies�recommended�by�
the� National� Association� of� Certified� Public� Accountants,� the� CONSOB�
recommendations� concerning� corporate� controls� and� activities� of� the� Board� of�
Statutory� Auditors,� the� guidelines� of� the� Code� of� Conduct,� as� well� as� in� our�
capacity�as�the�Internal�Control�and�Auditing�Committee�pursuant�to�Article�19�of�
Legislative�Decree�39/2010.��

The� Board� has� overseen� compliance� with� the� principles� of� sound�
administration,�and�specifically,�the�adequacy�of�the�organisational,�administrative�
and�accounting�structures�used�by�the�Company,�the�effective�operation�of�those�
structures,�and�the�methods�used�to� implement�the�corporate�governance�rules�
as�provided�for�in�the�relevant�laws.�The�Board�also�checked�the�independence�of�
the�independent�auditors�mandated�to�carry�out�the�statutory�audit.��

In�2019�the�Board�of�Statutory�Auditors�held�11�meetings,�some�of�which�were�
held� jointly� with� the� Control,� Risk� and� Sustainability� Committee,� on� topics� of�
common�interest.�The�Board�also�participated:��
- in�eight�meetings�of�the�Board�of�Directors�pursuant�to�Article�149,�paragraph�

2�of�Legislative�Decree�58/98;�
- in� its�collegial�composition,� in�meetings�of�the�Control,�Risk�and�Sustainability�

Committee,�of�which�seven�were�held;�
- represented�by� its�Chairman�and/or�by�the�standing�auditors,� in�the�meetings�

of�the�Appointments�and�Remuneration�Committee;�four�such�meetings�were�
held.�

�
�
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We�monitored�compliance�with�the�law�and�the�Articles�of�Association�without�

any�observations�or� findings� in� compliance�with�applicable� legislation.�We�have�
overseen�compliance�with�reporting�obligations�pertaining�to�regulated�and�inside�
information.�

On�at�least�a�quarterly�basis,�we�received�information�from�the�directors�about�
the� Company’s� activities� and� any� transactions� with� a� significant� effect� on� the�
Company’s� financial� position� and� performance,� and� on� its� subsidiaries.�We� can�
provide� reasonable� assurance� that� the� actions� adopted� and� undertaken� by� the�
Company�conform�to�the�law�and�the�Articles�of�Association.�

The�main�group�reorganisation�activities�and�the�most�significant�events�for�the�
Company� in� 2019,�which� the� Board� of� Statutory� Auditors� deems� necessary� to�
highlight,�are�described�below:��
- in�August� the� Chinese� Joint� Venture� Agrimining� Agricolture� Equipment� Co.�

LtD�was�dissolved�with�the�sale�by�the�subsidiary�Carraro�International�of�the�
entire�stake�held,�corresponding�to�49%�of�the�share�capital;�

- in� December� a� strategic� supply� agreement� was� signed� with� INEOS�
Automotive�for�the�supply�of�front�and�rear�axles�for�a�new�offͲroad�vehicle�
worth�over�420�million�euros�over�more�than�ten�years;�

- in�December�a�loan�for�a�total�of�50�million�euros�was�contracted�with�the�EIB�
to� support� the� Group's� research� and� development� activities,� which� are�
estimated�at�90�million�euros�for�the�threeͲyear�period�2020Ͳ2022.�

�
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On�at�least�a�quarterly�basis,�we�received�information�from�the�directors�about�

the� Company’s� activities� and� any� transactions� with� a� significant� effect� on� the�
Company’s� financial� position� and� performance,� and� on� its� subsidiaries.�We� can�
provide� reasonable� assurance� that� the� actions� adopted� and� undertaken� by� the�
Company�were�not�manifestly�imprudent�or�reckless,�nor�did�they�have�potential�
conflict� of� interests� or� conflict�with� the� resolutions� passed� by� the�meeting� of�
shareholders,�nor�would�they�compromise�the� integrity�of�the�company’s�assets.�
The� resolutions� of� the� Board� of� Directors� are� correctly� executed� by� the� Chief�
Executive�Officer�and�the�top�managers.�

We� became� familiar� with� and�monitored,� within� our� area� of� responsibility,�
compliance� with� the� principles� of� proper� management,� the� adequacy� of� the�
Company’s�organisational�structure,�and�of�regulations�issued�by�the�Company�for�
subsidiaries�pursuant� to�Article�114,�paragraph�2�of�Legislative�Decree�58/1998,�
by�collecting� information� from�relative�responsible�parties�and�meeting�with�the�
independent�auditors�appointed�for�the�statutory�audit.�
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We�maintained� contact�with�our� counterparts� at� the� ItalianͲlaw� subsidiaries,�
obtaining� information�from�their�Boards�of�Statutory�Auditors�for�the�purpose�of�
mutual� exchange� of� relevant� data� and� information.�No� critical� issues� emerged�
from�the�exchange�of�information�with�the�members�of�the�subsidiaries’�Boards�of�
Statutory� Auditors.� We� also� examined� and� obtained� information� on� the�
organisational� and� procedural� activity� carried� out� in� accordance� with� the�
corporate�responsibility�law,�Legislative�Decree�231/2001.�Nothing�significant�that�
would�require�a�mention�in�this�report�emerged�from�the�information�exchanged�
with�the�internal�control�bodies�and�the�Supervisory�Board.��

During� 2019,� the� Company� did� not� carry� out� any� atypical� and/or� unusual�
transactions� with� Group� companies� or� related� parties,� as� defined� in� Consob�
Communication� no.� DEM/6064293� of� 28� July� 2006;� the� Board� of� Statutory�
Auditors�did�not� receive� information�about�such� transactions� from� the�Board�of�
Directors,� the� Independent� Auditors� and� the�Director� in� charge� of� the� internal�
control�and�risk�management�system.�

The� Board� of� Statutory� Auditors� acknowledges� that�management� decisions�
were�therefore�based�on�the�principle�of�correct�information�and�reasonableness.�

We�collected�evidence�concerning�the�adequacy�of�the�composition,�size�and�
operation� of� the� Board� of� Directors� with� reference� to� the� preparation� of� the�
company’s�strategic�guidelines,� the�definition�of� the�group's�corporate�structure�
and� the� existence� of� adequate� information� flows� to� the� Board� of� Directors,�
required�to�monitor�the�performance�of�the�company�and�of�the�group.�

The�Board�of�Directors�considered� the� recommendations�made� in� the�annual�
report�of�the�Corporate�Governance�Committee,�on�the�application�of�the�Code�of�
Conduct.�The�Board�of�Statutory�Auditors�was�informed�on�the�results�of�the�self�
assessment�carried�out�by�the�Board�of�Directors,�and�no�elements�emerged�that�
we�consider�need�to�be�highlighted� in�this�report.�As�recommended�by�the�Code�
of�Conduct� for�Boards�of�Statutory�Auditors�of�Listed�Companies,�we�conducted�
our� selfͲassessment� on� the� composition� and� functioning� of� the� Board,� and�
reported�on�the�outcome,�to�the�Board�of�Directors.�We�also�carried�out�checks�
on�the�continued�existence�of�our�members’�independence�requirements.�

As� required� by� Legislative� Decree� 39/2010,� in� addition� to� coordinating� the�
respective�control�objectives�and�procedures�with� the� Independent�Directors�on�
the� Control,� Risk� and� Sustainability� Committee,� based� on� the� provisions� of� the�
Code� of� Conduct,� this� Board� also� specifically� analysed� the� activities� and� audits�
carried�out�by�Internal�Audit�in�relation�to�financial�reporting�processes.�

The�Board�periodically�exchanged�information�with�the�Chief�Executive�Officer�
and�with� the� top�management�with� reference� to� the�analysis�and�monitoring�of�
the�main� corporate� risks.� In�particular,�meetings�were�held�with� the� company's�
management� regarding� the�methods� of� risk� assessment,� identifying� corrective�
actions,�and�the�adoption�of�those�actions.�

In� our� capacity� as� Internal� Control� and� Accounts� Auditing� Committee,� we�
evaluated� and�monitored� the� adequacy� of� the� internal� control� and� accounting�
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system,�and� the� reliability�of� the�accounting�system� for�correctly�presenting� the�
actions�of�management,�by�obtaining�information�from�responsible�parties�in�the�
various� departments,� examining� company� documents,� evaluating� the� results� of�
Internal� Audit’s� activity� plan,� and� analysing� the� results� of� the� independent�
auditors’� work,� by� overseeing� the� work� of� the� Internal� Control� Manager.� In�
particular:�
- we� checked� the� existence,� regular� updating� and� adequacy� of� internal�

procedures�on� the�main�business�cycles,�as�well�as� the�audit�work�done�by�
Internal�Control;�

- we�monitored�the�adoption�of�administrative�procedures�designed�to�provide�
necessary� information� about� operations� and� the� financial� position� and�
performance�of�companies�established�and�regulated�by�the� laws�of�nonͲEU�
member� states� that� have� significant� relevance,�within� the�meaning� of� the�
combined�provisions�of�art.�36�and�39�of�the�Markets�Regulation;�

- we� ascertained� that� the� information� flows� provided� by� the� nonͲEU�
subsidiaries�were�adequate�for�the�purposes�of�the�auditing�of�the�annual�and�
interim� accounts� as� provided� for� by� art.� 15� of� the� Markets� Regulation�
adopted�with�Consob�resolution�no.�20249�of�28�December�2017.�

With�reference�to�the�outcomes�of�our�specific�activities,�no�elements�emerged�
that�would�need�to�be�mentioned�in�this�report.�

With�regard�to�the�preparation�of�the�NonͲFinancial�Report�(legislative�decree�
254�of�30�December�2016�as�amended�and�the�implementing�regulation�adopted�
by�Consob�in�resolution�no.�20267�18�January�2018),�this�Board:�
- checked� the� structuring� of� the� Company� for� the� purposes� of� fulfilling� the�

obligation� to� prepare� a� nonͲfinancial� report� in� accordance�with� legislative�
decree�254/2016;�

- received�regular�updates�on�the�work�done�to�define�the�main�areas�of�nonͲ
financial� information� for� the� Carraro� Group,� to� be� included� in� the� nonͲ
financial�report,�and�also�on�the�preparation�of�the�nonͲfinancial�report�itself;�

- met�with�the�independent�auditors�Deloitte�&�Touche�S.p.A.�which�has�been�
mandated�with� the� limited� review�of� the�nonͲfinancial� report.�The�Board�of�
Statutory�Auditors�notes� that� in�2019� the�materiality�analysis�was� reviewed�
through�a�stakeholder�engagement� initiative� involving�Group�employees�and�
strategic�suppliers.�

The�Board�checked�that�the�Report�on�Corporate�Governance�and�Ownership�
Structures,�prepared� in�accordance�with�article�123Ͳbis�of� the�TUF� (available�on�
the� company’s� website)� contains� a� detailed� illustration� of� the� material�
implementation� of� the� corporate� governance� rules� set� out� in� the� Code� of�
Conduct,�which� the� Company� has� publicly� declared� that� it� complies�with.� That�
report�was�prepared�in�accordance�with�the�instructions�in�the�Regulations�of�the�
Organised�Markets�managed�by�the� Italian�Stock�Exchange�and� in�art.�123ͲďŝƐ�of�
the�TUF.� If�necessary,� in�those� limited�cases�where�the�Company�has�decided�to�
depart�from�the�provisions�of�the�Code,�reasons�have�been�given.�
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As� required�by�Article�149,�paragraph�one,� letter� cͲbis,�of� Legislative�Decree�
58/1998�and�by�Code�of�Conduct,�we�monitored:�
- the�methods�of�implementing�the�rules�of�corporate�governance�required�by�

the�Code�without�having�to�raise�any�findings;�
- the�correct�application�of�the�criteria�and�verification�procedures�adopted�by�

the�Board�of�Directors�in�assessing�the�independence�of�its�members,�as�well�
as�other�procedures�with�relevance�to�the�public.�

This�Board�considers�that�the�contents�of�the�Remuneration�Report,�available�
on� the� Company’s�website,� are� clear� and� present� a� detailed� illustration� of� the�
material�implementation�of�the�remuneration�policies.�The�Board�has�verified�the�
corporate� processes� that� led� to� the� definition� of� the� Company’s� remuneration�
policies,�with�particular� reference� to� the� remuneration� criteria�of� the�Executive�
Directors,�the�Financial�Reporting�Officer�and�the�Head�of�Internal�Audit.��

In�accordance�with�the�requirements�of�section�8,�paragraph�1�of�the�Code�of�
SelfͲGovernance,�we�have�checked�the�independence�criteria�for�the�members�of�
the�Board�of�Statutory�Auditors,�according�to�the�Code�of�Conduct,�and�in�relation�
to�each�member,�procedures�designed�to�ensure�an�impartial,�truthful�assessment�
were�used�in�each�case.��

Taking� into� account� the� information� acquired,� the� Board� believes� that� this�
activity�was�carried�out�in�compliance�with�the�principles�of�sound�administration�
and� that� the�organisational�structure,� the� internal�control�and� risk�management�
system� and� the� administrative� and� accounting� system� that� drives� the� financial�
disclosure� process� are� on� the� whole� adequate� for� the� company’s� needs.� The�
Board�has�no�particular�observations�to�make�in�relation�to�these�aspects.�

�
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In�accordance�with�art.�19�of�Legislative�Decree�39/2010,�the�Board,�identified�

in� that� law� as� the� "Internal� Control� and� Auditing� Committee",� carried� out� the�
required�supervision�of�the�work�of�the�Independent�Auditors.��

The� Board� of� Statutory� Auditors� met� the� Independent� Auditors� Deloitte� &�
Touche�S.p.A.�On�multiple�occasions,�as�required�by�art.�150�of�the�Consolidated�
Finance�Act,�in�order�to�exchange�information�pertaining�to�their�activity.�At�those�
meetings,� the� Independent�Auditors�never�highlighted�any�areas� for� concern�or�
irregularities� that� may� require� reporting� pursuant� to� art.� 155(2)� of� the�
Consolidated�Finance�Act.�

During�the�year,�the�Board�of�Statutory�Auditors�met�the�Independent�Auditors�
on�the�occasion�of�preparation�of�the�Company's�Interim�Report�at�30�June�2019.�
On� that�occasion,� the� Independent�Auditors� illustrated� the�activities�carried�out�
with�particular�reference�to�the�most�significant�valuation�items.�The�Independent�
Auditors� issued� the� Report� on� the� limited� audit� of� the� interim� consolidated�
financial�statements�without�raising�any�objections.��

On�1�April�2020,� the� Independent�Auditors,�pursuant� to�art.�14�of�Legislative�
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Decree�39/2010�and�art.�10�of�Regulation�(EU)�537/2014,� issued�their�Report�on�
the�audit�of�the�financial�statements�as�at�31�December�2019,�the�Report�on�the�
audit�of�the�consolidated�financial�statements�as�at�31�December�2019,�as�well�as,�
pursuant� to�art.�3�of�Legislative�Decree�254�of�30�December�2016�and�art.�5�of�
Consob� Regulation� 20267,� the� Report� on� the� consolidated� nonͲfinancial�
statement.��

With� regard� to� the� opinions� and� certifications,� in� their� Audit� Report,� the�
Independent�Auditors:�
- issued� an� opinion�which� showed� that� Carraro's� ordinary� and� consolidated�

financial� statements� provide� a� truthful� and� correct� representation� of� the�
equity� and� financial� situation� of� Carraro� S.p.A.� and� of� the� Group� at� 31�
December� 2019,� of� the� operating� profit/loss� and� cash� flows� for� the� year�
ended�on� that�date,� in�accordance�with� the� IAS/IFRS� standards�adopted�by�
the�European�Union�and�the�provisions�issued�in� implementation�of�art.�9�of�
Legislative�Decree�38/2005;�

- issued�an�opinion�on�the�cohesion�of�the�single�report�on�operations�and�the�
ordinary�and�consolidated�financial�statements�to�31�December�2019,�and�on�
its�legal�compliance;�

- declared�that�there�was�nothing�to�report� in�terms�of�material�errors� in�the�
reports�on�operations,�based�on� their�knowledge�and�understanding�of� the�
company�and�its�context.�

On� 1� April� 2020,� the� Independent� Auditors� also� issued� the� report� on� the�
consolidated� nonͲfinancial� statement� pursuant� to� Article� 3,� Legislative� Decree�
254/2016� and� Article� 5� of� CONSOB� Regulation� no.� 20267� of� 18� January� 2018,�
certifying� that� said� independent�auditors�did�not� receive�any�evidence� that� the�
consolidated�nonͲfinancial�statement�of�the�Carraro�Group,�for�the�year�ended�31�
December�2019,�was�not�drafted,�in�all�its�significant�aspects,�in�compliance�with�
the�requirements�of�Articles�3�and�4�of� the�aforementioned�decree�and� the�GRI�
Standards.�

Finally,�on� 1�April� 2020,� the� independent� auditors� issued� the�declaration�on�
independence,�as�required�by�Article�6,�paragraph�2,� letter�a)�of�Regulation�(EU)�
537/2014,� from� which� no� situations� emerged� that� could� compromise� their�
independence.� Finally,� the� Board� of� Statutory� Auditors� took� note� of� the�
Transparency�Report�prepared�by�the� independent�auditors�and�published�on� its�
website�pursuant�to�Article�18�of�Legislative�Decree�39/2010.�

In�addition�to�the�tasks�required�by�law�for�listed�companies,�the�Independent�
Auditors� and� the� other� firms� in� its� network,� provided� nonͲauditing� services� to�
Carraro�S.p.A.�for�total�fees�of�56,000.00�euros�in�2019.�These�fees,�also�shown�in�
the� annex� to� the� financial� statements� as� required� by� art.� 19ͲĚƵŽĚĞĐŝĞƐ� of� the�
Issuer’s�Regulation,�were�charged�to�the� income�statement.�These�mandates�are�
not� included� in� the� services� prohibited� under� art.� 5(1)� of� Regulation� (EU)�
537/2014).��

Taking� into�account�the�mandates�given�by�Carraro�and�the�Group�companies�
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to�Deloitte�&�Touche�S.p.A.�and�its�network,�the�Board�of�Statutory�Auditors�does�
not�believe�that�there�are�any�critical�aspects� in�relation�to�the� independence�of�
Deloitte�&�Touche.��

The�Independent�Auditors�also�confirmed�to�this�Board�that�it�did�not�issue�any�
legal�opinions�without�there�being�the�conditions�necessary�for�their�issue.��

With� regard� to� the� preparation� of� the� ordinary� and� consolidated� financial�
statements,�this�Board�acknowledges�that�the�Board�of�Directors,�as�required�by�
the� joint�Bank�of� Italy/Consob/ISVAP�document�of�3�March�2010,�approved� the�
impairment�procedure.�On�1�April�2020,� the� Independent�Auditors�submitted� to�
the�Board�of�Statutory�Auditors� the�Additional�Report�required�by�art.�11�of� the�
European�Regulation�537/2014,�which:�
- includes�the�declaration�of�independence�of�the�Independent�Auditors�
- illustrates�the�scope�and�timing�of�the�audit,�describes�the�methodology�used�

and�indicates�the�quantitative�level�of�overall�significance;�
- indicates�and�evaluates�the�evaluation�methods�applied�to�the�various� items�

of� the� financial� statements� without� highlighting� any� issues� regarding� the�
appropriateness�of�the�accounting�standards�adopted�by�the�Company;�

- does� not� raise� doubts� about� the� ability� of� Carraro� S.p.A.� to� continue� as� a�
going�concern�(business�continuity);�

- does�not� indicate�significant�shortcomings� in� the� internal�control�system,� in�
relation�to�the�financial�reporting�process;�

- does� not�mention� any� cases� of� nonͲcompliance� with� laws,� regulations� or�
important� statutory� provisions� in� relation� to� the� activity� of� the� Board� of�
Statutory�Auditors;�

- does�not� contain�any� reports�of� limitations�on� the�auditing�activity�nor� the�
existence�of�significant�difficulties�arising�from�the�legal�audit.�

�
In� this� regard,� as� required�by�Article�19�of� Legislative�Decree�39/2010,�on� 1�

April� 2020� the� Board� of� Statutory� Auditors� informed� the� Board� of� Directors,�
without�considering�it�necessary�to�support�said�report�with�its�own�observations.�
�
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With� regard� to� transactions� entered� into�with� Group� companies� or� related�

parties�pursuant�to�art.�2391�and�2391Ͳbis�of�the�Italian�Civil�Code,�we�noted�the�
existence�of� intraͲgroup� transactions� concerning�ordinary�equity,�economic� and�
financial� relationships� with� subsidiaries� and� associated� companies,� with� the�
parent� company,� and� with� other� related� parties.� Those� relationships� were�
described� in� detail� in� the� notes� to� the� ordinary� and� consolidated� Financial�
Statements.��

In�particular�it�is�noted:��
- that� such�ordinary� relations�primarily� concern� transactions�of�a� financial�or�

commercial�nature,�the�provision�of�services�and�advisory�services;��
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- that�such� transactions�with�subsidiaries�and�associated�companies,�with� the�
parent�company,�and�with�other�related�parties,�carried�out�at�arm's� length�
conditions,�are� considered� to�have�been�made�at� fair�prices,� in�accordance�
with�the�Company’s�interests;�

- that�there�were�no�atypical�and/or�unusual�transactions�with�related�parties�
that� could� significantly� impact� the� Company’s� financial� position� and�
performance;��

- that� the� information�provided�by� the�Directors� in� the�Report�on�Operations�
and� in� the� notes� to� the� Financial� Statements� on� intraͲgroup� transactions�
and/or�transactions�with�related�parties�and�atypical�or�unusual�transactions,�
is�considered�to�be�adequate.�

�
55.. OOmmiissssiioonnss��oorr��aarreeaass��ooff��ccoonncceerrnn,,��ooppiinniioonnss��rreennddeerreedd��aanndd��iinniittiiaattiivveess��ttaakkeenn��

�
During�the�course�of�the�year,�no�complaints�were�received�pursuant�to�Article�

2408�of�the�Italian�Civil�Code,�nor�were�any�petitions�received�from�shareholders�
and/or�third�parties.�

During� 2019� this� Board� did� not� formulate� any� legal� opinions.� It� issued� the�
advisory� opinions� required� by� the� Code� of� Conduct� and� by� the� policies� and�
procedures�adopted�by�the�Company.�

During�the�year,�we�constantly�carried�out�monitoring�activities�as�required�by�
Article�149�of�Legislative�Decree�58/1998,�and�we�can�conclusively�confirm�that�in�
carrying�out�our�activities,�we�did�not�ascertain�any� irregularities,�omissions,�or�
punishable� acts� and� therefore� do� not� have� any� proposals� to� make� to� the�
Shareholders'�Meeting�pursuant�to�Article�153,�paragraph�2�of�Legislative�Decree�
58/1998.�

�
66.. CCoonnttrrooll����

�
Carraro�S.p.A.�is�controlled�by�Finaid�S.p.A.��
The�corporate�governance�report� illustrates�the�reasons�why�Carraro�S.p.A.� is�

not�subject�to�direction�and�coordination�by�Finaid�S.p.A.�
��

77.. CCoonncclluussiioonnss��
�
The� Financial� Statements� as� at�31�December�2019�of�Carraro� S.p.A.� and� the�

Consolidated� Financial� Statements� as� at� the� same� date,� were� prepared� in�
accordance�with� the� international� accounting� standards� IAS/IFRS� issued� by� the�
International� Accounting� Standards� Board� (IASB),� in� conformity� with� the�
provisions�of�Legislative�Decree�of�28�February�2005,�no.�38,�enacted�pursuant�to�
Regulation�(EC)�No�1606/2002�of�the�European�Parliament�and�of�the�Council�of�
19�July�2002.��

The� Board� of� Statutory� Auditors� has� examined� the� criteria� adopted� in�
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preparation� of� the� aboveͲmentioned� Financial� Statements,� with� particular�
reference�to�the�content�and�structure,�the�basis�of�consolidation�and�uniformity�
of�application�of�accounting�standards,�the�existence�of�adequate�disclosures�on�
the�business�performance,�on�the�evaluations�carried�out�for� impairment�testing�
and�on�the�continuation�of�the�business�as�a�going�concern.�

The�Independent�Auditors�did�not�comment�on�the�information�provided.�
Since� analytical� control� of� the� content� of� the� Financial� Statements� is� not� our�
responsibility,�we�have�checked�the�general�structure�of�the�Financial�Statements�
and�Consolidated�Financial�Statements,�their�compliance�with�the�law�with�regard�
to� their� formation� and� structure,� and� in� this� regard� we� have� no� particular�
observations�to�make.�
�����In�relation�to�the�current�national�health�emergency,�the�Board�of�Directors�has�
provided�disclosure,� in� the�Notes� to� the� financial� statements,�among� the�events�
that�occurred�after� the�end�of� the�year,�and� in� the�Report�on�Operations� in� the�
section� dedicated� to� the� outlook� of� operations,� expressing� its� overall� opinion,�
which�can�be�shared�at�the�present�time,�that�"...�there� is�a�major�question�mark�
over�the�impact�that�the�spread�of�the�coronavirus�could�have�at�the�national�and�
international� level� and� consequently� on� the� evolution� of� operations� for� the�
remaining�part�of�the�year".��

To� the� best� of� our� knowledge,� the� Directors,� in� preparing� the� Financial�
Statements,� did� not� depart� from� the� rules� of� law� pursuant� to� Article� 2423,�
paragraph�4�of�the�Italian�Civil�Code.��

We�have�verified� that� the�Financial�Statements�and� the�Directors'�Report�on�
Operations�are�consistent�with�the�facts�and� information�of�which�we�are�aware�
as�a�result�of�our�work,�and�we�have�no�observations�in�this�regard.�The�statutory�
and�consolidated�Financial�Statements�of�Carraro�S.p.A.�are�accompanied�by�the�
required�report�of�the�independent�auditors,�to�which�we�refer.�

In�light�of�the�foregoing,�the�Board�gives�its�favourable�opinion�for�approval�of�
the� financial� statements� for� the� fiscal� year� ending� on� 31� December� 2019� as�
submitted� by� the� Board� of� Directors,� and� it� is� in� agreement� with� the� Board�
concerning�the�allocation�of�operating�profit.�

�
Venice,�1�April�2020�
�
Carlo�Pesce��
�
Saverio�Bozzolan��
�
Stefania�Centorbi��������
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT PURSUANT TO ARTICLE 14
OF LEGISLATIVE DECREE No. 39 OF JANUARY 27, 2010

AND ARTICLE 10 OF THE EU REGULATION 537/2014

To the Shareholders of
Carraro S.p.A.

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Carraro S.p.A. and its subsidiaries (the Group),
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2019, and the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the
consolidated financial position of the Group as at December 31, 2019, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union and the requirements of national
regulations issued pursuant to art. 9 of Italian Legislative Decree no. 38/05.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISA Italia). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of Carraro S.p.A. (the
“Company”) in accordance with the ethical requirements applicable under Italian law to the audit of the
financial statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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Impairment test on the goodwill related to Drive Tech CGU

Description of the
key audit matter

The consolidated financial statements of the Group as of December 31, 2019
include a goodwill of € 36.8 million recorded under Intangible assets. This
goodwill is entirely allocated to the Drive Tech cash-generating unit ("CGU")
and, as required by the international accounting standard "IAS 36 Impairment
of assets", it is not amortized but is subject to an impairment test at least
annually by comparing the recoverable value of the CGU and the book value,
which takes into account both the goodwill and the other tangible and
intangible assets allocated to the CGU. The recoverable value was determined
by the Directors according to the value in use considering the expected results
for the period 2020-2023 reported in the estimates prepared starting from the
budget for fiscal year 2020 and the projections for the next three fiscal years
(“Management’s estimates”).

The assessment process of the goodwill performed by the Management is
complex and is based on assumptions concerning, inter alia, the forecast of
expected cash flows of the CGU, the determination of an appropriate
discounting rate (WACC) and of the long-term growth rate (g-rate). These
assumptions are influenced by future expectations and market conditions.

The test did not result in any impairment to be booked.

The Management prepared a sensitivity analysis, as described in explanatory
notes, by considering also the uncertainty factors related to the spreading of
Covid-19 at national and international level.

In consideration of the importance of the amount of goodwill recorded in the
consolidated financial statements, of the subjectivity of the estimates relating
to the cash flow of the CGU and the key variables of the impairment model, we
considered the impairment test a key audit matter of the consolidated financial
statements as of December 31, 2019 of the Carraro Group.

Note 7 of explanatory and supplementary notes to the consolidated financial
statements reports the information on the goodwill and on the impairment test
carried out by the Management.

Audit procedures
performed

As part of our audits we have, among other activities, carried out the following
procedures, also using the support of our experts:

- understanding of the methods adopted and of the significant controls
implemented by the Carraro Group on the process of preparing and
approving the impairment test;

- analysis of the forecasts for the period 2020-2023, included in the
Management’s estimates;

- analysis of the reasonableness of the main assumptions adopted for the
formulation of the cash flow forecasts deriving from the Management’s
estimates, in addition to obtaining information from the Management;

- analysis of the actual results compared to the original plans in order to
assess the nature of the deviations and the reliability of the planning
process;

- reasonableness assessment of the discounting rate (WACC) and long-term
growth rate (g-rate);
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- verification of the mathematical accuracy of the model used to determine
the value in use of the CGU;

- verification of the correct determination of the carrying amount of the CGU;

- verification of the sensitivity analysis prepared by the Management;

- examination of the adequacy of the information provided on the impairment
test by the Group in Note 7 and its compliance with the provisions of
applicable IFRS.

Responsibilities of the Directors and the Board of Statutory Auditors for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true and
fair view in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union
and the requirements of national regulations issued pursuant to art. 9 of Italian Legislative Decree no.
38/05, and, within the terms established by law, for such internal control as the Directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless they have identified the existence of the conditions for the
liquidation of the Company or the termination of the business or have no realistic alternatives to such
choices.

The Board of Statutory Auditors is responsible for overseeing, within the terms established by law, the
Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISA Italia) will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISA Italia), we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

x Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

x Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

x Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the Directors.
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x Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

x Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

x Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance, identified at an appropriate level as required by ISA
Italia, regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence applicable in Italy, and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that
were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report.

Other information communicated pursuant to art. 10 of the EU Regulation 537/2014

The Shareholders' Meeting of Carraro S.p.A. has appointed us on April 15, 2016 as auditors of the Company
for the years from December 31, 2016 to December 31, 2024.

We declare that we have not provided prohibited non-audit services referred to in art. 5 (1) of EU
Regulation 537/2014 and that we have remained independent of the Company in conducting the audit.

We confirm that the opinion on the financial statements expressed in this report is consistent with the
additional report to the Board of Statutory Auditors, in its role of Audit Committee, referred to in art. 11 of
the said Regulation.



Report#&*

5

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

Opinion pursuant to art. 14 paragraph 2 (e) of Legislative Decree 39/10 and art. 123-bis,
paragraph 4, of Legislative Decree 58/98

The Directors of Carraro S.p.A. are responsible for the preparation of the report on operations and the
report on corporate governance and the ownership structure of Carraro Group as at December 31, 2019,
including their consistency with the related consolidated financial statements and their compliance with the
law.

We have carried out the procedures set forth in the Auditing Standard (SA Italia) n. 720B in order to
express an opinion on the consistency of the report on operations and some specific information contained
in the report on corporate governance and the ownership structure set forth in art. 123-bis, n. 4 of
Legislative Decree 58/98, with the consolidated financial statements of Carraro Group as at December 31,
2019 and on their compliance with the law, as well as to make a statement about any material
misstatement.

In our opinion, the above-mentioned report on operations and some specific information contained in the
report on corporate governance and the ownership structure are consistent with the consolidated financial
statements of Carraro Group as at December 31, 2019 and are prepared in accordance with the law.

With reference to the statement referred to in art. 14, paragraph 2 (e), of Legislative Decree 39/10, made
on the basis of the knowledge and understanding of the entity and of the related context acquired during
the audit, we have nothing to report.

Statement pursuant to art. 4 of the Consob Regulation for the implementation of Legislative
Decree 30 December 2016, no. 254

The Directors of Carraro S.p.A. are responsible for the preparation of the non-financial statement pursuant
to Legislative Decree 30 December 2016, no. 254.

We verified the approval by the Directors of the non-financial statement.

Pursuant to art. 3, paragraph 10 of Legislative Decree 30 December 2016, no. 254, this statement is
subject of a separate attestation issued by us.

DELOITTE & TOUCHE S.p.A.

Signed by
Cristiano Nacchi
Partner

Padova, Italy
April 1, 2020

This report has been translated into the English language solely for the convenience of international readers.
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Ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting of Carraro Spa
of !! April !"!"

Chairman: Enrico Carraro 

Shareholders present: 13, in person or by proxy, representing 59,550,220 shares, equal to 
74.703% of the share capital, corresponding to 88,961,493 votes equal to 81.521% of the vot-
ing rights.

The Shareholders’ Meeting:
› approved the Financial Statements for the year ending 31.12.2019 and the Board of Direc-

tors’ Report on Operations the 2019 financial year;

› resolved to allocate the profit for the year of 14,231,736.36 euros as shown below:
 & 711,586.82 euros to the legal reserve;
 & 13,520,149.54 euros to retained earnings;

› approved the first section of the Report on the Remuneration of Directors and Key Man-
agers;

› approved the proposed resolution for the FY2020 annual remuneration of the mem-
bers of the Board of Directors, establishing it to be 40,000 euros for each director, and 
determining the total annual amount for the remuneration to be assigned to members 
of the Board of Directors conferred with special o#ces, including the Chairman, the 
Deputy Chairman, the Chief Executive O#cer and the members of the Committees, to 
be 2,140,000 euros, delegating the Board of Directors the right to allocate this amount 
among its members.
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